
 

 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and 
 

Commissioning 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 
Governance and Commissioning 
 

PO Box 1720  
 

Huddersfield 
 

 

HD1 9EL 
 

Tel: 01484 221000  
 

Please ask for: Sheila Dykes 
 

Email: sheila.dykes@kirklees.gov.uk or 
andrea.woodside@kirklees.gov.uk 
 

Wednesday 14 February 2024 
 

Notice of Meeting 
 
Dear Member 
 

Strategic Planning Committee 
 

The Strategic Planning Committee will meet in the Council Chamber - Town 
Hall, Huddersfield at 1.00 pm on Thursday 22 February 2024. 
 
(A coach will depart the Town Hall, at 10:20 a.m. to undertake site visits. The consideration 
of applications will commence at 1.00 pm in the Council Chamber.) 
 
This meeting will be webcast live and will be available to view via the Council’s website. 
 
The items which will be discussed are described in the agenda and there are reports 
attached which give more details. 
 
 

 
 

Julie Muscroft 
 

Service Director – Legal, Governance and Commissioning 
 
 
Kirklees Council advocates openness and transparency as part of its democratic 
processes. Anyone wishing to record (film or audio) the public parts of the meeting should 
inform the Chair/Clerk of their intentions prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

The Strategic Planning Committee members are:- 
 

 
When a Member of the Strategic Planning Committee cannot attend the meeting, a 
member of the Substitutes Panel (below) may attend in their place in accordance with the 
provision of Council Procedure Rule 35(7). 
 

Substitutes Panel 
 
Conservative 
D Bellamy 
D Hall 
A Gregg 
R Smith 
J Taylor

Green 
K Allison 
A Cooper 
S Lee-Richards

Labour 
B Addy 
P Moore  
E Firth 
T Hawkins 
H Zaman 

Liberal Democrat 
PA Davies 
J Lawson 
A Munro 
A Marchington 
A Smith 

 
 
 
 

Member 
Councillor Steve Hall (Chair) 
Councillor Bill Armer 
Councillor Moses Crook 
Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor Mark Thompson 
 



 

 

 

Agenda 
Reports or Explanatory Notes Attached 

 

 
  Pages 

 

1:   Membership of the Committee 
 
To receive apologies for absence from those Members who are 
unable to attend the meeting and details of substitutions and for 
whom they are attending.  

 
 

 

 

2:   Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
To approve the Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 21st 
January 2024. 

 
 

1 - 4 

 

3:   Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
 
Members will be asked to say if there are any items on the Agenda 
in which they have any disclosable pecuniary interests, any other 
interests, or been lobbied, which may prevent them from 
participating in any discussion of the items or participating in any 
vote upon the items. 

 
 

5 - 6 

 

4:   Admission of the Public 
 
Most agenda items take place in public. This only changes where 
there is a need to consider exempt information, as contained at 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. You will be 
informed at this point which items are to be recommended for 
exclusion and to be resolved by the Committee. 

 
 

 

 

5:   Public Question Time 
 
To receive any public questions. 
  
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11, the period for the 
asking and answering of public questions shall not exceed 15 
minutes. 
 
Any questions must be submitted in writing at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting. 

 
 

 

 



 

 

6:   Deputations/Petitions 
 
The Committee will receive any petitions and/or deputations from 
members of the public. A deputation is where up to five people can 
attend the meeting and make a presentation on some particular 
issue of concern. A member of the public can also submit a petition 
at the meeting relating to a matter on which the body has powers 
and responsibilities. 
 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 10, Members of the 
Public must submit a deputation in writing, at least three clear 
working days in advance of the meeting and shall subsequently be 
notified if the deputation shall be heard. A maximum of four 
deputations shall be heard at any one meeting. 

 
 

 

 

7:   Site Visit - Application 2021/94280 
 
Erection of 65 dwellings with associated works on land at Lady Ann 
Road, Soothill, Batley. 
 
Contact: Nick Hirst, Planning Services 
 
Estimated time of arrival on site: 10:40 a.m. 

 
 

 

 

8:   Planning Applications 
 
The Planning Committee will consider the attached schedule of 
Planning Applications.     
 
Please note that any members of the public who wish to speak at the 
meeting must register to speak by 5.00pm (for phone requests) or 
11:59pm (for email requests) on Monday 19th February 2024. 
 
To register, please email governance.planning@kirklees.gov.uk or 
phone the Governance Team on 01484 221000. 

 
 

7 - 8 

 

9:   Planning Application - 2021/94280 
 
Erection of 65 dwellings with associated works on land at Lady Ann 
Road, Soothill, Batley. 
 
Contact: Nick Hirst, Planning Services 
 
Ward(s) affected: Batley East 

 
 

9 - 56 

 
 
 



 

 

10:   Applications for Definitive Map Modification Orders 
(DMMOs) to (1) upgrade the recorded status of FPs 
MEL/70 and MEL/38 to bridleway and (2) vary the 
particulars of FP MEL/70 to record limitations of a 
locked gate and squeeze stile. 
 
To consider the report. 
 
This report is accompanied by a number of appendices, all of which 

can be viewed via the following link: Appendices - PROW report 22-

2-24 

Ward(s) affected: Holme Valley North 
 
Contact: Phil Champion, Definitive Map Officer 

 
 

57 - 152 

 

Planning Update 
 

 

An update report providing further information on matters raised after the publication of the 
agenda will be added to the online agenda prior to the meeting. 
 
 

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13845&path=0
https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13845&path=0


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Contact Officer: Andrea Woodside  
 

KIRKLEES COUNCIL 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 25th January 2024 
 
Present: Councillor Eric Firth (Chair) 
 Councillor Moses Crook 

Councillor Carole Pattison 
Councillor Mohan Sokhal 
Councillor Andrew Pinnock 

   
Apologies: Councillor Mark Thompson 
 

 
1 Appointment of Chair 

Councillor E Firth was appointed to Chair this meeting of the Committee, in the 
absence of Councillor S Hall. 
 

2 Membership of the Committee 
Councillor E Firth substituted for Councillor S Hall. 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Thompson. 
 

3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
RESOLVED – That the Minutes of the Meeting held on 7 December 2023 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

4 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying 
No interests were declared. 
 

5 Admission of the Public 
It was noted that all agenda items would be considered in public session. 
 

6 Public Question Time 
No questions were asked. 
 

7 Deputations/Petitions 
No deputations or petitions were received. 
 

8 Site Visit - Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) to 
record a Public Right of Way at Carr Mount, Kirkheaton on the Definitive Map 
and Statement 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

9 Site Visit - Application No: 2023/92255 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  25 January 2024 
 

2 
 

10 Site Visit - Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) to 
record Mean Lane, Meltham, as a Public Bridleway on the Definitive Map and 
Statement 
Site visit undertaken. 
 

11 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) to record Mean 
Lane, Meltham, as a Public Bridleway on the Definitive Map and Statement 
The Committee gave consideration to an Application for a Definitive Map 
Modification Order (DMMO) to record Mean Lane, Meltham, as a public bridleway 
on the Definitive Map and Statement. 
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub-Committee received 
representations from Mr and Mrs Jarvis (local residents) and Mark Corrigan (on 
behalf of the British Horse Society).  
 
RESOLVED – That Officers be authorised to make a Definitive Map Modification 
Order under section 53(3)(C) (ii) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981  to 
upgrade Meltham 24 and 59  Mean Lane, Meltham, from Public Footpath to Public 
Bridleway status, with variable width between 3 metres and 10 metres from point A 
to point B on the indicative map (figure 1) and to authorise confirmation of an 
unopposed order and, if opposed, support confirmation. 
 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Crook, Pattison and Sokhal (3 votes) 
Against: Councillor A Pinnock (1 vote) 
Abstained: Councillor E Firth 
 

12 Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) to record a Public 
Right of Way at Carr Mount, Kirkheaton on the Definitive Map and Statement 
The Committee gave consideration to an Application for a Definitive Map 
Modification Order (DMMO) to record a Public Right of Way at Carr Mount, 
Kirkheaton, on the Definitive Map and Statement.  
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Sub-Committee received 
representations from Michael Hine, Michelle Thompson and John Dunwell (local 
residents) and Mark Corrigan (on behalf of the British Horse Society). 
 
RESOLVED –  

1) That a Definitive Map Modification Order be made under Section 53(3)(c)(i) of 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 in relation to the Definitive Map 
Modification Order Application S14201 to record a public footpath 
commencing at its junction with Liley Lane/Bellstring Lane public carriageway 
B6118 through Carr Mount to its junction with public footpath Kirkburton 20 
Part A (point A to point B on the indicative map(figure 1) on the Definitive 
Map and Statement. 

2) That, pusuant to (1) above, should the Order be opposed and the matter be 
referred to the Planning Inspectorate for determination by either written 
representations, public hearing, or public inquiry, the Council shall support 
the confirmation of the Order. 

Page 2



Strategic Planning Committee -  25 January 2024 
 

3 
 

3) That no Order be made in relation to the Definitive Map Modification Order 
Application S14306 to record a public bridleway commencing at its junction 
with Liley Lane/Bellstring Lane public carriageway B6118 through Carr Mount 
to its junction with public bridleway B6118 through Carr Mount to its junction 
with public bridleway Kirkburton 220 (Part B) at Long Tongue Scrog Lane.   

 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Crook, E Firth, Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (5 votes) 
Against: (no votes) 
 

13 Planning Application - Application No: 2023/92255 
The Committee gave consideration to Application 2023/92255 – Section 73 
application for variation of conditions 1 (plans), 2 (crime prevention) and 15 
(restriction of permitted development) of previous reserved matters approval 
2021/93286, pursuant to outline permission 2020/91215 for erection of 41 dwellings 
at Green Acres Close, Emley.  
 
Under the provisions of Council Procedure Rule 37, the Committee received a 
representation from Ben Gibson (on behalf of the applicant). 
 
RESOLVED –  
 
1) That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Development to approve 
the application, issue the decision notice and complete the list of conditions 
including matters relating to;    
 
1. Development in accordance with the plans and specifications schedule  
2. Crime prevention measures to be completed in accordance with plan  
    reference Z115.113 rev B  
3. Details of external lighting  
4. Detailed design of ball-stop net and associated support columns  
5. A management maintenance plan to include the routine inspection and  
    maintenance, and long-term repair and replacement of columns, netting  
    and such other associated apparatus  
6. A scheme detailing foul, surface water and land drainage  
7. A scheme, detailing temporary surface water drainage  
8. Development in accordance with the advice and directions  
    (recommendations) contained in the Arboricultural Method Statement,  
    reference, Wharncliffe Trees and Woodland Consultancy  
9. Full details of hard and soft landscaping, including and management and  
    maintenance programme  
10. Details of all new retaining walls/ building retaining walls adjacent to the  
      existing/ proposed adoptable highways  
11. Details of any new surface water attenuation pipes/manhole located within  
      the proposed highway footprint  
12. Removal of PD rights for windows and doors within the northern facing  
      side elevation of plot 8  
13. A plan detailing the position and location of bat and bird boxes and  
      hedgehog friendly fence panels  

Page 3



Strategic Planning Committee -  25 January 2024 
 

4 
 

14. A Construction Environmental Management Plan  
15. Removal of permitted development rights for Class Classes A to E  
      inclusive of Part 1 of Schedule 2 for plots 14 – 20, 33, 34 and 41 as  
      outlined on the hereby approved site plan Z155.002 rev E 

 
2) That authority be delegated to the Head of Planning and Development to secure 
a S106 Deed of Agreement, linking this approval to the previous Section 106 
Agreement (dated 23/06/21) and Deed of Variation (dated 03/03/21). 
 
3) That, in circumstances where the S106 Agreement has not been completed 
within three months of this decision, the Head of Planning and Development shall be 
authorised to consider whether permission should be refused on the grounds that 
the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that would have been 
secured, and would therefore be permitted to determine the Application and impose 
appropriate reasons for refusal under delegated powers. 
 
A Recorded Vote was taken in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 42 (5) as 
follows; 
For: Councillors Crook, E Firth, Pattison, A Pinnock and Sokhal (5 votes) 
Against: (no votes) 
 
 
 

Page 4



 

K
IR

K
LE

ES
 C

O
U

N
C

IL
 

 
D

EC
LA

R
A

TI
O

N
 O

F 
IN

TE
R

ES
TS

 A
N

D
 L

O
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

S
tra

te
gi

c 
Pl

an
ni

ng
 C

om
m

itt
ee

 

N
am

e 
of

 C
ou

nc
ill

or
 

Ite
m

 in
 w

hi
ch

 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

n 
in

te
re

st
 

Ty
pe

 o
f i

nt
er

es
t (

eg
 a

 
di

sc
lo

sa
bl

e 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

 o
r a

n 
“O

th
er

 
In

te
re

st
”)

 

D
oe

s 
th

e 
na

tu
re

 o
f t

he
 in

te
re

st
 re

qu
ire

 y
ou

 to
 

w
ith

dr
aw

 fr
om

 th
e 

m
ee

tin
g 

w
hi

le
 th

e 
ite

m
 in

 w
hi

ch
 

yo
u 

ha
ve

 a
n 

in
te

re
st

 is
 u

nd
er

 c
on

si
de

ra
tio

n?
  [

Y/
N

] 

B
rie

f d
es

cr
ip

tio
n 

of
 y

ou
r i

nt
er

es
t 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

LO
B

B
YI

N
G

 
 

D
at

e 
A

pp
lic

at
io

n/
Pa

ge
 

N
o.

 
Lo

bb
ie

d 
B

y 
(N

am
e 

of
 

pe
rs

on
) 

A
pp

lic
an

t 
O

bj
ec

to
r 

Su
pp

or
te

r 
A

ct
io

n 
ta

ke
n 

/ 
A

dv
ic

e 
gi

ve
n 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

  
Si

gn
ed

: 
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
 

D
at

ed
: 

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

…
…

.. 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



N
O

TE
S 

 D
is

cl
os

ab
le

 P
ec

un
ia

ry
 In

te
re

st
s 

 If 
yo

u 
ha

ve
 a

ny
 o

f t
he

 fo
llo

w
in

g 
pe

cu
ni

ar
y 

in
te

re
st

s,
 th

ey
 a

re
 y

ou
r d

is
cl

os
ab

le
 p

ec
un

ia
ry

 in
te

re
st

s 
un

de
r t

he
 n

ew
 n

at
io

na
l r

ul
es

. A
ny

 re
fe

re
nc

e 
to

 
sp

ou
se

 o
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 in

cl
ud

es
 a

ny
 p

er
so

n 
w

ith
 w

ho
m

 y
ou

 a
re

 li
vi

ng
 a

s 
hu

sb
an

d 
or

 w
ife

, o
r a

s 
if 

th
ey

 w
er

e 
yo

ur
 c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
. 

 An
y 

em
pl

oy
m

en
t, 

of
fic

e,
 tr

ad
e,

 p
ro

fe
ss

io
n 

or
 v

oc
at

io
n 

ca
rri

ed
 o

n 
fo

r p
ro

fit
 o

r g
ai

n,
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, u
nd

er
ta

ke
s.

 
 An

y 
pa

ym
en

t o
r p

ro
vi

si
on

 o
f a

ny
 o

th
er

 fi
na

nc
ia

l b
en

ef
it 

(o
th

er
 th

an
 fr

om
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y)
 m

ad
e 

or
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

w
ith

in
 th

e 
re

le
va

nt
 p

er
io

d 
in

 
re

sp
ec

t o
f a

ny
 e

xp
en

se
s 

in
cu

rr
ed

 b
y 

yo
u 

in
 c

ar
ry

in
g 

ou
t d

ut
ie

s 
as

 a
 m

em
be

r, 
or

 to
w

ar
ds

 y
ou

r e
le

ct
io

n 
ex

pe
ns

es
. 

 An
y 

co
nt

ra
ct

 w
hi

ch
 is

 m
ad

e 
be

tw
ee

n 
yo

u,
 o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
 (o

r a
 b

od
y 

in
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
as

 
a 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t) 
an

d 
yo

ur
 c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y 
- 

• 
un

de
r w

hi
ch

 g
oo

ds
 o

r s
er

vi
ce

s 
ar

e 
to

 b
e 

pr
ov

id
ed

 o
r w

or
ks

 a
re

 to
 b

e 
ex

ec
ut

ed
; a

nd
 

• 
w

hi
ch

 h
as

 n
ot

 b
ee

n 
fu

lly
 d

is
ch

ar
ge

d.
 

An
y 

be
ne

fic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t i
n 

la
nd

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

av
e 

an
d 

w
hi

ch
 is

 w
ith

in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 a

ut
ho

rit
y.

 

An
y 

lic
en

ce
 (a

lo
ne

 o
r j

oi
nt

ly
 w

ith
 o

th
er

s)
 w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

, h
ol

ds
 to

 o
cc

up
y 

la
nd

 in
 th

e 
ar

ea
 o

f y
ou

r c
ou

nc
il 

or
 

au
th

or
ity

 fo
r a

 m
on

th
 o

r l
on

ge
r. 

 An
y 

te
na

nc
y 

w
he

re
 (t

o 
yo

ur
 k

no
w

le
dg

e)
 - 

th
e 

la
nd

lo
rd

 is
 y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 th

e 
te

na
nt

 is
 a

 b
od

y 
in

 w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r 

ci
vi

l p
ar

tn
er

, h
as

 a
 b

en
ef

ic
ia

l i
nt

er
es

t. 
 An

y 
be

ne
fic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t w

hi
ch

 y
ou

, o
r y

ou
r s

po
us

e 
or

 y
ou

r c
iv

il 
pa

rtn
er

 h
as

 in
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 o
f a

 b
od

y 
w

he
re

 - 
(a

) t
ha

t b
od

y 
(to

 y
ou

r k
no

w
le

dg
e)

 h
as

 a
 p

la
ce

 o
f b

us
in

es
s 

or
 la

nd
 in

 th
e 

ar
ea

 o
f y

ou
r c

ou
nc

il 
or

 a
ut

ho
rit

y;
 a

nd
 

(b
) e

ith
er

 - 
th

e 
to

ta
l n

om
in

al
 v

al
ue

 o
f t

he
 s

ec
ur

iti
es

 e
xc

ee
ds

 £
25

,0
00

 o
r o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t  
bo

dy
; o

r 
if 

th
e 

sh
ar

e 
ca

pi
ta

l o
f t

ha
t b

od
y 

is
 o

f m
or

e 
th

an
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

, t
he

 to
ta

l n
om

in
al

 v
al

ue
 o

f t
he

 s
ha

re
s 

of
 a

ny
 o

ne
 c

la
ss

 in
 

w
hi

ch
 y

ou
, o

r y
ou

r s
po

us
e 

or
 y

ou
r c

iv
il 

pa
rtn

er
, h

as
 a

 b
en

ef
ic

ia
l i

nt
er

es
t e

xc
ee

ds
 o

ne
 h

un
dr

ed
th

 o
f t

he
 to

ta
l i

ss
ue

d 
sh

ar
e 

ca
pi

ta
l o

f t
ha

t c
la

ss
. 

 

Lo
bb

yi
ng

 
 If 

yo
u 

ar
e 

ap
pr

oa
ch

ed
 b

y 
an

y 
M

em
be

r o
f t

he
 p

ub
lic

 in
 re

sp
ec

t o
f a

n 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
on

 th
e 

ag
en

da
 y

ou
 m

us
t d

ec
la

re
d 

th
at

 y
ou

 h
av

e 
be

en
 lo

bb
ie

d.
 A

 
de

cl
ar

at
io

n 
of

 lo
bb

yi
ng

 d
oe

s 
no

t a
ffe

ct
 y

ou
r a

bi
lit

y 
to

 p
ar

tic
ip

at
e 

in
 th

e 
co

ns
id

er
at

io
n 

or
 d

et
er

m
in

at
io

n 
of

 th
e 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
n.

 

Page 6



In respect of the consideration of all the planning applications on this agenda the 
following information applies: 
 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
The statutory development plan is the starting point in the consideration of planning 
applications for the development or use of land unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise (Section 38(6) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  
 
The statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th February 
2019) and the Holme Valley Neighbourhood Development Plan (adopted 8th December 
2021).  
 
National Policy/ Guidelines  
 
National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, primarily 
the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) published 20th December 2023 the 
Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS) first launched 6th March 2014 together with 
Circulars, Ministerial Statements and associated technical guidance.  
 
The NPPF constitutes guidance for local planning authorities and is a material 
consideration in determining applications. 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 
 

Cabinet agreed the Development Management Charter in July 2015. This sets out how 
people and organisations will be enabled and encouraged to be involved in the 
development management process relating to planning applications. 
 

The applications have been publicised by way of press notice, site notice and neighbour 
letters (as appropriate) in accordance with the Development Management Charter and 
in full accordance with the requirements of regulation, statute and national guidance.  
 
EQUALITY ISSUES   
 
The Council has a general duty under section 149 Equality Act 2010 to have due regard 
to eliminating conduct that is prohibited by the Act, advancing equality of opportunity 
and fostering good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
people who do not share that characteristic. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 age; 

 disability; 

 gender reassignment; 

 pregnancy and maternity; 

 race; 

 religion or belief; 

 sex; 

 sexual orientation. 
 

In the event that a specific development proposal has particular equality implications, 
the report will detail how the duty to have “due regard” to them has been discharged. 
  

Page 7

Agenda Item 8



 
HUMAN RIGHTS 
 
The Council has had regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, and in particular:-  
 

 Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life.  
 

 Article 1 of the First Protocol - Right to peaceful enjoyment of property and 
possessions.   

 
The Council considers that the recommendations within the reports are in accordance 
with the law, proportionate and both necessary to protect the rights and freedoms of 
others and in the public interest.  
 
PLANNING CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS 
 
Paragraph 55 of The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that Local 
Planning Authorities consider whether otherwise unacceptable development could be 
made acceptable through the use of planning condition or obligations.   
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (as amended) stipulates that 
planning obligations (also known as section 106 agreements – of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990) should only be sought where they meet all of the following tests: 
 

 necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
 

 directly related to the development; and 
 

 fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
The NPPF and further guidance in the PPGS, launched on 6th March 2014, require that 
planning conditions should only be imposed where they meet a series of key tests; these 
are in summary: 

1. necessary; 

2. relevant to planning and; 

3. to the development to be permitted; 

4. enforceable; 

5. precise and; 

6. reasonable in all other respects 

 
Recommendations made with respect to the applications brought before the 
Planning Committee have been made in accordance with the above requirements. 

Page 8



 

 
 
 
 
Report of the Head of Planning and Development 
 
STRATEGIC PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Date: 22-Feb-2024  

Subject: Planning Application 2021/94280 Erection of 65 dwellings with 
associated works land at, Lady Ann Road, Soothill, Batley, WF17 0PY 

 
APPLICANT 

C Noble, D Noble Ltd 

 
DATE VALID TARGET DATE EXTENSION EXPIRY DATE 

11-Nov-2021 10-Feb-2022 31-Jan-2023 

 

 
Please click the following link for guidance notes on public speaking at planning 
committees, including how to pre-register your intention to speak. 
 
Public speaking at committee link 
 
LOCATION PLAN  
 

 
Map not to scale – for identification purposes only 
  

Originator: Nick Hirst 
 
Tel: 01484 221000 

Page 9

Agenda Item 9

http://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/pdf/public-speaking-committee.pdf


 
 
Electoral wards affected: Batley East Ward 
 
Ward Councillors consulted: Yes 
 
Public or private: Public 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
 
DELEGATE approval of the application and the issuing of the decision notice to the 
Head of Planning and Development in order to complete the list of conditions including 
those contained within this report and to secure a Section 106 agreement to cover the 
following matters:  
 
a) Affordable Housing: 5 (7.7% of units) first homes (3xB3T1 and 2x B3T2) 
 
b) Education: £71,848 
 
c) Public Open Space (off-site): £62,058 
 
d) Net Gain (to secure 10% net gain off-site): £180,780 
 
e) Sustainable Travel (Bus Pass): £33,248 
 
f) Sustainable Travel (Bus stop improvement): £10,500 
 
g) Sustainable Travel (PROW Improvement): £10,000 
 
h) Travel Plan monitoring: £10,000 
 
i) Management and maintenance: POS, drainage (including culverts), and 

ecological features.  
 
j) Viability Review Mechanism: An updated viability report to be provided to the 

LPA at (TBD%) occupation, with additional Section 106 obligation to be provided if 
a higher-than-expected profit is achieved.  

 
In the circumstances where the S106 agreement has not been completed within 3 
months of the date of the Committee’s resolution then the Head of Planning and 
Development shall consider whether permission should be refused on the grounds 
that the proposals are unacceptable in the absence of the benefits that would have 
been secured; if so, the Head of Planning and Development is authorised to determine 
the application and impose appropriate reasons for refusal under Delegated Powers. 
 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the erection of 65 dwellings 

with associated works including new access off Lady Ann Road, regrading 
works and landscaping. 

 

Page 10



1.2 This application is brought to Strategic Planning Committee in accordance 
with the Delegation Agreement, (as revised November 2023) as the proposal 
has received a significant number of representations (120 in total). 

 
1.3 The site has had several planning applications previously. These include two 

refusals (2017/91851 and 2019/92462) and one withdrawn application 
(2020/93071), which was intended to be refused prior to it being withdrawn. 
The previous applications included several reasons for refusal, which the 
applicant has sought to overcome via this subsequent application. Section 4.1 
of this report provides details of the previous application.  

 
2.0 SITE AND SURROUNDINGS 
 
2.1 The site covers an area of approximately 3.5 hectares and is located 

approximately 3km north of the centre of Dewsbury.  
 
2.2 The site is undeveloped, greenfield land situated between Lady Ann Road to 

the east and south, and Primrose Hill to the west. The topography slopes 
downwards from west to the south/east, with Howley Beck running along the 
east boundary. The site host mature trees, bushes and other vegetation. This 
includes a copse of trees located roughly centrally within the site which benefit 
from a group Tree Preservation Order (TPO).  

 
2.3 The site is an irregular shape, with its northern site boundary marked by a 1m 

high wooden fence and bushes. To the north-west is Howley Street, which 
leads onto PROW BAT/20/20. The western site boundary is defined by the 
back gardens and rear fences of the terraced houses on Primrose Hill. Further 
to the west, beyond Primrose Hill and out of sight (from the application site) 
lies a railway line. The north-eastern site boundary is marked mainly by dense 
bushes and trees, which then lead into Lady Ann Business Park. The business 
park, a historic woollen mill, hosts several buildings including the primary red-
brick mill building.  

 
2.4 The properties around the site, on both Lady Ann Road and Primrose Hill, are 

faced in stone with brick as a secondary material. The dwellings date back to 
the late 19th/early 20th century.  

 
3.0 PROPOSAL 
 
3.1 The application seeks full permission for the erection of 65 dwellings. The 

proposal would have eight house types, with the following size mix: 
 

 3-bed: 31 
 4-bed: 30 
 5-bed: 4 

 
Dwellings would be predominantly semi-detached with one terrace row. Seven 
units would be two-storeys in height, with the remaining being split level 2.5 
storeys in height (rooms in the roof space).  

 
3.2 A single new access would be formed to serve the development, from Lady 

Ann Road. It would be sited approximately opposite numbers 106 and 108 
Lady Ann Road and would cross over Howley Beck via a bridge. The access 
road would branch into three separate shared surface road, which the 
proposed dwellings would front onto. The primary route of the road would Page 11



initially head westward in the site, raising up against the natural contours, 
before turning north, following the natural land level more closely and running 
approximately parallel to Primrose Hill road.  

 
3.3 With the exception of the terrace row, all dwellings would be split level, having 

a two-storey and 2.5 storey elevation, i.e., rooms in the roof space utilising 
dormer windows, with asymmetrical roof forms used to keep eaves as low as 
feasible. Elevations facing west / uphill towards Primrose Hill would be two 
storeys. These would be a mixture of front and rear elevations, depending on 
the unit’s position within the site. The 2.5 storey elevations would be those 
facing east / downhill towards Lady Ann Road.  

 
3.4 All semi-detached units would have either two or three off-road parking 

spaces. Certain dwelling types would benefit from integral garages. The seven 
terrace units would rely on on-street parking. A total of 13 visitor parking 
spaces would be spread through the site.  

 
3.5 Dwellings are proposed to be faced in artificial stone to the front, with red-brick 

to the rear and side elevations, with the exemption of the terrace row’s side 
elevations facing west (downhill), which shall be stone. Artificial slate tiles in 
grey are proposed for the roofs. Each dwelling would have a rear garden, 
enclosed by 1.5m close boarded timber fencing.  

 
3.6 Retaining walls would be required through the site, however by virtue of the 

stepped house designs would be kept to a minimal, with heights typically 
varying between 0.2 – 0.6m.  

 
3.7 Public open space across the site would total 12,776sqm. This would include 

natural / semi-natural areas around Howley Beck, a, equipped children’s play 
area and orchard to the site’s south-east, and amenity greenspace spread 
throughout.  

 
4.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY (including enforcement history) 
 
4.1 Application Site 
 

2017/91851: Erection of 84 dwellings – Refused, for the following reasons: 
 

1. The proposal would entail residential development on a greenfield 
site which would significantly overwhelm the character and 
appearance of part of Lady Ann Road by virtue of the scale, massing 
and location of the proposed development. The prominent location in 
this case is emphasised by poor design, inconsistent roof designs and 
a lack of cohesion between the development and the existing urban 
grain. The development would represent a stand-alone design of 
inappropriate scale and appearance that would cause significant harm 
to the character and appearance of the area whilst failing to enhance 
the townscape. Accordingly, the proposal constitutes poor design and 
is considered unacceptable in terms of visual amenity, contrary to 
paragraph 13 of the National Planning Policy Framework, policies BE1 
and BE2 of the Kirklees Unitary Development Plan and Kirklees 
Publication Draft Policy PLP24.  

  

Page 12



 
2. The application potentially impacts on water voles which are a 
species of Principal Importance. There is insufficient information 
concerning the existing population of water voles, nor has it been 
demonstrated that the proposed development would contribute to, and 
enhance the natural environment having regard to the impact on the 
known water vole population. The proposal is therefore contrary to 
UDP policies NE5, BE2 (iv) of the Kirklees Unitary Development Plan 
and policy PLP30(i) (ii) of the Kirklees Publication Draft Local Plan and 
paragraph 175(a) of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

3. There is insufficient information to demonstrate that the proposed 
development would direct development away from the areas of 
flooding, contrary to policy PLP27 of the Kirklees Publication Draft 
Local Plan and paragraph 155 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

4. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would not result in unacceptable highways 
impacts as required by policy PLP32 of the Kirklees Publication Draft 
Local Plan and paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  
 

5. There is insufficient information contained with the application to 
understand the potential impact of the proposed development on 
heritage assets, namely archaeology, based on the potential for the 
site to support historical findings, contrary to paragraph 199 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 

6. There is no information supporting the application relating to 
requirements to support local infrastructure. A S106 agreement is 
required to ensure contributions towards affordable housing, 
education, Public Open Space and play equipment. The proposed 
development, therefore, fails to achieve the requirements of policy 
PLP4 of the Kirklees Publication Draft Local Plan.  
 

7. The application would result in a significant impact on trees within 
the site which are subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO – 72/91). 
The proposal includes a retaining wall feature which would be 
positioned in between the protected trees potentially resulting in their 
loss. In addition, the proximity of proposed dwellings in close proximity 
of the protected trees would put undue pressure on the trees to be 
removed in future due to the impact the trees would have on the 
amenity of future occupiers of the properties. The application conflicts 
with policy NE9 of the Kirklees Unitary Development Plan and PLP33 
of the Kirklees Publication Draft Local Plan 

 

2019/92462:  Erection of 71 dwellings with associated works including new 
access off Lady Ann Road, regrading works and landscaping – Refused, for 
the following reasons: 

 

1. There is insufficient information supporting the application relating 
to requirements to support local infrastructure. A Section 106 
agreement is required to ensure contributions towards affordable 
housing education and public open space and play equipment. The 
proposed development therefore fails to achieve the requirements of 
policies LP4; LP11; LP49 and LP63 of the Kirklees Local Plan.  Page 13



 
2. The proposal fails to provide sufficient information to enable a 
meaningful assessment of the scheme in terms of ecological 
mitigation, impact on trees and landscape proposals. As such the 
scheme is contrary to policies LP30; LP32 and LP33 of the Kirklees 
Local Plan.  
 
3. There is insufficient information to demonstrate that the proposed 
development would direct development away from areas of flooding, 
contrary to policy LP27 of the Kirklees Local Plan and paragraph 155 
of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
4. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would not result in unacceptable highway 
impacts contrary to policy LP32 of the Kirklees Local Plan and 
paragraph 109 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
2020/93071: Erection of 71 dwellings with associated works including new 
access off Lady Ann Road, regrading works and landscaping – Withdrawn, 
following officer’s conclusion to recommend refusal to committee. A committee 
report was drafted, with the following reasons for refusal recommended: 

 
1. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would sufficiently meet known housing need, 
would provide adequate, usable outdoor space and play space for its 
residents, and would not sufficiently mitigate its impacts including in 
relation to education. Insufficient financial viability evidence has been 
submitted to demonstrate that the proposed development cannot 
meet or partly meet these requirements, and the proposed 
development is therefore contrary to Policies LP4, LP11, LP49 and 
LP63 of the Kirklees Local Plan and guidance within the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  
 
2. The application has failed to demonstrate that the proposal would 
not result in a significant loss or harm to local biodiversity or that the 
proposal would safeguard and enhance the function and connectivity 
of the Kirklees Wildlife Habitat Network. Furthermore, the application 
has failed to demonstrate that a correct and measurable net 
biodiversity gain can be achieved on site (or at a nearby site or via 
financial contribution). As such, the proposal fails to comply with Policy 
LP30 (i, ii and iii) of the Kirklees Local Plan and Chapter 15 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
3. The proposed layout would result in a significant impact to and loss 
of trees of high amenity value within the site, which contribute to the 
character and setting of the area, and which are subject to a group 
Tree Preservation Order (TPO – 72/91). The applicant has failed to 
demonstrate sufficient arboricultural reasoning to justify the loss of the 
trees or propose an appropriate level of re-planting in mitigation. The 
application therefore fails to comply with Policies LP24(i) and LP33 of 
the Kirklees Local Plan and Chapter 12 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

  

Page 14



 
4. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the 
proposed development has been directed away from areas of flood 
risk and would not result in increased flood risk elsewhere, contrary to 
policy LP27 of the Kirklees Local Plan and paragraph 155 of the 
National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
5. Insufficient information has been submitted to demonstrate that the 
proposed development would not result in unacceptable highway 
impacts, nor would the proposed development incorporate or 
encourage the use of methods of sustainable travel. The proposed 
development is therefore contrary to Policies LP20, LP21, LP23, LP24 
and LP47 of the Kirklees Local Plan and paragraph 109 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

 
4.2 Surrounding Area 

 
Land Off, Soothill Lane, Batley (circa 1km east of the application site) 
 
2020/94202: Variation of Conditions 1, 9, 19 and 28 of the previous outline 
permission 2018/94189 (outline application for residential development of up 
to 366 dwellings with details of access points only) to allow for minor changes 
to the red line boundary plan and minor variations to the approved southern 
highways access point and approved remediation strategy specifications – 
Removal / Variation of Condition(s) Granted. 
 
2021/91731: Reserved Matters application (layout, scale, appearance and 
landscaping) for the erection of 319 dwellings pursuant to previous permission 
2020/94202 (Section 73) for Variation of Conditions 1, 9, 19 and 28 of the 
previous outline permission 2018/94189 for residential development of up to 
366 dwellings with details of access points only to allow for minor changes to 
the red line boundary plan and minor variations to the approved southern 
highways access point and approved remediation strategy specification – 
Granted 

 
Land between, Rutland Road, Howley Street, Primrose Hill, Batley 

 
2021/93311: Erection of new footbridge, ramps and stairs (within a 
Conservation Area) – Granted  

 
4.3 Enforcement (application site) 
 

COMP/16/0240: Alleged Unauthorised Development – No evidence of breach.  
 
5.0 HISTORY OF NEGOTIATIONS  
 
5.1 This application is the fourth by the application on the site.  The first was ref. 

2017/91851, for 85 dwellings and was refused September 2018. The second 
was ref. 2019/92462, for 71 dwellings and was refused January 2020. The 
third was ref. 2020/93071, for 71 dwellings. This was withdrawn May 2021 
following a committee report being published recommending refusal. The 
individual reasons for refusal per application are listed above.   

  

Page 15



 
5.2 This application was not subject to pre-application discussions prior to 

submission. Nonetheless, during the life of the submission this application has 
been through prolonged negotiations to attempt to resolve the various 
outstanding matters from the previous applications. These can be summarised 
as impact on trees, impact on local ecology, impact on local highways, 
addressing flood risk, and matters of viability. Originally the application was for 
67 dwellings, but was reduced to 65. Negotiations have included various 
meetings and other methods of correspondence. Based on the corroboration 
undertaken and the amendments made, along with additional supporting 
documents provided, officers are now in a position to recommend approval.  

 
6.0 PLANNING POLICY 
 
6.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires 

that planning applications are determined in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The 
statutory Development Plan for Kirklees is the Local Plan (adopted 27th 
February 2019).  
 
Kirklees Local Plan (2019) and Supplementary Planning Guidance / 
Documents 

 
6.2 The application site encompasses land allocated for residential development 

in the Local Plan (site allocation ref: HS74). The site allocation HS74 refers to 
an indicative housing capacity of 97 dwellings.  

 
6.3 Site allocation HS74 identifies the following constraints relevant to the site: 
 

 Part of site falls within flood zones 2 and 3  
 Surface water issues  
 Noise source near site - Lady Anne Industrial Estate, Railway line  
 Part of the site contains a Habitat of Principal Importance (Howley Beck a 

UK BAP priority habitat)  
 Site is within the Wildlife Habitat Network  
 Protected trees on site 

 
6.4 Site allocation HS74 also lists other site-specific considerations as: 
 

 No residential development to take place in flood zone 3 
 

6.5  Relevant Local Plan policies are: 
 

 LP1 – Presumption in favour of sustainable development 
 LP2 – Place shaping  
 LP3 – Location of new development  
 LP4 – Providing infrastructure 
 LP7 – Efficient and effective use of land and buildings 
 LP11 – Housing mix and affordable housing 
 LP20 – Sustainable travel 
 LP21 – Highways and access 
 LP22 – Parking   
 LP23 – Core waling and cycling network  
 LP24 – Design 

Page 16



 LP27 – Flood risk  
 LP28 – Drainage  
 LP29 – Management of water bodies 
 LP30 – Biodiversity and geodiversity 
 LP32 – Landscape 
 LP33 – Trees  
 LP35 – Historic environment  
 LP38 – Minerals safeguarding  
 LP51 – Protection and improvement of local air quality  
 LP52 – Protection and improvement of environmental quality 
 LP53 – Contaminated and unstable land  
 LP63 – New open space 
 LP65 – Housing allocations  

 
6.6 The following are relevant Supplementary Planning Documents or other 

guidance documents published by, or with, Kirklees Council.  
 

Supplementary Planning Documents 
 
 Affordable Housing and Housing Mix SPD (2023) 
 Highways Design Guide SPD (2019) 
 Housebuilders Design Guide SPD (2021) 
 Open Space SPD (2021) 
 
Guidance documents 
 
 Kirklees Interim Affordable Housing Policy (2020) 
 Biodiversity Net Gain Technical Advice Note (2021) 
 Planning Applications Climate Change Guidance (2021) 
 West Yorkshire Low Emissions Strategy and Air Quality and 

Emissions Technical Planning Guidance (2016) 
 Waste Management Design Guide for New Developments (2020) 
 Green Streets® Principles for the West Yorkshire Transport Fund 

 
 National Planning Guidance 
 
6.7 National planning policy and guidance is set out in National Policy Statements, 

primarily the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), published 19th 
February 2019, and the Planning Practice Guidance Suite (PPGS), first 
launched 6th March 2014, together with Circulars, Ministerial Statements and 
associated technical guidance. The NPPF constitutes guidance for local 
planning authorities and is a material consideration in determining 
applications. 

 
 Chapter 2 – Achieving sustainable development 
 Chapter 4 – Decision-making  
 Chapter 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 
 Chapter 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities  
 Chapter 9 – Promoting sustainable transport  
 Chapter 11 – Making effective use of land 
 Chapter 12 – Achieving well-designed places 
 Chapter 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 

coastal change  
Page 17



 Chapter 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment  
 Chapter 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  
 Chapter 17 – Facilitating the sustainable use of materials  

 
6.8 Other relevant national guidance and documents: 
 

 MHCLG: National Design Guide (2021) 
 DCLG: Technical Housing Standards – Nationally Described Space 

Standard (2015) 
 

Climate change  
 
6.9  The Council approved Climate Emergency measures at its meeting of full 

Council on the 16th of January 2019, and the West Yorkshire Combined 
Authority has pledged that the Leeds City Region would reach net zero carbon 
emissions by 2038. A draft Carbon Emission Reduction Pathways Technical 
Report (July 2020, Element Energy), setting out how carbon reductions might 
be achieved, has been published by the West Yorkshire Combined Authority. 

 
6.10  On the 12th of November 2019 the Council adopted a target for achieving ‘net 

zero’ carbon emissions by 2038, with an accompanying carbon budget set by 
the Tyndall Centre for Climate Change Research. National Planning Policy 
includes a requirement to promote carbon reduction and enhance resilience 
to climate change through the planning system, and these principles have 
been incorporated into the formulation of Local Plan policies. The Local Plan 
predates the declaration of a climate emergency and the net zero carbon 
target; however, it includes a series of policies which are used to assess the 
suitability of planning applications in the context of climate change. When 
determining planning applications, the council would use the relevant Local 
Plan policies and guidance documents to embed the climate change agenda. 

 
7.0 PUBLIC/LOCAL RESPONSE 
 

The applicant’s statement of community involvement (SCI) 
 
7.1 The application is not supported by a Statement of Community Involvement 

(SCI) and no pre-application public engagement was undertaken by the 
applicant, prior to the submission of this application.  

 
Public representation  

 
7.2  The application has been advertised as a major development via site notices 

and through neighbour letters to properties bordering the site, and was 
advertised in the local press This is in line with the Council’s adopted 
Statement of Community Involvement. 

 
7.3 The application was amended during its lifetime and a period of re-

consultation, via neighbour letters, was undertaken. These were sent to all 
neighbouring residents, as well as to those who provided comments to the 
original period of representation.  

  

Page 18



 
7.4 The end date for public comments was the 27th of February 2023. In total, 

across the two public representation periods, 120 public comments were 
received across three public representation periods. The representations 
include comments from the Chairman of Soothill Residents Association. There 
are also three petitions against the proposal, the first with 110 signatures, the 
second with 285 signatures and the third with 101.  

 
7.5 The following is a summary of the comments received via public 

representation, with a full record being available on the application’s webpage: 
 
General / other matters 
 
 Question why the applicant has been permitted to amend their 

proposal so many times over a long period.  

 The proposal will harm local house values.  

 The proposal will harm local public services, such as GPs, dentists, 
and schools.  

 The site should be removed from the Local Plan. The area is 
overcrowded which is causing litter, abusive behaviour and tensions.  

 The development of the site has been refused several times. There is 
no real change in this application compared to previous refusals.  

 The development will inevitably kill the trees within the centre of the 
site, either quickly or harm them in the long run. These have been 
anecdotally stated to have been planted as a first world war memorial 
garden.  

 Advertisement of the application has taken place over Christmas 
twice. This puts undue stress on residents during the festive period.  

 The site is not managed and is left to ‘fend for itself’. If it was, it could 
be of more value to local residents.   

 The council is committed to planting more trees and enhancing 
ecology, yet is allowing the developer to destroy a site with trees and 
ecological value.  

 Development is bad for the planet, removing natural areas that 
provide cooling for the planet.  

 The proposal does not meet policy expectations for affordable 
housing.  

 Brownfield sites or vacant properties should be prioritised over 
developing greenfield land.  

 Site notices have not been erected for the last period of publicity, with 
residents questioning why.  

 Questions whether the concerns initially raised by the council’s Police 
Architectural Liaison officer have been resolved.  

 Concerns that the development’s engineering works will undermine 
ground stability and foundations of nearby dwellings on Primrose Hill. 
Some of these units already suffer from subsidence.  

 The pedestrian tunnel from the bottom of Primrose Hill to the mill 
complex is dirty, wet and unsafe.  

 The site is subject to fly tipping and this will be exacerbated by more 
residents.  

Page 19



 Circa 20 years ago City Challenge designated Batley as an area in 
need of improvement and funded the planting of trees on lady Ann 
Road to improve the quality of life for residents. The development will 
counter any benefit of the previous project.  

 The various applications and submissions have affected the mental 
health of local residents. The site should be removed as a housing 
allocation.  

 
Urban Design 
 
 The use of artificial stone is out of character with the area. All other 

buildings in the area are face in natural stone.  

 The proposal appears to be overdevelopment, with large units 
cramped together.  

 Most of the surrounding areas of greenbelt and farmland have now 
been bought and built upon. The character of the area is being eroded 
and towns are merging into each other. 

 The existing area is low density and semi-rural, with areas of 
greenery. The proposal is contrary to these characteristics.  

 The development represents urban sprawl that leads to increased 
energy use, pollution, traffic, and community cohesiveness. 

 Nearby dwellings are Edwardian and/or Victorian in style. Those 
proposed would not reflect this and will appear unattractive in the 
area.  

 Three storey development is not appropriate within this area. 
 
Amenity  
 
 The proposal will harm the outlook of local residents.  

 The proposed development will cause overbearing, overlooking, and 
overshadowing on local residents on both Lady Ann Road and 
Primrose Hill.  

 The development will cause noise pollution from residents’ vehicle 
movements, use of their property, and the use of the play area  

 The development will cause air pollution and harmful vibrations. 

 The development will cause light pollution into nearby residents’ 
houses.  

 The proposal will increase crime within the area. Currently dwellings 
on Primrose Hill are protected by a natural barrier into the site which 
would be removed and development placed adjacent to it.   

 The site is tranquil and an ‘oasis on nature’. Its loss will affect the 
quality of life of all residents nearby. It is also used by children to play, 
walkers and has health benefits.  

 The development will cause overshadowing upon the rear of dwellings 
on Primrose Hill. This is their only sunlight, as the front elevations face 
the banking for the railway.  

 The addition of 1.8m – 2m fencing to the rear of properties on 
Primrose Hill will harm resident’s amenity.  

 Concerns over damage to trees on the site boundary and impacts their 
removal may have on the amenity of residents.  

 
Page 20



Ecology  
 
 The site is a wildlife sanctuary and home to various species including 

water voles, bats, newts, and owls. Some of these are protected 
species. The site is a water meadow and water voles are particularly 
rare and only known in two places in Kirklees. 

 The applicant’s ecological report was commission by them and is 
therefore biased / unreliable.  

 Anecdotal commentary that water voles are present on the site. 
Furthermore, survey work undertaken in the past did find evidence of 
their presence. However, the latest survey says there are none; this 
is spurious.  

 Concerns that the open spaces and habitats post development will be 
left unmanaged after the developer quits the site.  

 The development will cause pollution into Howley Beck.  

 The site is also home to several wild planet species in recent years.  

 The beck will be disturbed to enable the bridge to be build, harming 
local species.   

 The development is contradictory to the government’s pledge that ‘We 
will halt the decline in our biodiversity so we can achieve thriving 
plants and wildlife.’ 

 Questions whether the concerns initially raised by K.C. Ecology have 
been resolved.  

 
Drainage and Flooding 
 
 The site is a floodplain for Howley Beck and building on it is an issue. 

This will affect new dwellings, but also make flooding worse for 
existing residents. Howley Beck has historically flooded onto Lady 
Ann Road.  

 The children’s play area will be within the flood zone, putting them at 
risk. 

 There is a natural spring within the site that has not been considered.  

 The development will require culverting of the beck and force water 
downstream to Bradford, causing flooding issues there.  

 Developing the site will result in water entering Howley Beck at a faster 
rate. The beck flows into a culvert which will be overwhelmed and lead 
to more flooding.  

 The new dwellings will not be mortgageable and uninsurable due to 
being in a flood zone.  

 The land is graded as 3 / 4 by the Council in regards to flooding.  
 
Highways 
 
 The local highway network is as capacity with excessive queuing out 

of Lady Ann Road and connecting roads at peak times. The additional 
vehicle movements of the proposal will exacerbate this. This will also 
affect busses, making them less desirable.  

 Concerns over the cumulative impacts of this development and others 
within the Soothill area.  

Page 21



 Lady Ann Road is narrow and single lane in places due to existing 
residents needing to park on the road. This is a particular concern at 
the point of the access into the new site, which will displace more 
parking and turning into/out of the site would be difficult. Busses, 
emergency vehicles, refuse and local business deliveries struggle to 
operate in the area due to traffic parked on the roads. This will be 
exacerbated by the proposal.  

 Lady Ann Road is used as a bypass to Soothill Lane and has an issue 
with speeding drivers.  

 The site has a public footpath running through it that needs to be 
retained. It provides health benefits and amenity for residents.   

 Concerns over how construction traffic will access the site, particularly 
in the first instance given the need to bridge the river.  

 The traffic survey undertaken was inadequate, undertaken outside of 
rush hour and during wet weather.  

 Concerns over potential impacts upon PROW Bat 20/20 to the north 
of the site.  

 Traffic surveys undertaken during COVID should not be accepted.  
 

7.6 Responses to the above comments are set out later in this report. Each of the 
local ward Councillors have expressed objections to the proposal, with their 
comments summarised below:  
 
Cllr H Zaman 
 
 The use of artificial stone is unacceptable and the dwellings are too 

cramped, resulting in an unactive overdevelopment.  

 There is a public footpath crossing the site that needs to be retained. 

 The land is flood plan and is graded 3/4 by the Council.  

 The proposal will add additional traffic onto roads that are already 
overprescribed. Lady Ann Road is used as a bypass to Soothill while 
also suffering from speeding drivers. 

 Lady Ann Road is narrow and is further narrowed by residents having 
to park on the road. Busses, service vehicles, and local business 
deliveries struggling to operate.  

 This housing development will put further strain on the existing 
infrastructure i.e., schools, madrassahs, doctors, dentists etc which 
would be harmful to the quality of life currently enjoyed by the 
community. 

 The land is home to various species, some protected. The new habitat 
would be inadequate. Also, the beck hosts protected water voles will 
have to be disturbed to build the access road onto the site.   

 The area flood frequently, harming local residents and will harm future 
resident s too. The development includes work in Flood Zone 3 and 
will exacerbate existing flooding if land levels are changed.  

 A natural spring on site has not been adequately considered.  

 Residents living on Primrose Hill only get sunlight on a morning from 
the rear of their properties facing the proposed development because 
of the railway banking to the front, yet the proposal is for 3 storey 
houses, and this will have a serious effect on their health and mental 
wellbeing. 

Page 22



 There are inconsistencies on the plans, some showing TPOs being 
kept and others showing them being removed.  

 There have also been two accidents not mentioned in the report that 
have occurred on Lady Anne Road.  More consideration is required 
regarding traffic management.   

 
Cllr A Zaman 
 
 The development is for multi-storey homes facing Lady Ann Road and 

Primrose Hill, leaving no privacy for residents on Primrose Hill. 

 The development is out of character with the area, particularly the use 
of artificial stone.  

 The development will accommodate up to 197 vehicles. This is putting 
more pressure on overprescribed roads that are ‘mayhem at the best 
of times’ and worse at peak times. This will make matters more difficult 
for emergency vehicles.  

 Cllr Zaman disagrees with the traffic report, considering it to be bias 
and misleading. Not all accidents have been reported (including a 
fatality). 

 Lady Ann Road is too narrow, partly single lane due to resident 
parking, to accommodate the proposal. Drivers either have to wait or 
reverse long distances. Impacts will also be caused on Broomsdale 
Road and Grace Leather Lane.  

 The site is a flood zone. These houses will not be able to get 
insurance, as existing residents cannot. The developer will make profit 
and leave this issue with new residents.  

 Yorkshire Water are objecting due to tree planting near their pipes.  

 Building works on the Lady Ann Railway bridge has negatively impact 
all residents around Lady Ann, Primrose Hill, Soothill, Grace Leather 
Lane and onwards with large diggers and noisy work. The area is 
illuminated at all times of day and night with restrictions on access to 
their homes. Primrose Hill residents have been inconvenienced long 
term with all the works going on to the Railway in front of their homes. 
Cars have been damaged with the vehicles too big for the street, 
scraping cars and in some cases ripping wing mirrors off. 

 Insufficient consideration has been given to the mental and emotional 
health of residents throughout the various applications hanging over 
them.  

 
Cllr Dockrat 
 
 Flood risk area: The site is a flood risk area and there are concerns 

over the effectiveness of the mitigation proposed. Question whether 
insurance companies have been consulted and if they’d insure houses 
in this location due to flooding issues.  

 Impact on traffic infrastructure: It is not accepted that the proposal 
would not materially affect the junction of Lady Ann Road and Soothill 
Lane. These are busy roads and any additional traffic will be an issue. 
This will also affect bus routes and emergency vehicles, which already 
struggle to navigate the network.  

Page 23



 Environmental impact: The land in question has Water Voles, Bats, 
Great Crested Newts, Kestrels, and Owl populations. Some of these 
are protected species and although there is a "protected area" on the 
proposed site, not all the species habitats are in that area. The beck 
will have to be disturbed to build the access road onto the site.  

 Impact on existing Infrastructure and services: This housing 
development will put further strain on the existing infrastructure 
including the roads, schools, madrassahs, doctors, dentists etc which 
would be harmful to the quality of life currently enjoyed by the 
community, whilst the developer may propose contributing to wider 
social facilities, these must be made explicit if the development was 
to be proceed. 

 Impact on the wellbeing of residents and the appearance of the 
locality: The area is overpopulated and the development will 
exacerbate impacts. The impact on the mental and emotional health 
of residents around Lady Ann Road, Soothill and Primrose Hill has 
been consistently negatively impacted with the reoccurring threat of 
this development hanging over them year on year, creating ongoing 
fear, worry and stress. Residents have, campaigned, objected and 
petitioned multiple times why this parcel of land is so inappropriate for 
development. 

 Visual impacts: The layout of the proposed scheme appears as an 
overdevelopment of the site with blocks of semi-detached dwellings, 
excessive utilisation of space. 

 
8.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 
8.1 Statutory 
  

K.C. Highways (Development Management): K.C. Highways have been 
involved in prolonged discussions with the applicant. This includes 
assessment of potential traffic impacts of the development and ensuring an 
appropriate highway design. Based on final details, no objection subject to 
S106 contributions and conditions being imposed.  
 
K.C. Lead Local Flood Authority: The LLFA requested further details specific 
to the proposed surface water attenuation strategy. This was provided to the 
satisfaction of the LLFA, who have now confirmed no objection to the proposal. 
This is subject to conditions being imposed along with clauses relating to 
management and maintenance of surface water within any S106 agreement.  
 
Network Rail: No response received. On previous applications they offered no 
objection to the proposal, however given the site’s proximity to the Lady Ann 
level crossing on Howley Street. They requested that level crossing safety 
details be provided to future residents, however they also accept that such a 
request is unlikely to be reasonable / necessary as a planning condition. 
Therefore, a note on the decision notice, if minded to approve, is requested.  
 
The Environment Agency: Initial concerns were expressed by the EA due to 
proposed works in and around the flood zone. This includes the re-profiling of 
land that would affect a flood zone. Nonetheless, the applicant provided further 
details that addressed the initial concerns identified. As a result, subject to 
conditions, the EA offer no objection.  

Page 24



 
8.2 Non-statutory 

 
K.C. Conservation and Design: Raised no concerns over potential impacts 
upon nearby heritage assets. However, expressed objection to the design of 
the initial proposal and concluded it to be unacceptable due to concerns it 
would neither function well nor add to the quality of the area in its current form. 
These concerns have been considered as part of the proposal moving 
forwarded and addressed via amendments.  
 
K.C. Crime Prevention: Provide advice to officers and the applicant. This 
included avoided creating non-overlooked, lighting, and recessed gateways. 
Elements of the advice have been incorporated by the applicant where 
feasible with conditions proposed to address others. 
 
K.C. Ecology: K.C. Ecology expressed initial concerns over the quality of the 
survey work undertaken and the assessment of impacts put forward. In 
particular, this related to identifying whether the site hosted water voles. The 
applicant undertook more extensive and up to date surveys and updated their 
impact assessment accordingly, to the satisfaction of K.C. Ecology, who are 
satisfied that the works have now been done in accordance with the relevant 
guidance and best practise. Therefore, K.C. Ecology offer no objection subject 
to the imposition of conditions and securing net gain provisions (including on-
site management and maintenance, along with a contribution of £180,780) 
within the S106.  

 
K.C. Education: K.C. Education identified that the proposal for 65 units would 
necessitate an education contribution of £71,848.  
 
K.C. Environmental Health: K.C. Environmental Health have given due regard 
to various potential sources of pollution including ground condition, air 
pollution, noise, and lighting. No prohibitive issues have been identified. They 
conclude that they hold no objection to the proposal, subject to conditions. 

 
K.C. Landscape: Provide advice to enhance landscaping and open space on 
site which has been incorporated where feasible. Regarding Public Open 
Space, confirmed a policy compliant expectation of onsite delivery and offsite 
contribution. The proposed on-site and off-site mixture is deemed acceptable. 
 
K.C. Strategic Housing: Confirmed a policy compliant affordable housing 
mixture to consist of 13 units, with the following tenure mixture: 
 
o First Homes: 3 units  
o Registered Provider Intermediate Affordable Housing: 3 units  
o Registered Provider Social Rent or Affordable Rent homes: 7 units 

 
Note: K.C. Strategic Housing’s comments and the application as a whole pre-
date the adoption of the Affordable Housing SPD which includes house size 
expectations. This is considered further within the assessment section of this 
report.  
 
K.C. Highways (Waste): Appropriate bin storage and collection locations are 
shown. Requested conditions requiring bin storage and collection be provided 
as shown as well as the submission of a strategy for waste collection during 
construction. 

Page 25



 
K.C. Highways (Structures): No objection subject to the imposition of 
conditions relating to the technical standard of new structures (e.g., bridge / 
retaining walls) on or near to the existing or proposed adopted highway.  
 
K.C. Trees: The site has one protected group in the centre, ref TPO 72/91/G1 
which is of high public amenity. While indicated to be retained from 
submission, K.C. Trees initially requested further on how the trees would be 
protected and retained. This detail was provided and K.C. Trees offer no 
objection, subject to condition.  
 
Leeds City Council: No comments received.  
 
West Yorkshire Archaeology Advisory Service: The applicant has been in past 
discussions with WYAAS regarding the site’s archaeology value. The 
applicant has undertaken the previously advised archaeological geophysical 
survey. Based on these the WYAAS recommend that should planning 
permission be granted a pre-commencement archaeological evaluation 
should take place followed by any further archaeological works, with a 
recommended condition provided.  
 
Yorkshire Water:  Object to the proposal due to the presence of a Yorkshire 
Water public sewer system located within the site. This pipe runs along Howley 
Street to the site’s north before entering the site to the north-east and running 
roughly along its east edge before existing the site onto Lady Ann Road to the 
south. Concerns are expressed over landscaping on or near this pipe.  
 

9.0 MAIN ISSUES 
 

 Principle of development 
 Urban Design  
 Residential Amenity 
 Highway 
 Drainage and flood risk 
 Ecology 
 Planning obligations 
 Other Matters 
 Representations 

 
10.0 APPRAISAL 
 

Principle of development 
 
10.1 Paragraph 47 of the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework), 

which is a material consideration in planning decisions, confirms that planning 
law requires applications for planning permission to be determined in 
accordance with the development plan, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. This approach is confirmed within Policy LP1 of the 
Kirklees Local Plan, which states that when considering development 
proposals, the Council would take a positive approach that reflects the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development contained within the 
Framework. Policy LP1 also clarifies that proposals that accord with the 
policies in the Kirklees Local Plan would be approved without delay, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Page 26



 
Land allocation (Housing Allocation) and the quantum of residential 
development  

 
10.2 The Local Plan identifies a minimum housing requirement of 31,140 homes 

between 2013 and 2031 to meet identified needs. This equates to 1,730 
homes per annum.  

 
10.3 A revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published in 

December 2023 which removed a local authority’s requirement to demonstrate 
a five-year housing land supply if it was within five years of the adoption of a 
Local Plan. As such, at the date of the committee meeting, Kirklees does not 
currently need to demonstrate a five-year supply until the Local Plan is five 
years old on 28/02/2024 and full weight may be attributed to its policies. 

 
10.4 Prior to the December 2023 revision to the NPPF local authorities were 

required to review their supply of housing land annually. For information 
purposes, the last review undertaken by the local authority from December 
2023 (undertaken prior to the NPPF revision coming into effect) identified the 
five-year housing land supply position for Kirklees as 3.96 years supply of 
housing land. A further / updated interim housing position statement is 
intended to be published 28/02/2024. For the avoidance of doubt this is for 
information purposes only and as of the date of the committee the provision 
of NPPF paragraph 11(d) do not apply and is not germane to this decision.  

 
10.5 The site falls within part of a housing allocation, reference HS74, within the 

Kirklees Local Plan Allocations and Designations document (2019) to which 
full weight can be given. Therefore, residential development is welcomed 
within the site in accordance with LP65. However, both the Local Plan and 
National Planning Policy Framework set out expectations to ensure proposals 
represent the effective and efficient development of land. 

 
10.6 Local Plan policy LP7 requires development to achieve a net density of at least 

35 dwellings per hectare (dph), where appropriate. Local Plan allocations have 
indicative capacity figures based on this net density figure. Within the Local 
Plan, site HS74 is expected to deliver 97 dwellings, with the application 
proposing 65. It should also be noted that the application’s red-line boundary 
exceeds that of site HS74 to the south by a minor amount, theoretically 
increasing the required quantum 

 
10.7 Proposing 65 dwellings on the application site’s identified net developable 

area (2.78ha), the proposal has a density of 23dph. However, officers consider 
the site to have constraints which make seeking the minimum target density 
of 35dph to be inappropriate. During preparation of the Local Plan, all land 
within flood zone 3 was removed from the net developable area. Even pre-
excluding this land, there are constraints and restrictions on the site, and 
constraints that allow for sizable portions of the site to be considered 
undevelopable or restrictive to development. This includes the topography and 
the design of dwellings needed to address it, and distances from Lady Ann 
Business Park. Considering these factors cumulatively, on balance officers 
accept the proposed density to be appropriate for the site and its specific 
constraints. These factors will be considered more thoroughly where 
appropriate in this report.  

 

Page 27



10.8 Looking beyond density, policy LP11 of the Local Plan requires consideration 
of housing mixture. This is expanded upon within the Council’s Affordable 
Housing and Housing Mixture SPD which sets out strict percentage-based 
expectations for mixtures of units. Nevertheless, given that this application and 
much of the negotiations undertaken on mixture and numbers predate the 
adoption of the SPD by a notable timeframe (adoption of the SPD was March 
2023), it is not deemed reasonable to retroactively impose the newer 
standards.  

 
10.9 The proposal seeks detached, semi-detached and terraced houses, with the 

following sizes proposed: 
 

 3bed: 31 (48%) 
 4bed: 30 (46%) 
 5bed: 4 (6%) 

 
The lack of 1 and 2-bed units is noticed, but is not atypical of an application 
from before the adoption of the Affordable Housing and Housing Mixture SPD. 
Furthermore, there are noted to be an abundance of smaller existing units in 
the area, therefore is not considered to be a specific expectation for this site 
or a concern for the proposal. Overall, the proposed housing mixture is 
deemed reasonable and complies with the expectation of LP11. The mixture 
of detached, semi-detached and terrace units is welcomed.  

 
10.10 The site is a housing allocation in the Local Plan, with the proposal considered 

to represent an effective and efficient use of the allocated site, in accordance 
with relevant planning policy. The proposal would aid in the delivery of housing 
to meet the Council’s targets, and the principle of development is therefore 
found to be acceptable. Consideration must then be given to the proposal’s 
local impacts, considered below. 

  
Sustainable development and climate change 

 
10.11  As set out at paragraph 7 of the NPPF, the purpose of the planning system is 

to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. The NPPF goes 
on to provide commentary on the environmental, social and economic aspects 
of sustainable development, all of which are relevant to planning decisions 

 
10.12 The site is within the urban envelope, within a location considered sustainable 

for residential development. It is accessible, lying within an existing 
established settlement and close to various local amenities and facilities. At 
least some, if not all, of the daily, economic, social and community needs of 
residents of the proposed development can be met within the area 
surrounding the application site, which further indicates that residential 
development at this site can be regarded as sustainable.  

 
10.13  Regarding climate change, measures would be necessary to encourage the 

use of sustainable modes of transport. Adequate provision for cyclists 
(including cycle storage and space for cyclists) and other measures have been 
proposed or would be secured by condition (referenced where relevant within 
this assessment). A development at this site which was entirely reliant on 
residents travelling by private car is unlikely to be considered sustainable. 
Drainage and flood risk minimisation measures would need to account for 
climate change. 
 Page 28



Urban Design  
 
10.14 Relevant design policies include LP2 and LP24 of the Local Plan and Chapter 

12 of the National Planning Policy Framework. These policies seek for 
development to harmonise and respect the surrounding environment, with 
LP24(a) stating; ‘Proposals should promote good design by ensuring: the 
form, scale, layout and details of all development respects and enhances the 
character of the townscape, heritage assets and landscape’. 

 
10.15 There is development to the south, east and west to the site, so the proposal 

would not appear as a rural extension (i.e., encroaching into open 
countryside). Nonetheless, the site is on the edge of the urban environment, 
where the environment is transitioning into the open rural environment to the 
north. The steep slope exacerbates the prominence of the site, and 
consequently the impact the new residential development would have on the 
character of the urban environment, specifically from Lady Ann Road to the 
east. Views to the site from the east are blocked by the continuous terrace 
rows on Primrose Hill. Lady Ann Road is defined by long terrace rows of early 
20th century origin.   

 
10.16 As a housing allocation, it is accepted that the development of the site would 

lead to a notable change in the character of both the site and wider area. 
Nonetheless, the proposal will need to be carefully considered so as to respect 
the topography and character of the area, without overly dominating the hill 
side when viewed from Lady Ann Road.  

 
10.17 The layout of the development is a logical response to the natural features and 

constraints of the site. These include its topography, watercourse (Howley 
Beck), existing tree planting and irregular shape. While it is important to 
respect establish character and ensure developments harmonise into the 
existing built environment, the defining characteristics of Lady Ann Road (a 
continuous terrace row of early 20th century origin) cannot reasonably be 
replicated on this site. The low density proposed is considered a reasonable 
response and would help to achieve an appropriate layout which would blend 
into the established urban environment, while the separation provided by the 
open land to the east and Howley Beck would keep the site visually separate 
and distinct from properties on Lady Ann Road without appearing at odds. 
Nonetheless, to help the development integrate into the character of Lady Ann 
Road a terrace row would be sited near the access fronting onto Lady Ann 
Road, along with architectural elements of the dwellings reflecting aspects 
(considered further below). Furthermore, this low density and generous open 
space to the east would assist in the development retaining a sense of 
openness that is a characteristic of the site as existing.  

 
10.18 The principal constraint of the site is the topography. The development’s 

approach to levels has been carefully considered to achieve these aims. As 
originally submitted the proposal sought split level properties of two and three 
storeys, with the three storeys facing downhill towards Lady Ann Road. This 
was accompanied with extensive engineering works and was a cause of 
concern to officers. It was envisioned that such a development would overly 
dominate the site and wider area. To address these concerns amendments 
have been made to the proposal. Dwellings are still split level, but through 
using asymmetrical roof forms the development will present two storeys’ units 
(some with dormers and habitable rooms in the roof space) down the hill 
(towards Lady Ann Road). Facing up hill (towards Primrose Hill) units would 

Page 29



be two storeys. Therefore, the apparent height of the units would reflect that 
common in the area. This revision has also reduced the site’s reliance and 
maximum height of on retaining walls, although their reduced inclusion cannot 
be fully designed out: this is inevitable given the site’s slope. By virtue of the 
proposal’s layout and the site’s orientation, along with the modest nature of 
the asymmetry, the asymmetrical roofs would not be overly prominent or 
unattractive. The dwellings on the highest points to the north and west, being 
at a lower level than those dwellings on Primrose Hill, would be well sited and 
ensure roofs rise the valley side as is typical for the district. 

 
10.19 As is set out in detail in the table of paragraph 10.?, the proposed units are 

notably larger than the NDSS minimum standards. This in itself is not a cause 
for concern, as the standards are for minimums as opposed to maximums. 
However, it is evident that these units would be larger in scale than those 
typical within the area although this is not expected to cause them to appear 
incongruous. The units are not so unduly large to appear incongruous and is 
a result of being split level. The height of the units has been manged via being 
split level. Furthermore, the generous separation will prevent direct side to 
side comparisons between the new units and those on Lady Ann Road.  By 
virtue of the built form on Primrose Hill, there would be limited public vistas of 
the existing and new units. Overall, the scale of the units is deemed 
acceptable.  

 
10.20 Regarding the architectural design of the units, the proposed development will 

inevitably be divergent in appearance to existing dwellings in the area. 
Housing stock in the area is varied and there is a strong sense of variety in 
built form. Therefore, the site has more freedom in terms of appearance, 
without appearing incongruous in the area. Nonetheless, as noted previously, 
the development will be prominently seen alongside the units on Lady Ann 
Road. The front façades are designed to reflect the local context with aligning 
a window above the front door and the other ground and 1st floor windows 
align. Bathrooms or bedrooms at first floor level need smaller windows. A 
render panel is proposed to create the alignment with fenestration below. 
Subject to the render being a colour which suitably matches the facing 
material, this inclusion is not opposed and is deemed a reasonable approach. 
This may be secured via condition.  

 
10.21 Dormers are not a characteristic of the area but are not an unusual addition to 

a modern development. They are kept to a minimum and would not be a 
defining feature of the development. Furthermore, by virtue of the 
asymmetrical roof, they are lower set that would be typical, reducing their 
prominence. Their inclusion is not opposed.  

 
10.22 A small portion (two house types) include inset bin-stores within the dwelling 

that would have garage-like doors on the front elevation. This unusual design 
feature is to allow sheltered and hidden bin-storage: due to units being split 
level bins cannot easily be stored to the rear of most dwellings. This is 
considered an innovative response to avoid bins being stored to the front of 
most dwellings, either loose or in individual shelters, which could be dominant 
given the number of units and bins in this case.   

 
10.23 Progressing to materials, stone frontages with red brick side / rear elevations 

are proposed. This is consistent with materials in the area and not opposed. 
However, artificial stone is intended whereas the stone on adjacent streets is 
natural. The use of artificial stone is a cause for concern; however, it is 

Page 30



accepted that the site has viability issues. Furthermore, the frontages of a fair 
portion of the units (plots 09 – 56) would only really be visible within the site. 
On balance the use of artifices stone, subject to a suitable end product, is 
deemed reasonable. Plots 01 – 08 and 57 – 65 face Lady Ann Road and would 
be prominently from outside the site. The use of an inferior material on these 
units is not deemed reasonable, and a condition requiring these units’ 
frontages (only, with sides and rear being brick) is deemed necessary to 
ensure the development harmonises with the area. This, and samples of 
materials, may be secured via condition.  

 
10.24 No details of retaining wall facing have been proposed. While reduced from 

the initial proposal, they will still be evident. A condition requiring samples to 
be provided for assessment is deemed appropriate.   

 
10.25 Roofing materials are proposed as artificial slate. Although natural slate is 

predominant in the area, given the separation distance of the new units to 
existing dwellings and that the site is on a higher ground level than Lady Ann 
Road, the prominence of the roofing material will be limited. Subject to a 
suitable product being used, securable via condition, artificial slates are not 
opposed.  

 
10.26 The site is to have 12,776sqm of landscaped area. This is a higher than usual, 

by virtue of the site’s undevelopable areas. This, with the proposed 
landscaping, would result in a verdant character for the site, particularly when 
viewed from the east. The indicative landscaping strategy has shown that the 
site may be attractively landscaped to a high quality, which is welcomed. This 
includes the planting of numerous trees including the streets being tree-lined 
(although these would be in either POS or front gardens, as opposed to being 
within the highway). A condition for a fully detailed landscaping strategy, to 
include management and maintenance details are recommended. The S106 
will also include a clause to secure the perpetual management and 
maintenance arrangements of the communal landscaped areas. 

 
10.27 The landscaping includes the retention of all trees within the group Tree 

Preservation Order (TPO) in the rough centre of the site. The applicant has 
provided Arboricultural Survey and Impact assessments which K.C. Trees are 
satisfied with. These demonstrate that the development would not unduly 
impact on the TPO, although a condition for an Arboricultural Method 
Statement is recommended to ensure appropriate process when working near 
trees is followed. Other trees within the site, particularly along the west 
boundary (adjacent dwellings on Primrose Hill) are to be removed but are all 
considered low quality and not of public amenity: their removal would be 
adequately mitigated via the proposals landscape strategy and new tree 
planting.  

 
10.28 There is concluded to be no impact upon the historic environment. The Upper 

Batley Conservation Area is to the west of the site but is well severed from the 
site by the dwellings on Primrose Hill and the intervening railway and banking 
resulting in no impact. Likewise, the Station Road Batley Conservation Area 
to the south is too far with intervening structures to be impacted upon via the 
development.  To the south is a Grade 2 Listed subway tunnel that provides a 
pedestrian connection to the Primrose Hill / Lady Ann Road to The Mill. By its 
nature of being subterranean it has a limited setting that would not be 
materially impacted upon via the development.  

 
Page 31



10.29 In summary, the proposed works would notably change the character and 
appearance of the site and wider area, while being visible from across the 
valley. Nonetheless, the proposed development is deemed to be designed to 
a high standard. The proposal would represent an attractive continuation of 
the residential environment, while appropriately transitioning to the rural 
landscape to the west. Accordingly, the proposal is deemed to comply with the 
aims and objectives of Policies LP2 and LP24 of the KLP, and Chapter 12 of 
the NPPF.  

 
10.30 The above assessment has been based on the proposal as submitted. Given 

the topography of the site and the layout of the development, it is considered 
further development on the site, via extensions or outbuildings, could notably 
affect the quality of the design and be unduly prominent. It is therefore 
considered prudent to remove permitted development rights for outbuildings 
and extensions for all units within the site. 

 
Residential Amenity 

 
10.31  Local Plan policy LP24 requires developments to provide a high standard of 

amenity for future and neighbouring occupiers, including by maintaining 
appropriate distances between buildings. 

 
10.32 To the east are dwellings on Lady Ann Road, all of which have their front 

elevations facing the site and are at a lower level than the proposed dwellings. 
To the west are dwellings on Primrose Hill, with their rear elevations facing the 
site. The dwellings on Primrose Hill are predominately on a higher level than 
the site. There is also a terrace row due north of the site, on Howley Street.  

 
10.33  The proposed layout sets the new dwellings back a considerable distance 

from Lady Ann Road, with open space areas proposed between the new 
dwellings and the road. The minimum dwelling-to-dwelling separation distance 
would be circa 45m. While the level differences are noted, this distance is 
considered sufficient to prevent harmful impacts upon the amenity of residents 
on Lady Ann Road.   

 
10.34  The dwellings on Primrose Hill would back onto plots 1 – 36, with a minimum 

separation distance of 21m. This accords with the council’s Housebuilders 
Design Guide. Furthermore, as the new dwellings are to be set on a lower 
ground level and will present only two storeys to the properties on Primrose 
Hill, the arrangement proposed would be a betterment for existing residents 
through the new dwellings being lower and therefore less prominent.  Thus 
there are no concerns over the amenity of existing residents on Primrose Hill.  

 
10.35 No. 18 Howley Street will face the side elevation of plot 36 at a distance of 

circa 18m. This distance is considered sufficient to prevent overbearing or 
overshadowing concerns. The side elevation hosts a single window serving a 
non-habitable room. This can be obscure glazed via condition, which would 
prevent concerns of overlooking.  

 
10.36 The landscaping strategy includes details of boundary treatment locations and 

heights. While the details available are broadly acceptable in principle, typical 
elevations of boundary treatments have not been provided. To ensure the 
boundary treatments proposed are adequately detailed and acceptable in all 
regards, to preserve the amenity of both existing and future residents, a 
condition for full boundary details is recommended.  

Page 32



 
10.37 Summarising the above, by virtue of the proposal’s layout, scale of the units, 

and their separation distances to third party dwellings, there are no concerns 
that the development would cause material harm to the amenity of existing 
residents, in accordance with LP24 of the Kirklees Local Plan.  

 
10.38  A condition requiring the submission and approval of a Construction 

(Environmental) Management Plan (C(E)MP) is recommended. The 
necessary discharge of conditions submission would need to sufficiently 
address the potential amenity impacts of construction work at this site, 
including cumulative amenity impacts should other nearby sites be developed 
at the same time. Details of dust suppression measures would need to be 
included in the C(E)MP. An informative regarding hours of noisy construction 
work is recommended.  

 
10.39 Consideration must also be given to the amenity of future occupiers and the 

quality of the proposed units. 
 
10.40 The sizes (in sqm) of the proposed residential units are a material planning 

consideration. Local Plan policy LP24 states that proposals should promote 
good design by ensuring they provide a high standard of amenity for future 
and neighbouring occupiers, and the provision of residential units of an 
adequate size can help to meet this objective. Although the Government’s 
Nationally Described Space Standards (March 2015, updated 2016) (NDSS) 
are not adopted planning policy in Kirklees, they provide useful guidance 
which applicants are encouraged to meet and exceed, as set out in the 
council’s draft Housebuilder Design Guide SPD. 

 

House Type 
Number of 

units 
Proposed 
(GIA, m2)* 

NDSS (GIA, m2) 

B3T1 (terrace) 7 102.4 84 
B3T2 16 105.7 90 
B3T3 8 105.7 90 
B4T1 8 122.9 103 
B4T2 6 129.8 103 
B4T3 10 126.1 103 
B4T4 6 127.1 103 
B5T1 2 146.6 116 
B5T2 2 151.9 116 

 
* These figures exclude garages, where proposed.  

 
10.41 All units exceed the relevant NDSS recommended minimums. Garden sizes 

are considered commensurate to the scale of their host dwellings. All of the 
proposed houses would also benefit from being dual aspect, and would have 
satisfactory outlook, privacy and natural light. This is taking into consideration 
the separation distance between units within and existing dwellings outside of 
the site, with separation distances being adequate in each case. 

 
10.42 A sizable area of Public Open Space would be provided on site and would 

contribute to the amenity of future and existing nearby residents. This 
proposed space includes 4,188sqm of accessible amenity grassland, to 
include an equipped play area and park spaces (details to be secured via 
condition) and 6,171 sqm of natural / semi-natural land. This is more open 

Page 33



space than on typical developments but is provided on this site by virtue of 
site-specific circumstances (topography, retaining land around protected 
trees, and avoiding flood zones). While this provision is noted, as set out in 
the council’s Public Open Space SPD, public open space is divided into five 
typologies. The proposal overprovides on amenity grassland and natural / 
semi-natural, while underproviding other typologies: therefore, an off-site 
contribution of £43,020 to cover the typologies not fully provided on site, to be 
spent improving open space in the area, remains necessary.  

 
10.43 Parts of the proposed development are near the Lady Ann Business Park. The 

applicant has provided a noise report, which has been reviewed by K.C. 
Environmental Health. The report is sufficient to demonstrate no fundamental 
issues relating to noise pollution, however, uses older data. Therefore, 
Environmental Health advise that an updated noise mitigation report is 
recommended via condition, to ensure adequate noise mitigation is secured. 
This is deemed reasonable to demonstrate compliance with LP24 and LP52.  

 
10.44  To summarise, the proposed development is not considered detrimental to the 

amenity of neighbouring residents. Furthermore, the proposal would secure 
an acceptable standard of amenity for future residents. Subject to the 
proposed conditions, the proposal is deemed to comply with policies LP24 and 
LP52 of the Kirklees Local Plan. 

 
10.45 The above assessment has been based on the proposal as submitted. Given 

the layout of the development and proximity to neighbouring properties it is 
considered further development on the site, via extensions or outbuildings, 
could affect the amenity of residents on Primrose Hill. It is therefore considered 
prudent to remove permitted development rights for outbuildings and 
extensions for all units within the site. 

 
Highways 
  

10.46 Local Plan policy LP21 requires development proposals to demonstrate that 
they can accommodate sustainable modes of transport and can be accessed 
effectively and safely by all users. The policy also states that new development 
would normally be permitted where safe and suitable access to the site can 
be achieved for all people, and where the residual cumulative impacts of 
development are not severe.  

 
10.47  Paragraph 108 of the NPPF states that, in assessing applications for 

development, it should be ensured that appropriate opportunities to promote 
sustainable transport modes can be – or have been – taken up, that safe and 
suitable access to the site can be achieved for all users, and that any 
significant impacts from the development on the transport network (in terms 
of capacity and congestion), or highway safety, can be cost-effectively 
mitigated to an acceptable degree. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF adds that 
development should only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if 
there would be an unacceptable impact on highways safety, or if the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

  

Page 34



 
10.48 First considering traffic generation, a proposal of 65 dwellings is expected to 

generate (using robust trip rate data) the following movements: 
 

 Arrival Departure Two-way 
AM Peak 13 33 46 
PM Peak 33 13 46 

 
10.49  The above trip rate information is acceptable and is considered to provide a 

robust assessment of development traffic impacts. The development would 
generate circa 46 additional two-way vehicle trips on to the local highway 
network during the AM and PM weekday peak periods respectively. In terms 
of distribution and junction impacts these additional movements would have, 
the applicant and K.C. Highways have considered the following off-site 
junctions:  

 
 Lady Ann Road/ Soothill Lane priority T-Junction 
 Grace Leather Lane/ Soothill Lane priority T-Junction 

 
10.50 The junction capacity assessments at the two off-site junctions on Soothill 

Lane have confirmed that the development will not have a significant adverse 
impact on their operation. Based on the data gathered and comments received 
within the public representations it is accepted that these junctions are 
currently busy at peak times. However, paragraph 115 of the NPPF sets out 
the following test: 

 
115. Development should only be prevented or refused on highways 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, 
or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be 
severe. 

 
10.51 The proposal’s 46 two-way movements (comprising 13 arrivals in one direction 

and 33 departures in another) would amount to an average of 0.6 additional 
vehicles a minute (or 1 additional vehicle every 2 minutes). This would not 
result in unacceptable harm to highway safety, nor would it be a severe impact. 
Accordingly, the proposal is deemed to pass the test of paragraph 115 and the 
traffic generation is considered acceptable.  

 
10.52 Notwithstanding the above, whilst the traffic impact of the development is 

considered acceptable, junction visibility at the Lady Ann Road / Soothill Lane 
priority T-Junction has been identified as being sub-standard. Therefore, the 
applicant has agreed to provide an improvement scheme at this junction. A 
summary of the works that are proposed are as follows: 

 
 Build-outs on both sides of the junction, to improve the junction radii 

and increase junction visibility to 2.4x43m in both directions. 
 
 The build-out on the east side of the junction would formalise the on-

street parking that occurs, and prevent drivers from parking too close 
to the junction. This would be reinforced by localised ‘no waiting at any 
time’ restrictions on either side of the junction. 

 
 Pedestrian dropped crossings with tactile paving to be provided at the 

amended junction. 

Page 35



 
 The major road (Soothill Lane) carriageway would be narrowed to 6m 

(excluding the parking layby width), which is still sufficient to 
accommodate passing buses. The centreline and profile of the major 
road carriageway will be amended to accommodate the reduced 
running lane widths. 

 
10.53 The above highway improvements have been subject to a Stage 1 Road 

Safety Audit, which has not identified any issues that cannot be addressed at 
the detailed design stage. Therefore, it is concluded that the junction 
improvement is acceptable, and should be secured to the development via 
planning condition and implemented via a Section 278 agreement. However, 
it is noted that the Councils Major Projects team have been investigating wider 
highway improvement works along Soothill Lane, which could change the 
highway layout in the vicinity of the Lady Ann Road/ Soothill Lane junction in 
future. As such, whilst these works are not currently a committed scheme, it 
will be necessary to ensure that any planning condition that is imposed on the 
development to secure the applicants junction improvement scheme is written 
such a way as to allow for any change in circumstances associated with 
changes to the local highway network. 

 
10.54 Concluding on the traffic impact of the proposal, based on the junction 

modelling assessments that have been provided, it has been identified that 
development traffic can generally be accommodated on the local highway 
network without any significant capacity impacts while also securing safety 
improvements at the Lady Ann Road / Soothill Lane priority T-Junction.  

 
10.55 Progressing to the development’s proposed arrangements, the site’s access 

would be newly formed and be a bridge over Howley Beck connecting the site 
to Lady Ann Road. This would take the form of a priority-controlled T-junction. 
The access’ geometry has been designed to minimise impacts on existing 
parking on Lady Ann Road. Visibility splays are provided at the site access of 
2.4x43m in both directions, in accordance with standards. To protect these 
sightlines the existing fencing to Lady Ann Road would need to be set back 
and the footway widened. To allow the boundary fences to be set back, new 
highway retaining features will be required adjacent to Howley Beck. To 
ensure errant vehicle cannot enter the water course elements of the design 
will need to be designed as a vehicle restraint system. A Stage 1 Road Safety 
Audit has been undertaken for the proposed site access, which has not 
identified any issues that cannot be addressed at the detailed design stage. 
Therefore, it is concluded that the site access junction is acceptable in 
principle, with the final details of the site access junction, bridge crossing, and 
vehicle restraint features to be secured by condition. 

 
10.56 As the access would be a bridge that would connect onto a retained side of 

the highway, conditions are recommended requiring structural details, to 
demonstrate the new access structure would be built to an acceptable 
standard and would not prejudice the safety of the highway. 

 
10.57 Progressing to the internal road arrangements, the submitted road layout 

details and Stage 1 Road Safety Audit have been reviewed by K.C. Highways, 
who considered there to be no prohibitive reason preventing a scheme for 
adoption being brought forward at Section 38 stage. It is deemed to comply 
with the standards of the Highway Design Guide SPD. Full technical details of 
the new access road, to an adoptable standard, are to be sought via condition. 

Page 36



 
10.58 Swept path analysis has been provided which demonstrates acceptable 

turning arrangements for refuse vehicles through the site. Several shared 
private drives are proposed. Each of these would be served by a waste 
collection area, allowing for effective collection by refuse services. The 
provision of these waste collection areas may be secured by conditions. Given 
the scale of the development, which will likely be phased, a condition is to be 
imposed for a waste collection strategy during the construction phase. This is 
because refuse services will not access roads prior to adoption (or while 
construction work is continuing) therefore appropriate arrangements must be 
considered and implemented. 

 
10.59 Considering car parking, most dwellings would have a level of dedicated off-

road parking in accordance with the Highways Design Guide SPD, which is 
acceptable, however plots 57 – 63 would only have one space per unit 
(whereas two would typically be sought initially). This has been mitigated by 
providing an eight-visitor parking layby adjacent to these units, to 
accommodate any additional parking demand from these properties. 
Furthermore, this arrangement would replicate the parking situation typical in 
the wider area, as most of the housing stock are terrace units with no 
dedicated parking. For the avoidance of doubt, as a new development and 
new roads, there are no concerns of exacerbating any potential existing 
parking issues. In terms of visitor parking, the Highway Design Guide 
recommends one per four dwellings, or 16 for the proposal. The proposal 
exceeds this with 18 dedicated visitor bays along with opportunity for on-street 
visitor parking that does not affect vehicle turning also being apparent.  

 
10.60 Given the scale and nature of the development officers recommend a 

Construction Management Plan (CMP) be secured via condition. This is to 
ensure the development does not cause harm to local highway safety and 
efficiency. This would be required pre-commencement, given the need to 
ensure appropriate measures from the start of works. K.C. Highways DM have 
also advised that a ‘highway condition survey’ be undertaken, via condition. 
This would include a review of the state of the local highway network before 
development commences and a post completion review, with a scheme of 
remediation works to address any damage attributed to construction traffic. 
This request is considered reasonable, and a condition is recommended by 
planning officers. 

 
 Sustainable travel  
 
10.61 Policy LP20 of the Kirklees Local Plan states ‘The council will support 

development proposals that can be served by alternative modes of transport 
such as public transport, cycling and walking and in the case of new residential 
development is located close to local facilities or incorporates opportunities for 
day-to-day activities on site and will accept that variations in opportunity for 
this will vary between larger and smaller settlements in the area. 

 
10.62 As the site is allocated in the Local Plan for residential development, the 

potential accessibility of the site was assessed as part of the Local Plan 
adoption process. The site is within the urban environment, being within an 
acceptable walking distance of Batley centre (circa 360m direct, albeit 
requiring a route across the trainline) and within cycle distance of Dewsbury 
(2.4km). Each of these, and areas in between, offer various education, work, 
and amenity facilities. Lady Ann Road is a bus route, which is served by the 

Page 37



212-bus service that operates between Dewsbury and Wakefield at a 60-
minute frequency during the day Monday-Sunday (every 2hrs on Sundays). 
As confirmed by WYCA, the bus availability for the site is acceptable. 
Accordingly, the site’s location is deemed sustainable.  

 
10.63 As the development includes over 50 dwellings, a Travel Plan is required. 

Whilst the applicant has submitted a draft Travel Plan, it is currently 
unacceptable to HDM. Therefore, it has been agreed with the applicant that 
the final Travel Plan can be secured by planning condition. 

 
10.64 Representations have claimed that the site hosts various Public Right of Ways. 

There are no currently recorded Public Rights of Way on the Definitive Map 
through the site, nor are there any applications for a Definitive Map 
Modification Order (DMMO) to add to the Definitive Map. Therefore, there is 
no restriction regarding public rights on the site. Nonetheless, the 
development has been designed with connectivity in mind.  

 
10.65 The provision of the new active travel connections to PROW BAT/20/20 

through the site will also be of benefit to the wider public by improving local 
connectivity. As requested by the Councils PROW Team, the applicant has 
agreed to provide a 3m wide active travel link within the site, which will connect 
the end of the proposed estate road to the site boundary. This will then allow 
the PROW team to progress improvements beyond the site to complete the 
link to the adjacent public footpath BAT/20/20. The applicant has also agreed 
to provide a financial contribution of £10,000 via a Section 106 obligation to 
enable the Council to complete the off-site PROW improvements to PROW 
BAT/20/20 that are required to facilitate the link. A second path, alongside the 
waterfront, is also proposed. This is intended for pedestrian movements and 
details of its construction and implementation may also be secured via 
condition.  

 
10.66 West Yorkshire Metro advise that a contribution of £43,748 be secured 

towards sustainable travel incentives to encourage the use of sustainable 
modes of transport. This consists of £33,247.50 towards a fund to purchase a 
range of sustainable travel measures including discounted MetroCards 
(Residential MetroCard Scheme) and £10,500 towards the installation of a 
Real Time Information battery at a nearby bus stop (stop ID: 16161).  

 
10.67 Regarding other methods of travel, opportunities for cycle improvement in the 

area are limited. Nonetheless, the provision of cycle storage facilities per 
dwelling are recommended to be secured via condition. This is to promote 
alternative, low emission, methods of travel. Following the introduction of 
EVCP being mandatory for new dwellings under building regulations it is no 
longer considered reasonable or necessary to impose planning conditions for 
their delivery. 

 
10.68 The site is within a sustainable location. Furthermore, the proposal includes 

highway improvements that will promote walking towards local facilities as well 
as a contribution towards public bus infrastructure. Other conditions relating 
to cycle storage and EVCP are proposed. As such, the development is 
deemed to comply with the aims of policy LP20. 

  

Page 38



 
10.69 Overall, it is concluded that the proposal is acceptable regarding the matter of 

access and highway impact. Subject to relevant conditions it has been 
demonstrated that the proposed development can accommodate sustainable 
modes of transport and be accessed effectively and safely by all users and 
that any significant impacts from the development on the transport network 
can be viably and appropriately mitigated. It is concluded that the development 
would not result in a severe cumulative highway impact given the proposed 
mitigation. It would therefore comply with Policies LP20 and LP21 of the 
Kirklees Local Plan and guidance within the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Flood risk and drainage  

 
10.70 The NPPF sets out the responsibilities of Local Planning Authorities 

determining planning applications, including securing appropriate drainage, 
flood risk assessments taking climate change into account, and the application 
of the sequential approach. Policies LP27 and LP28 of the Local Plan detail 
considerations for flood risk and drainage respectively.  

 
10.71 The application is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment that includes a 

surface water drainage strategy which has been reviewed by K.C. Lead Local 
Flood Authority. Comments have also been received from Yorkshire Water and 
the Environment Agency. 

 
10.72 First considering flood risk, a Sequential Test is not required for this application 

on the grounds that the site was allocated for housing through the Local Plan 
process, for which a strategic flood risk assessment was undertaken 
(Technical Paper: Flood Risk – November 2016). This technical appraisal 
comprised a consideration of the site’s potential flood risk issues. Through this 
process, the developable area of HS74 was reduced to exclude all of flood 
zone 3 and the site box for the allocation stipulates that no residential 
development should take place in flood zone 3.  

 
10.73 Notwithstanding this, the proposal includes 11 dwellings and/or their gardens 

within flood zone 3 and 6 dwellings within flood zone 2 from Howley Beck, 
based on current Flood Zone data. However, it is the applicant’s intention to 
re-grade the land to remove these units from Flood Zone 3.  

 
10.74 Flood Zone 3, in so far as it relates to river flooding, are areas that are likely 

to flood with a 1% annual probability (a 1 in 100 chance each year). The 
applicant’s submission provides a comprehensive explanation of the 
circumstances at the site:  

 
The online Flood Map for Planning shows the extent of flooding 
associated with Howley Beck. It is evident from this map that overland 
flow progresses from the north and develops into two distinct streams 
when it crosses the northern boundary. The mainstream follows the 
course of Howley Beck, but a separate stream crosses the northern 
boundary further to the west and flows overland through the northern 
part of the site. This is caused by restricted capacity in the watercourse 
where it flows beneath the lane adjacent to the northern boundary of the 
site. Water levels upstream of the lane will rise when the flow rate 
exceeds the capacity under the bridge and there will be flooding which 
spills over into the lane and enters the site. Examination of the 

Page 39



topographical survey plan suggests that this occurs where the ground 
level is approximately 61.6m AOD. 
 
This western flow path is prevented from immediately returning to the 
main channel of Howley Beck by a raised earth bund parallel to the beck, 
but this peters out further south, allowing the overland flow to return to 
the beck. 
 
Removing the raised bund will restore the natural floodplain and will 
allow overland flow to follow its natural route to Howley Beck. It will also 
remove the obstacle to fluvial overspill at the north end of the site which 
currently prevents it from returning to the beck immediately downstream 
of the bridge at the northern boundary. The re-profiling of the site will 
create increased cross-sectional area, as shown in the cross sections in 
Appendix G and this will ensure there will be no adverse effect to Howley 
Beck or increase in flood risk elsewhere. 

 
Following development, all plots will effectively be in flood zone 1, insofar 
as the annual probability of fluvial flooding will be reduced to less than 
0.1%. 

 
10.75 In summary, the area of Flood Zone 3 that the proposed units would be sited 

in is caused by a (presumed artificial) raised bund that splits / redirects flood 
water from Howley Beck into part of site. Should this bund be removed and 
parts of the site re-graded, it has been demonstrated that the units would no 
longer be within Flood Zone 3 and would have a flood risk percentage 
comparable to Flood Zone 1 (a less than 0.1% annual probability of flooding). 
The loss of displaced floodplain volume is mitigated by reducing ground levels 
between the development and Howley Beck (i.e., a designed new place for 
the displaced water to go, thereby not increasing flood risk elsewhere). The 
applicant proposes a net gain in floodplain volume of circa 50m3, thereby 
reducing flood risk in the wider area.  

 
10.76 Considering this, the proposed works would result in no dwellings being within 

Flood Zone 3.  The applicant’s methodology to demonstrate this and their 
conclusion has been accepted by the Environment Agency and the LLFA. This 
is subject to conditions requiring the development be done in accordance with 
the strategy outlined in the submitted Flood Risk Assessment, specifically the 
regrading of the land and that certain plots have specific minimum finished 
floor levels.  

 
10.77 Progressing to surface water management (i.e., rainfall flooding), an indicative 

surface water drainage strategy has been submitted by the applicant. 
Infiltration has been identified as potentially viable, subject to further study of 
the site’s slope. Nonetheless a strategy for discharge into Howley Beck has 
also been considered and found to be acceptable. Via attenuation, this would 
discharge at an acceptable greenfield rate of 6.5l/s. Calculations have been 
provided to demonstrate adequate attenuation requirements, including climate 
change allowances. The LLFA accepts the details provided, however advise 
that a condition for full technical details of the drainage strategy be secured 
via condition. This is deemed reasonable. 

  

Page 40



 
10.78 On exceedance event flood routing, concerns raised by the LLFA have been 

discussed with the applicant. Via the latest plans, these concerns have been 
adequately addressed and demonstrate no prohibitive issues relating to flood 
water routing. Nonetheless, it is recommended that a condition be imposed 
requiring full updated details to be provided and implemented. 

 
10.79 The maintenance and management of the approved surface water drainage 

system (until formally adopted by the statutory undertaker) would need to be 
secured via a Section 106 agreement. This is to extend to the Howley Beck 
(within the bounds of the site) and a spring cross through the site, in 
accordance with LP29. 

 
10.80 Details of temporary surface water drainage arrangements, during 

construction, are proposed to be secured via a condition. 
 
10.81 Yorkshire Water’s final formal position is an objection to the proposal. This is 

because trees are indicated to be planted within 5m of a sewer. Officers are 
satisfied that this could be effectively controlled via the proposed full technical 
details on landscaping, such as not planting a tree within the exclusion zone 
of the sewer. Therefore, notwithstanding Yorkshire Water’s objection, officers 
are satisfied that the matter may be adequately addressed via condition. 

 
10.82 Considering the above, subject to the proposed conditions and securing 

management and maintenance arrangements via the Section 106 agreement, 
the proposal is considered by officers and the LLFA to comply with the aims 
and objectives of policies LP27, LP28 and LP29 of the Kirklees Local Plan.  

 
Ecology 

 
10.83 Policy LP30 of the KLP states that the Council would seek to protect and 

enhance the biodiversity of Kirklees. Development proposals are therefore 
required to result in no significant loss or harm to biodiversity and to provide 
net biodiversity gains where opportunities exist. The application is supported 
by an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA) which has been reviewed by K.C. 
Ecology. This document, which is informed by on-site surveys, considers the 
site’s value as habitat as well as the proposals direct and indirect impact on 
local species.  

 
10.84 Considering local species, the survey work undertaken identifies the trees 

within the centre of the site to have moderate bat roosting potential: 
nonetheless, these are to be retained and therefore there are no concerns 
regarding impacts upon local bat populations. The submitted water vole report 
provides sufficient detail to determine that the species is now absent within 
the site, along Howley Beck, despite being historically present. The survey 
utilised advanced survey techniques to determine the absence of this species 
at the site and K.C. Ecology accept the conclusions of the report. Ecological 
enhancement measures aimed at enhancements for water voles are 
recommended within the submitted report; these measures, to be outlined in 
an Ecological Design Strategy (EDS), may be secured via condition to ensure 
that habitat remains available should water vole one day re-colonise the area.  

  

Page 41



 
10.85 Regarding the site’s habitat value, the EcIA details that the proposed 

development will result in the loss of a significant area of low value habitat, 
this is generally accepted as the main habitat that is to be lost to facilitate the 
proposed development is species poor grassland. Invasive non-native species 
(Himalayan Balsam) were found on the site. Therefore, a condition for an 
invasive species management plan is recommended, to manage and avoid 
spreading invasive species within and outside the site. 

 
10.86 The proposal includes an indicative strategy for the improvement of the habitat 

on site. Nonetheless, by virtue of introducing built development over much of 
the site, the application’s Biodiversity Net Gain metric calculates that post-
development there will be an overall net loss of 6.11 habitat units at the site 
(35.0% net loss). Conversely, the proposal would deliver a net gain more than 
10% for hedgerow units (1.77 units or 214.3% net gain demonstrated) and 
river units (0.61 units or 24.4 net gain demonstrated).  

 
10.87 It is considered that all options to maximise the availability of habitat units 

within the site and the wider area have been exhausted. As such, off-setting 
will be required for the development to achieve a biodiversity net gain for 
habitat units. For the development to achieve 10% net gain 7.86 habitat units 
would need to be delivered. Therefore, a commuted sum of £180,780 would 
be required to be secured within the S106 in order for the development to 
achieve a 10% biodiversity net gain.  

 
10.88 Notwithstanding the identified off-site contribution, as noted the proposal 

would deliver some habitat, hedgerow and water units on site. A condition for 
an Ecological Design Strategy, to detail their delivery, is proposed along with 
their management and maintenance being secured within the Section 106 
agreement, for a minimum of 30 years. A condition for a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan: Biodiversity is also recommended, to 
ensure construction activity is managed in a considerate way. 

 
10.89 In summary the proposal would not unduly affect local habitats and, through 

contributions and on-site improvements, represent an ecological net gain. 
Furthermore, the proposal would have no significant impacts upon local 
species. Subject to the given conditions and securing the off-site ecological 
contribution, the proposal is considered to comply with the aims and objectives 
of LP30 of the Kirklees Local Plan. 
 
Viability and planning obligations 

 
10.90 Paragraph 56 of the NPPF confirms that planning obligations must only be 

sought where they meet all of the following: (i) necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms, (ii) directly related to the 
development and (iii) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development.  

 
10.91 In accordance with local policies and based on the submitted scheme, the 

proposed development would be expected to provide the following 
contributions: 

 
 Affordable Housing: 13 units (consisting of seven affordable rent, 

three first homes and three intermediate affordable units. Plot sizes 
as per the Affordable Housing and Housing Mix SPD).  

Page 42



 Education: £71,848. 
 Public Open Space (off-site): £62,058. 
 Net Gain (10%): £180,780. 
 Sustainable Travel (Bus Pass): £33,248. 
 Sustainable Travel (Bus stop improvement): £10,500. 
 Sustainable Travel (PROW Improvement): £10,000. 
 Travel Plan monitoring: £10,000. 

 
10.92 The total financial contribution, excluding affordable housing, amounts to 

£378,434. Section 106 obligations that would be required regardless of the 
financial contributions include the provision of the site’s on-site Public Open 
Space and management / maintenance arrangements for the drainage (prior 
to adoption), management for the watercourse through the site, open space, 
and ecological features. 

 
10.93 The applicant has provided a Viability Assessment seeking to demonstrate 

that the proposal would not be viable if a full suite of Section 106 financial 
planning obligations were imposed upon them. The Government’s planning 
practice guidance provides the following overview of the Viability Assessment 
process, for context:  

 
Viability assessment is a process of assessing whether a site is 
financially viable, by looking at whether the value generated by a 
development is more than the cost of developing it. This includes looking 
at the key elements of gross development value, costs, land value, 
landowner premium, and developer return.  

 
Any viability assessment should be supported by appropriate available 
evidence informed by engagement with developers, landowners, and 
infrastructure and affordable housing providers. Any viability 
assessment should follow the government’s recommended approach to 
assessing viability as set out in this National Planning Guidance and be 
proportionate, simple, transparent and publicly available. Improving 
transparency of data associated with viability assessment will, over time, 
improve the data available for future assessment as well as provide more 
accountability regarding how viability informs decision making. In plan 
making and decision-making viability helps to strike a balance between 
the aspirations of developers and landowners, in terms of returns against 
risk, and the aims of the planning system to secure maximum benefits in 
the public interest through the granting of planning permission.  

 
10.94 The applicant’s viability assessment has been reviewed by an independent 

viability assessor (Aspinall Verdi) appointed by the Council, to advise officers 
on this specialist subject. The key matters of dispute identified by the 
independent viability assessor are as follows:  

 
 Gross Development Value: Aspinall Verdi consider that the proposed 

units have been undervalued by the applicant. The applicant adopted 
a blended rate of £200psf however based on Aspinall Verdi’s evidence 
they consider the blended rate to be £215psf.   

 
 Build Costs - Aspinall Verdi consider the build costs to be appropriate 

except  for the cost of the ‘additional foundations’ which has reduced 
the overall cost by £189,555.70.  

Page 43



 
 Profit – The applicant is seeking a 20% profit. Aspinall Verdi suggest 

17.5% would be appropriate at this site. Notwithstanding this, it should 
be noted that the level of profit is a matter for the decision maker.  

 
 Benchmark Land Value (BLV)- Aspinall Verdi consider £475,000 to 

be an appropriate benchmark land value for this site given its 
topography, location and the abnormal costs associated with 
developing the site. The applicant’s viability assessment included the 
BLV of £650,000. 

 
10.95 Utilising the above variations in calculation to inform their conclusion, Aspinall 

Verdi accept that the scheme cannot provide a full policy compliant set of 
contributions. A reduction is therefore needed for the scheme to be viable.  

 
10.96 Based on their professional assumptions, Aspinall Verdi advise that the 

scheme can fund all non-housing financial contributions and provide five 
affordable units, with a mixture of affordable rent and intermediate. The 
applicant disputed the professional assumptions and conclusion of Aspinall 
Verdi and therefore have confirmed they were unable to agree to these terms.  

 
10.97 Notwithstanding Aspinall Verdi’s advice, the final decision on this matter rests 

with the decision maker (i.e., committee in this case, with officers 
recommending). Due regard must be given to the planning balance when 
reaching a conclusion on viability. The PPG comments: 

 
The weight to be given to a viability assessment is a matter for the 
decision maker, having regard to all the circumstances in the case, 
including whether the plan and viability evidence underpinning the plan 
is up to date, and site circumstances including any changes since the 
plan was brought into force, and the transparency of assumptions behind 
evidence submitted as part of the viability assessment. 

 
 
10.98 Officers have proposed that the five affordable units be changed to first 

homes. This would have a lesser financial burden on the applicant than 
standard affordable rent or intermediate. On balance, giving due regard to the 
acknowledged risks of the site, this is deemed an acceptable position to 
officers. This package would therefore be: 
 
 Affordable Housing: 5 first homes (3xB3T1 and 2x B3T2) 
 Education: £71,848. 
 Public Open Space (off-site): £62,058. 
 Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG): £180,780. 
 Sustainable Travel (Bus Pass): £33,248. 
 Sustainable Travel (Bus stop improvement): £10,500. 
 Sustainable Travel (PROW Improvement): £10,000. 
 Travel Plan monitoring: £10,000. 

 
10.99 Based on Aspinall Verdi’s calculations, which are disputed by the applicant, 

the above would result in the developer making a 19.53% profit. Planning 
Practice Guidance indicates that a profit level of 15-20% of gross development 
value is generally considered to be a suitable return to developers. There are 
several factors that determine what a reasonable level of profit might be, 

Page 44



including the availability of development finance, the state of the market and 
the consequent risk in proceeding with schemes, as well as development 
values and demand. Officers acknowledge the difficulties of developing this 
site include the topography and remedial works, the cost of which cannot be 
fully understood until invasive works commence, the watercourse and gaining 
access over it, works around protected trees, and that it is not within a strong 
market area. These factors must be considered when considering its viability 
and on balance officers consider the risks of the site warrant the identified 
profit level.  

 
10.100 Notwithstanding the proposed arrangements, it is acknowledged that this 

viability process has been based on costs and assumptions that are subject 
to change. To ensure that any windfalls (such as higher sales values, or lower 
construction costs) do not result in unexpected profits without reasonable 
contributions being secured, a review mechanism is proposed for an additional 
viability assessment partway into the build process of the development. This 
is to ensure contributions may be secured on any windfall profits. 

 
10.101 The applicant has agreed to this principle although the wording and detailed 

terms would go into the S106 agreement to be worked up.  
 
 Other Matters 
 

Air quality  
 
10.102  The development is not in a location, nor of a large enough scale, to require 

an Air Quality Impact Assessment.  
 
10.103  The provision of cycle storage facilities per dwelling are recommended to be 

secured via condition. This is to promote alternative, low emission, methods 
of travel. Following the introduction of EVCP being mandatory (for new 
dwellings) under building regulations, it is no longer considered reasonable or 
necessary to impose planning conditions for their delivery.  

 
10.104  Considering the above, the proposal is considered to comply with LP51 of the 

Local Plan. 
 

Archaeology 
 
10.105 The site lies in an area dominated by 19th century industrial remains including 

mills, workers’ housing, railways, and collieries. It also faces south-east with 
Howley Beck passing along its eastern boundary, features which would have 
made the site an attractive location for early communities to settle. 
Furthermore, there are known records of archaeological importance to the 
northeast of the site. Therefore, the proposed development could affect 
archaeological remains from the Prehistoric period to the English Civil War. 
This concern not being adequately addressed led to it being a reason for 
refusal on previous application 2017/91851.  

  

Page 45



 
10.106 Since that application, the applicant has worked with West Yorkshire 

Archaeology Advisory Service (WYAAS) and undertaken appropriate 
investigations. The investigations concluded that the site has a low potential 
for archaeological remains, which is accepted by WYAAS. Nonetheless, 
WYAAS have requested that a condition for further investigations and 
archaeological recording be undertaken, to ensure this issue is adequately 
addressed, should permission be granted. In accordance with policy LP35 of 
the Kirklees Local Plan, officers consider such a request to be acceptable.  

 
Contamination  

 
10.107 The application is supported by a phase 1 and phase 2 Geoenvironmental 

Risk Assessment. The reports identified some sources of contamination which 
require remediation, although nothing prohibitive to development. K.C. 
Environmental Health support the methodology and findings of the report. 
Subject to conditions for a remediation strategy and validation, officers are 
satisfied that the proposal complies with policy LP53 of the KLP.  

 
Crime Mitigation  

 
10.108  The Designing Out Crime Officer has made a number of comments and 

recommendations, particularly with regards to home security, rear access 
security and boundary treatments. All the comments made are advisory and 
have been referred to the applicant. It is therefore considered that the site can 
be satisfactorily developed whilst minimising the risk of crime through 
enhanced security and well-designed security features in accordance with 
Local Plan policy LP24(e).  

 
Minerals   

 
10.109 Mineral resources are finite, and their extraction can only take place where the 

minerals naturally occur. The application site falls within an area designed as 
a Mineral Safeguarded Area (Sandstone and/or Clay and Shale, with a small 
area of Sand and Gravel with Sandstone and SCR) in the Local Plan. This 
allocation indicates that there is the potential for these mineral resources to 
be underlying the site. Policy LP38 seeks to ensure the appropriate 
management of minerals and consider whether they may be extracted during 
development.  

 
10.110 The applicant has made no commentary or assessment on this subject. 

However, officers note that policy LP38’s requirement does not apply on site’s 
‘there is an overriding need for the development’. As a housing allocation, this 
is the case for the site. Furthermore, it is not considered practical for this site 
to include mineral extraction, given the proximity of residential properties (with 
the site’s narrow shape and steepness limiting the feasibility of appropriate 
separation distances and bunds) and concerns over access of HGVs to 
transport said material. Accordingly, it is considered that the proposal complies 
with the aims and objectives of policy LP38 regarding mineral safeguarding 
issues. 

  

Page 46



 
Representations 

 
10.111 A total of 120 representations, plus three petitions, have been received in 

response to the application. Most matters raised have been addressed 
elsewhere within this report. The following are matters not previously directly 
addressed. 

 
General / other matters 
 
 Question why the applicant has been permitted to amend their 

proposal so many times over a long period.  

 The development of the site has been refused several times. There is 
no real change in this application compared to previous refusals.  

 The various applications and submissions have affected the mental 
health of residents. The site should be removed as a housing 
allocation.  

 
Response: Material amendments and further details were made between 
submissions. Therefore, officers had no ground to not accept the application. 
While it is accepted that the application has been under consideration for 
some time and undertaken various amendments, in each case the 
amendments made meaningful process is addressing the concerns of officers 
and consultees. This progress, while not resulting in all concerns being 
resolved until recently, allowed negotiations to continue.  
 
Officers sympathise with the residents and the impacts upon them; however, 
the LPA must undertake its statutory duties in assessing this and all other 
planning applications.  
 

 The proposal will harm local house values.  
 
Response: This is not a material planning consideration.  
 

 The proposal will harm local public services, such as GPs, dentists, 
and schools.  

 
Response: There is no Policy or supplementary planning guidance requiring 
a proposed development to contribute to local health services. However, 
Kirklees Local Plan Policy LP49 identifies that Educational and Health impacts 
are an important consideration and that the impact on health services is a 
material consideration. As part of the Local Plan Evidence base, a study into 
infrastructure has been undertaken (Kirklees Local Plan, Infrastructure 
Delivery Plan 2015). It acknowledges that funding for GP provision is based 
on the number of patients registered at a particular practice and is also 
weighted based on levels of deprivation and aging population. Therefore, 
whether additional funding would be provided for health care is based on any 
increase in registrations at a practice. Regarding schools, an education 
financial contribution has been secured. 

  

Page 47



 

 The site should be removed from the Local Plan. The area is 
overcrowded which is causing litter, abusive behaviour, and tensions.  

 
Response: It is outside the remit of this application to remove the site from 
the Local Plan. The Local Plan went through a rigorous process to identify 
applications, including several rounds of consultation on the allocations and 
finally an inquiry from the Planning Inspectorate. This concluded that the site 
was an acceptable allocation. It is likewise outside the remit of this application 
to address litter and anti-social behaviour.  
 

 Advertisement of the application has taken place over Christmas 
twice. This puts undue stress on residents during the festive period.  

 Site notices have not been erected for the last period of publicity, with 
residents questioning why.  

 
Response: It is by coincidence that the application was ready for re-
advertisement around the festive period several times. Officers had no 
reasonable grounds to delay publicity, however additional time was given 
during the public representation periods due to bank holidays. Site notices are 
only erected during the first period of publicity, alongside neighbour letters (to 
address adjacent to the site) and a notice in the paper. Subsequent publicity 
periods are advertised via letters to neighbouring properties and to address 
that have expressed an interest previously. This is in accordance with the 
council’s Development Management charter.  
 

 The site is not managed and is left to ‘fend for itself’. If it was, it could 
be of more value to local residents.   

 
Response: Officers may only consider the development before them and not 
hypotheticals.  
 

 Circa 20 years ago City Challenge designated Batley as an area in 
need of improvement and funded the planting of trees on lady Ann 
Road to improve the quality of life for residents. The development will 
counter any benefit of the previous project.  

 The council is committed to planting more trees and enhancing 
ecology yet is allowing the developer to destroy a site with trees and 
ecological value.  

 Development is bad for the planet, removing natural areas that 
provide cooling for the planet.  

 
Response: The proposals landscaping and impact on trees is considered 
within paragraph 10.26 – 10.27. officers, K.C. Landscape and K.C. Trees raise 
no concern. The valuable trees that are protected by a TPO are to be retained. 
The trees to be removed are of limited public amenity. The proposed re-
planting would mitigate the impact of their lost.  

  

Page 48



 

 Brownfield sites or vacant properties should be prioritised over 
developing greenfield land.  

 
Response: Local and national planning policies does not prioritise brownfield 
over greenfield, or vice versa. 
 

 Concerns that the development’s engineering works will undermine 
ground stability and foundations of nearby dwellings on Primrose Hill. 
Some of these units already suffer from subsidence.  

 
Response: The land is not so steep, nor any evidence to support this position 
provided, as to raise this as a material consider as part of a planning 
application.  
 

 The pedestrian tunnel from the bottom of Primrose Hill to the mill 
complex is dirty, wet and unsafe.  

 
Response: This matter is considered beyond the remit of this application to 
resolve and is not material.  
 

 The site is subject to fly tipping, and this will be exacerbated by more 
residents.  

 
Response: This is an anecdotal statement and speculation which does not 
form a material consideration of this application. 
 
Urban Design 
 
 The proposal appears to be overdevelopment, with large units 

cramped together.  

 Most of the surrounding areas of greenbelt and farmland have now 
been bought and built upon. The character of the area is being eroded 
and towns are merging into each other. 

 The existing area is low density and semi-rural, with areas of 
greenery. The proposal is contrary to these characteristics.  

 Nearby dwellings are Edwardian and/or Victorian in style. Those 
proposed would not reflect this and will appear unattractive in the 
area.  

 
Response: Officers are of the view that the proposed development is visually 
appropriate and would not harm the wider character of the area, as set out in 
paragraphs 10.14 – 10.30.  

 

 The development represents urban sprawl that leads to increased 
energy use, pollution, traffic, and community cohesiveness. 

 
Response: The development is within the urban envelope, with development 
to three sides, and will not encroach into the current open rural environment. 
Therefore, officers dispute it represents urban sprawl. 

 

Page 49



 Three storey development is not appropriate within this area. 
 
Response: Following amendments no true three storey dwellings are 
proposed (i.e., having three distinct storeys when viewed externally). While 
some units will have three floors, by virtue of being split level, having 
asymmetrical roofs and/or dormers, the dwellings would only present two 
storey elevations.  
 
Amenity  
 
 The proposal will harm the outlook of local residents.  

 The proposed development will cause overbearing, overlooking, and 
overshadowing on local residents on both Lady Ann Road and 
Primrose Hill.  

 The development will cause overshadowing upon the rear of dwellings 
on Primrose Hill. This is their only sunlight, as the front elevations face 
the banking for the railway.  

 
Response: The impact on neighbouring residents is considered within 
paragraphs 10.31 – 10.38. Specific to overshadowing, the separation 
distances meet or exceed the minimums set out in the Housebuilders Design 
Guide SPD while also being at a lower level, negating this concern for officers.  

 

 The development will cause noise pollution from residents’ vehicle 
movements, use of their property, and the use of the play area.  

 The development will cause light pollution into nearby residents’ 
houses.  

 
Response: Residential development adjacent to each other is acceptable and 
causes no planning concerns in terms of lighting and noise. Any atypical / 
abnormal noise or lighting from future residents would be a matter for either 
the police or K.C. Environmental Health.   

 

 The proposal will increase crime within the area. Currently dwellings 
on Primrose Hill are protected by a natural barrier into the site which 
would be removed, and development placed adjacent to it.   

 
Response: Concerns regarding crime increasing is speculation. The current 
natural barrier will be replaced by a formal fenced barrier which is deemed 
acceptable.  

 

 The site is tranquil and an ‘oasis on nature’. Its loss will affect the 
quality of life of all residents nearby. It is also used by children to play, 
walkers and has health benefits.  

 
Response: While this is noted, the site is private land with no formal 
designation as open space. Conversely, it is housing allocation.  

  

Page 50



 
Ecology  
 
 The site is a wildlife sanctuary and home to various species including 

water voles, bats, newts, and owls. Some of these are protected 
species. The site is a water meadow and water voles are particularly 
rare and only known in two places in Kirklees. 

 Anecdotal commentary that water voles are present on the site. 
Furthermore, survey work undertaken in the past did find evidence of 
their presence. However, the latest survey says there are none; this 
is spurious.  

 The beck will be disturbed to enable the bridge to be build, harming 
local species.   

 The site is also home to several wild planet species in recent years.  
 

Response: The ecological impacts of the development are considered within 
paragraphs 10.83 – 10.89 and found to be acceptable. The survey work 
undertaken has been comprehensive in concluding no water voles are present 
and in identifying the fauna on site.  

 

 The applicant’s ecological report was commission by them and is 
therefore biased / unreliable.  

 
Response: It is standard practise for an application to submit supporting 
information, commissioned by themselves, to support their application. This is 
however reviewed by the Council’s own professionals to confirm it is 
acceptable. In this case concerns were raised by K.C. Ecology which led to 
further details being requested and provided.  

 

 Concerns that the open spaces and habitats post development will be 
left unmanaged after the developer quits the site.  

 
Response: A condition for a landscape management plan would be secured 
if minded to approve as well as the S106 including a clause for a management 
company.  

 

 The development will cause pollution into Howley Beck.  
 

Response: This matter will be addressed via the Construction Environmental 
Management Plan and/or the Temporary Surface Water Drainage Strategy, 
each to be secured via condition.  

 

 The development is contradictory to the government’s pledge that ‘We 
will halt the decline in our biodiversity so we can achieve thriving 
plants and wildlife.’ 

 
Response: The proposed development has been assessed against local and 
national planning policy and found to be acceptable. A 10% net gain in habitat 
has been secured (partly on site and via financial contribution).  

  

Page 51



 
Drainage and Flooding 

 

 The children’s play area will be within the flood zone, putting them at 
risk. 

 
Response: The play area is adjacent to the edge of Flood Zone 3, not within 
it.  Regardless, this would not be an immediate cause for concern, as flooding 
would occur over a prolonged period of rainfall and not be an immediate tide 
of water, limiting potential for harm.  

 

 The development will require culverting of the beck and force water 
downstream to Bradford, causing flooding issues there.  

 Developing the site will result in water entering Howley Beck at a faster 
rate. The beck flows into a culvert which will be overwhelmed and lead 
to more flooding.  

 
Response: The flow of the beck under the access bridge is not expected to 
be materially affected. A surface water drainage strategy is proposed that will 
limit discharge into Howley Beck to greenfield run-off rates.  

 

 The new dwellings will not be mortgageable and uninsurable due to 
being in a flood zone.  

 
Response: This is outside the remit of this application and does not form a 
material planning consideration which can be assessed as part of this 
application.  

 

 The land is graded as 3 / 4 by the Council in regard to flooding.  
 

Response: The Flood Zones are numbered 1, 2 and 3. It is unclear what 3 / 
4 refers to in this case. The matter of part of the site being within Flood Zone 
3 is addressed within paragraphs 10.73 – 10.77.   
 
Highways 
 
 Concerns over how construction traffic will access the site, particularly 

in the first instance given the need to bridge the river.  
 

Response: Ultimately the site must be accessed must be accessed and this 
cannot be a fundamental issue. A Construction Environmental Management 
Plan is recommended to ensure sufficient consideration and precaution is 
given to site access.  

 

 The traffic survey undertaken was inadequate, undertaken outside of 
rush hour and during wet weather.  

 Traffic surveys undertaken during COVID should not be accepted.  
 

Response: The methodology of the traffic surveys has been reviewed and 
accepted by K.C. Highways, giving due regard to best practise.  

 

Page 52



 Concerns over potential impacts upon PROW Bat 20/20 to the north 
of the site.  

 
Response: The PROW is to be retained and connected to as part of the 
proposal.  
 

10.112 Officers consider that the points raised by members outlined in paragraph 7.6, 
with the following exception that each member raised:   

 
 The area flood frequently, harming local residents and will harm future 

resident s too. The development includes work in Flood Zone 3 and 
will exacerbate existing flooding if land levels are changed.  

Response: It is beyond the remit of this application to resolve existing issues 
outside of the site’s boundary. What must be considered is whether the 
development itself is safe and that any works will not exacerbate existing 
flooding issues / potential. As detailed within paragraphs 10.72 – 10.80 these 
matters have been considered and found to be acceptable. Conversely, 
additional flood storage will be delivered on site that will reduce flood risk 
elsewhere.  

 
11.0 CONCLUSION 

 

11.1  The NPPF has introduced a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The policies set out in the NPPF taken as a whole constitute the 
Government’s view of what sustainable development means in practice. 

 
11.2  The proposal seeks the residential development of a housing allocation. While 

the density is below the typical target of 35 dwellings per ha, due to the site’s 
constraints the proposed density is deemed reasonable, given the constraints 
on the site. Likewise, the housing mixture is deemed appropriate. Therefore, 
the principle of development is deemed appropriate.  

 
11.3  Site constraints including topography, a watercourse, trees and ecology, and 

various other material planning considerations. Nonetheless, the proposed 
development adequately addresses each. Across the various applications and 
amendments, the design and appearance of the site has evolved to an 
acceptable position that would be attractive and harmonise well with the 
character of the area. There would be no undue harm to the amenity of 
neighbouring residents or future occupiers. The proposed access and highway 
impacts have been assessed to be acceptable. Other planning issues, such 
as drainage, ecology, and protected trees, have been addressed through the 
proposal.  

 
11.4  Viability issues have been demonstrated to prevent a fully policy compliant 

suite of Section 106 financial obligations, however a reduced contribution has 
been negotiated and agreed with the application which would assist in 
mitigating local impacts of the proposal and officers consider this package of 
S106 obligations is justified for this scheme and site. 

 
11.5  This application has been assessed against relevant policies in the 

development plan and other material considerations. It is considered that the 
development would constitute sustainable development and is therefore 
recommended for approval, subject to conditions and planning obligations to 
be secured via a Section 106 agreement. 

Page 53



 
12.0  CONDITIONS (Summary list. Full wording of conditions including any 

amendments/additions to be delegated to the Head of Planning and 
Development) 

 
1. Three years to commence development.  
2. Development to be carried out in accordance with the approved plans 

and specifications  
3. Walling and roofing material samples to be submitted and approved. 

To include plots 01 to 08 and 57 to 63 being faced in natural stone. 
Render colour to be matching to elevation.  

4. Development to be done in accordance with level strategy.  
5. Details of proposed retaining wall materials to be provided.  
6. Detailed landscaping strategy to be provided and implemented, with 

management and maintenance details to be approved.  
7. Full details of boundary treatments to be submitted and approved.  
8. Arboricultural Method Statement to be submitted and approved. No 

unidentified tree-works to take place unless further Arboricultural 
Impact / Method Statement provided.  

9. Plot 36’s side facing windows to be obscured.  
10. Remove PD rights for outbuildings and extensions (all units)  
11. Updated noise report to be undertaken and necessary mitigation 

implemented. 
12. Submission of Construction Environmental Management Plan (CMP) 

to be submitted, approved, and adhered to.  
13. Detailed plan for the equipment and design of the Local Equipped 

Area of Play (LEAP) to be submitted, approved, and implemented.  
14. Access sightlines to be implemented and secured. 
15. Technical design strategy for Lady Ann Road / Soothill Lane 

improvements and implementation (with flexibility if wider 
improvement scheme implemented).  

16. Full technical details of the internal road, access, and paths through 
POS areas, to adoptable standard to be provided, approved, and 
implemented.  

17. Full technical details of new retaining walls to be provided, approved, 
and implemented.  

18. Bin stores to be provided.  
19. Highway condition survey to be undertaken. 
20. Travel Plan to be provided and implemented.  
21. Details of cycle storage per plot to be provided, approved, and 

implemented.  
22. Construction phase waste collection strategy to be submitted, 

approved, and adhered to.  
23. Contaminated land investigations to be undertaken and remediation / 

validation undertaken as required.  
24. Development to be undertaken in accordance with flood routing 

strategy. 
25. Development to be undertaken in accordance with Flood Risk 

Assessment, including regrading works and Finished Floor Levels. 
26. Full technical details of the drainage strategy to be provided, 

approved, and implemented.  
27. Details of temporary surface water drainage arrangements, during 

construction, to be provided and adhered to.  

Page 54



28. Ecological Design Strategy to achieve 11.34 habitat units and 10% 
gain of hedgerow and river unitson site plus ecological mitigation 
measures  

29. CEMP: Biodiversity to be submitted, approved, and implemented.  
30. Lighting strategy (amenity, ecology, and crime mitigation)  
31. No site clearance within the bird breeding season (unless appropriate 

survey undertaken). 
 
Notes 
 

 Safety details for railway level crossings.  
 
Background Papers 
 
Application and history files 
 
Available at: https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-
planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2021%2f94280  
 
Planning application details | Kirklees Council 
 
Certificate of Ownership  
 
Certificate B signed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55

https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2021%2f94280
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2021%2f94280
https://www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-applications/search-for-planning-applications/detail.aspx?id=2021%2f94280


This page is intentionally left blank



1 

REPORT TITLE: Applications for Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs) to (1) 
upgrade the recorded status of FPs MEL/70 and MEL/38 to bridleway and (2) vary the 
particulars of FP MEL/70 to record limitations of a locked gate and squeeze stile  

Name of meeting Strategic Planning Committee 

Date of meeting 22 February 2024 

Key Decision 
Eligible for Call In 

Not applicable 
No 

Purpose of Report 

Members are asked to consider the evidence and determine two applications for 
Definitive Map Modification Orders under section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981.  

 Application 1 is to upgrade the recorded status of paths Meltham 70 and Meltham 38 
(part), between Wilshaw Road, Wilshaw and Wood Nook Lane at Wood Nook, from 
footpath to bridleway.  

 Application 2 is for an Order to vary the particulars contained in the Statement for part 
of footpath Meltham 70 to record as limitations a squeeze stile 45cm wide next to a 
locked gate.  

Members are asked to make decisions on making an Order in respect of one or both  
of these applications and seeking confirmation of any Order made. 

Officer recommendations and reasons 

Officers recommend that members choose the options described at paragraphs 2.34 and 
2.36. The Council should make a Definitive Map Modification Order under s53(2) of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to upgrade the recorded status of Meltham 70 (A-B on the 
plan at item 1 in Appendix B to the report) and part of Meltham 38 (B to C on the plan) from 
footpath to bridleway and add to the Definitive Map a public bridleway between the currently 
recorded termination point of Meltham 38 and Wood Nook Lane (C and D on the plan). The 
application to record limitations on Meltham 70 should be refused. An Order should not vary 
the particulars recorded in the Map and Statement to record a limitation of any structures at 
point A1 on Meltham 70 (as had been requested in Application 2), nor elsewhere on the 
route that is the main subject of this report. 

Officers also recommend that, should an Order to upgrade to / add a bridleway be made 
and opposed, and the matter referred to the Secretary of State, the Council should actively 
support the confirmation of the Order at any public inquiry or hearing.

Page 57

Agenda Item 10



2 

Reasons

 In light of the requirements described in paragraphs 2.23 to 2.32 in this report and in 
accordance with the conclusions in the ‘Discussion of Evidence’ appended at item 1 
in Appendix A to this report, it considered that there is sufficient evidence to show 
that a public bridleway actually subsists over the whole route from point A at Wilshaw 
Road to Wood Nook Lane at point D, via Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38.  A 
Definitive Map Modification Order must be made. 

 Further, that there is insufficient evidence  show that a public right of way over 
Meltham 70 is subject to any limitations or conditions, including a locked gate and  
adjacent squeeze stile point A1 as per Application 2, or the limitations of any other 
structures. It has not been shown that such structures existed on the route at or prior 
to the ‘relevant date’ of the first definitive map and statement (1952) on which the way 
was recorded as a public footpath. Nor does the evidence show that any such 
structures have been subsequently authorised by the highway authority under any 
powers. Evidence also suggests that such structures were not in place throughout the 
20-year period to be considered in connection with the application to upgrade to 
bridleway. 

Resource Implications:  The Council has a statutory duty under s53 Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 to keep the Definitive Map and Statement of Public Rights of way 
under continuous review, investigate and determine any applications for Orders to modify 
the Definitive Map and Statement, and make any Orders that appear to it requisite  in 
consequence of the discovery of evidence that the DMS requires modification. Therefore, 
any resource implications, financial or otherwise, associated with this the carrying out of this 
statutory duty cannot be taken into consideration when making a decision.  

Date signed off by Strategic Director  

Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Finance? 

Is it also signed off by the Service Director for 
Legal Governance and Commissioning? 

Graham West on behalf of David 
Shepherd 13/02/2024

James Anderson on behalf of Isabel 
Brittain 12/02/2024 

 Julie Muscroft  13/02/2024 

Electoral wards affected: Holme Valley North 

Ward councillors consulted:  Cllrs Bellamy, Greaves and McGrath 

Public or private: Public 

Has GDPR been considered?  

Yes. Evidence considered contains various personal data, included within witness evidence and 

other documents. Personal data has been redacted in documents contained within appendices 

to this report.

Page 58



3 

Executive Summary 

1.1 The Council has a statutory duty under s53 Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to 

maintain a legal record of public rights of way - the Definitive Map and Statement of 

Public Rights of Way. 

1.2 Anyone may make an application, supported by evidence, for an order to modify the 

Definitive Map and Statement. The Council must investigate and determine any 

applications and by order make such modifications to the map and statement as 

appear to them to be requisite.

1.3 In 2016 an application was received for an Order to upgrade the recorded status of 

footpath Meltham 70 and part of footpath Meltham 38 to bridleway. (Application 1).  

The route runs between Wilshaw Road at Wilshaw, and Wood Nook Lane at Wood 

Nook.  

1.4 Application 1 was supported by documentary evidence and evidence of equestrian 

and other use which may support a presumption of dedication of a public bridleway 

under section 31 Highway Act 1980 (following use by the public, ‘as of right' for a full 

period of 20 years) or dedication of additional public rights under common law. The 

application was preceded by horse riders being challenged by a landowner near Wood 

Nook House in August 2015. The making of the application was followed by the 

installation and locking of a gate on Meltham 70 early in 2016. 

1.5 In 2019 a separate (application 2) was made by one of the landowners to vary the 

recorded particulars for path Meltham 70 in the Definitive Map and Statement to record 

as a limitation a locked gate alongside a 45cm wide squeeze stile at the location of the 

recently installed gate. Currently no limitation such as gates or stiles are recorded in 

the Statement. It is claimed that these structures already existed at the time a PROW 

was dedicated or before the 'relevant date' of the first Definitive Map (22 September 

1952) and that dedication of a PROW was subject to existence of those structures. 

1.6 The Council has considered the evidence submitted with both applications, along with 

other evidence available to it and discovered in the course of the investigation.  

1.7  It is considered that there is ample evidence of use by equestrians, 'as of right' - i.e. 

without force, secrecy or permission, during the 20-year period 1995 to 2015 to raise a 

presumption of dedication of a public bridleway over the route from Wilshaw Road to 

Wood Nook Lane and no clear evidence that in that period any landowner 

Page 59



4 

demonstrated a lack of intention to dedicate a public bridleway. There is also ample 

evidence of pedestrian use, including of the part of the route claimed that is not 

currently shown on the Definitive Map, and of a greater width than the currently 

recorded width of footpaths Meltham 70 and 38. There is also evidence of public use, 

‘as of right’, over a longer period, from which dedication under common law may be 

inferred. It is considered that the evidence shows that a public bridleway actually 

subsists on balance of probabilities, along the whole route  between Wilshaw Road 

and Wood Nook Lane. 

1.8 There is evidence to show the physical existence of gates and other structures in 

place on Meltham 70 at various times since the 1950s, including limited evidence of a 

gate having been locked in the past. However, the evidence is not sufficient to show 

that any limitations existed when the public right of way was first recorded. Further,  

the user evidence indicates the absence of a locked gate during the 20 year period to 

be considered under s31 Highways Act 1980. 

1.9 It is considered that an Order should be made to upgrade the recorded status of 

Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38 from footpath to bridleway and add a bridleway 

connecting Meltham 38 to Wood Nook Wood Lane. The Council should also support 

the confirmation an Order. Any Order made should not vary the recorded particulars of 

Meltham 70 to include any limitations.

2. Information required to take a decision 

Background  

2.1 In January 2016 the Council received an application made on behalf of Kirklees 

Bridleways Group and the British Horse Society for a Definitive Map Modification Order 

(DMMO) to modify the Definitive Map and Statement of public rights of way (‘the DMS’) 

by upgrading the recorded status of  path Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38 from 

footpath to bridleway (‘the application to upgrade’ or ‘Application 1’).The route to which 

the application relates runs from Wilshaw Road at Wilshaw (point A as shown on the 

plan at item 1 in appendix B) to Wood Nook Lane at Wood Nook (point D). The 

application was supported by completed ‘user evidence forms’, mainly describing 

equestrian use over an extended period, and by documentary evidence. Additional user 

and documentary evidence was subsequently received. The evidence may support a 

presumption of dedication of a public bridleway under section 31 Highway Act 1980 

(following 20 years use), or that there has been dedication of a bridleway at common 

Page 60



5 

law. The making of Application 1 was prompted by a resident at Wood Nook House on 

Wood Nook Lane challenging various equestrians in August 2015. Application 1 is 

included at item 1 in Appendix C. 

2.2 Following the making of the DMMO application to upgrade the recorded status, the 

owners of land crossed by path Meltham 70 erected and locked a gate on Meltham 70 

at point A1. This prevented further equestrian use of the way. In 2019 an application 

was received for a DMMO to vary the recorded particulars of footpath Meltham 70 to 

record as limitations “the restriction close to point A of a squeeze stile 45cm wide next 

to a locked gate”. (The ‘application to vary particulars’ or ‘Application 2’). Point A is at / 

near the junction of Meltham 70 with Wilshaw Road and the position of the claimed 

limitations is shown as point A1 on the plan at item1 in Appendix B. Application 2, 

supported by various documentary evidence, was submitted following the 

commencement of enforcement action in respect of unauthorised structures obstructing 

the public right of way. Solicitors acting for a limited company 1 (‘the Company’) in 

connection with that action had earlier also submitted evidence about structures and 

made further assertions that align with Application 2. 

2.3 As the matter of the status of paths Meltham 70 and 38, and the recording of limitations 

on Meltham 70, are closely connected, this report considers both applications. The 

applications, accompanying plans and cover letter for both applications are included in 

Appendix C (Application 1) and Appendix D (Application 2). The two applications both 

make reference to points A and B, but for the upgrade application ‘point B’ is the 

junction of the route with Wood Nook Lane, whereas in the application to vary 

particulars point B is the junction of footpath Meltham 70 with Meltham 38. For the 

purpose of this report into both applications, point B is identified as the junction of 

Meltham 70 and 38 and the junction of the route with Wood Nook Lane is point D. 

During the investigation of the applications officers have identified various intermediate 

points of significance. These points are shown by letters and numbers on the plan of 

the route at item 1 in appendix B. 

2.4 Extracts from the Definitive Map and Statement are at item 5 and 6 in appendix B. 

Currently the Statement accompanying the Definitive Map does not record any 

limitations on footpath Meltham 70.This is without prejudice to the existence of any 

other limitations which are not currently recorded. 

1 The registered address of the limited company is Wood Nook House. 

Page 61



6 

Duty to investigate the evidence and determine the applications  

2.5 The Council has a duty to consider the evidence submitted with an application and 

determine an application as soon a reasonably practicable after receipt of a certificate  

confirming notice of the making of an application has been  correctly served on all 

owners and occupiers of land. It also has a standalone duty to keep the DMS under 

continuous review and may make any Order as appears to it to be requisite following 

the discovery of evidence that the Map or Statement require modification. Officers have 

taken into consideration a range of additional evidence available to it in addition to that 

submitted with the applications. The evidence is described in detail in the ‘Discussion of 

Evidence’ at item 1 in appendix A.  

2.6 The Council, at the request of Applicant 1, was directed by the Secretary of State to 

determine application 1 by 30 June 2018. Officers regret that it has not been possible 

to do so. No direction has been made in respect of Application 2. Due to a there being 

a considerable backlog of applications awaiting investigation and Application 2 being 

considered a low priority for investigation / determination, there would normally be a  

significant delay before that application would be considered. However, it is appropriate 

in this case to also consider and determine Application 2 at the same time as 

Application 1. Enforcement action regarding unauthorised structures has been delayed 

as a result of the making of Application 2. 

Descriptions of routes and current depiction in the Definitive Map and Statement

2.7 The principal route that is the subject of this report (Route 1) is shown in the set of 

photographs at item 2 in appendix B. Briefly, footpath Meltham 70 commences at 

Wilshaw Road, Wilshaw at point A and follows an enclosed in track in a generally 

northerly direction for approximately 1km to its junction with footpath Meltham 38 at 

point B, near the ruins of a house known as Lower Cote (previously known as Cote), 

passing on the way, at point A3, the junction with a track towards Manor Farm / Manor 

House at Lower Greave, and crossing a watercourse known as Bank Dike (the former 

Netherthong / Honley township boundary) at point A9. From point B Meltham 38 follows 

an enclosed track in a generally north easterly then south easterly direction to point C 

near Wood Nook House. The route under investigation then continues through a 

lawned garden area and along a driveway adjacent to Wood Nook to its junction with 

Wood Nook Lane at point D.  

Page 62



7 

2.8 During the course of investigation, it was identified that footpath Meltham 38 is only 

shown on the Definitive Map as far as point C, although the accompanying Statement 

describes the termination point as Wood Nook Lane (i.e. point D) and there is a public 

footpath signpost on Wood Nook Lane near point D. Application 1 has thus been 

interpreted as an application to upgrade to bridleway footpath Meltham 38 from A-C 

and add a bridleway over C-D. If a DMMO is made it would be phrased in that way.  

2.9 Although not subject to a formal application for a DMMO some evidence has been 

provided that relates to claimed equestrian use of other routes leading off Meltham 70 

and passing near Manor Farm and Manor House at the hamlet of Lower Greave. 

These routes  connect with FP Meltham 63 (Lower Greave Road) which runs in a 

generally southerly direction to Wilshaw Road. These routes are referred to in the 

detailed ‘Discussion of Evidence’ as Routes 2 and 3 and are shown in photographs at 

item 3 in appendix B. Officers have considered the available evidence and consider it 

insufficient for the Definitive Map and Statement to be modified to record any additional  

public rights of way over Routes 2 or 3. 

Ownership of Land   

2.10 The current ownership of the land registered land crossed by Route 1 is described at 

item 1 in appendix F and  the boundaries of registered titles  are shown on the plan at 

item 2 in appendix F. The majority of the land is within the control of the Company or 

land associated with Wood Nook House itself. There are several other parties who own 

land to the centre line of the way, or who have leased land crossed by the way. 

Evidence was sought from those parties during the course of the investigation. 

Page 63



8 

Summary of evidence considered

2.11 Application 1 is principally supported by completed ‘user evidence statement forms’ 

(‘UEFs’, otherwise ‘WCA8 forms’) or letters  / emails from 64 individuals who claimed to 

have personally used the route from A-D over various periods up to 2016. The claimed 

frequency of use varies from very occasional through to daily use. 61 people claimed 

equestrian use. 29 people indicated use of a way on foot, 6 with bicycle. One person 

described use with a vehicle in the early 1950s. The earliest claimed use was 1942 (on 

foot). Claimed equestrian use increased from the early 1980s. In summary the user 

evidence, when considered alongside all other available evidence, is sufficient to 

demonstrate that a public bridleway subsists along the whole of route 1. 

2.12 Application.1 was also accompanied by various documentary evidence principally 

historical map evidence, documents relating to valuation of land under the Finance Act 

1910, certain documents relating to the development of the Definitive Map and 

Statement in the 1950s, an extract from a published history of the Wilshaw area, and 

some photographic evidence. This evidence is found in appendix E along with other 

documentary evidence considered by officers. The documentary and user evidence is 

considered in detail in the comprehensive ‘Discussion of Evidence’ at item 1 in 

appendix A. Appendix A also includes summaries of the various aspects of the 

evidence.  

2.13 Application 2 was supported by various items of documentary evidence, along with a 

summary of that evidence prepared by Applicant 2’s lay advisor. The evidence 

provided is included in appendix I. Solicitors acting for the Company  (‘the solicitors’) 

also submitted several letters from people claiming knowledge of the way from the 

1930s onwards and describing gates or other structures. The solicitors also made 

assertions about the evidence of others about gates on Meltham 70. 

2.14 The Council has also considered further documentary evidence available to it.  

Including other historic map evidence, other documents relating the development and 

review of the Definitive Map and Statement and other documents contained in its own 

files that refers to the routes in question. All available photographs have also been 

taken into consideration. 

2.15 Additional evidence was received in response to informal ‘consultation’ or evidence 

gathering exercises carried out in 2018 (for application 1) and 2020 (for application 2). 

Details of these ‘consultations’ are included in appendices G and H. In relation to 

Page 64



9 

Application 2 consultees and the public were asked specifically about the presence or 

absence of structures at point A1. This resulted in the receipt of additional evidence in 

support of Application 1 and little to support application 2.

2.16 Any particulars contained in the statement accompanying the definitive as to limitations 

or conditions affecting a public right of way would be conclusive evidence that said right 

was subject to those limitations or conditions, but without prejudice to any question 

whether the right was subject to any other limitations or conditions. Application 2 seeks 

to add to the record such limitations or condition. 

2.17 In the case of Meltham 70 no limitations are currently recorded. For the particulars to 

be modified to record additional limitations as per Application 2 it would be necessary 

to show that a public right of way had been dedicated subject to limitations or 

conditions and there had not been subsequent re-dedication without such conditions. 

Essentially it would be necessary to show unrecorded limitations or conditions existed 

at the relevant date of the first definitive map and statement (Sep 1952). Meltham 70 

was recorded without limitations in 1952, and, although limited statements and 

assertions have been made regarding the existence of structures at point A1 at various 

times, there is insufficient evidence to show, on balance of probability, that limitations 

existed in 1952. Any structures erected subsequently would not be limitations or 

conditions on the public right of way and there is no evidence of formal authorisation of 

any structures. There is limited evidence of a gate or gates having once existed at point 

A in the form of a surviving gatepost and a solid line shown on various Ordnance 

Survey maps, although any gates in that location are likely to have been removed well 

before 1952.    

2.18 Evidence also suggests that whilst there is some evidence of a gate or gates at point 

A1 as late as the 1990s, the preponderance of the user evidence submitted in 

connection application 1 indicates there was no gate at point A1 during the relevant 20 

year period to be considered under s.31 Highways Act 1980, or if a gate had been 

present during part of that period it had not been locked. Even if it could be shown that 

there had been an unrecorded limitation of a gate or gates on Meltham 70, as per 

Application 2, the user evidence suggests that there would have subsequently been 

dedication of a bridleway absent of any limitation. Nor does the evidence suggest that 

gates or other structures should be recorded as limitations elsewhere on the route in 

question. 

Page 65



10 

2.19 The twenty-year period to be considered under s31 Highways Act 1980 is August 1995 

to August  2015. Rights were brought into question by challenges to equestrians a by 

resident at Wood Nook House. There is ample evidence of use by equestrians, during 

the 20-year period to raise a presumption of dedication of a public right of way and no 

clear evidence that in that period any landowner demonstrated a lack of intention to 

dedicate a public bridleway. There is also ample evidence of pedestrian use, including 

part of the route near Wood Nook House that is not currently shown on the Definitive 

Map, and of a greater width than the currently recorded width of footpaths Meltham 70 

and 38 (currently recorded at approximately 1.2m). There is also evidence of public 

use, ‘as of right’ over a longer period, from which dedication under common law may 

be inferred. 

The decisions to be made by Members  

2.20 It is the Council’s statutory duty to maintain the Definitive Map and Statement and 

make any requisite Orders. 

2.21 General guidance for members is included at Appendix 1. 

2.22 The applications were made under the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 (‘the 1981 Act’). 

2.23 Members are asked to consider the available evidence for and against the application  

to upgrade  / add a bridleway, the evidence for and against the application to vary the 

particulars recorded in the Statement, and the detailed discussion of evidence found at 

item 1 in appendix A, and decide what Order, if any, to make. Members should also  

make a decision on the stance to be taken regarding confirmation if an Order is 

opposed. 

2.24 The Council should consider the available evidence and, by Order make such 

modifications to the Definitive Map and Statement as appear to them to be requisite in 

consequence of the occurrence of any of several events described in section 53(3) of 

the 1981 Act.  

2.25 The events described in section 53 (3) of the 1981 Act include (but are not limited to) 

the following:  

(b) the expiration, in relation to any way in the area to which the map relates, of 

any period such that the enjoyment by the public of the way during that period 

Page 66



11 

raises a presumption that the way has been dedicated as a public path or 

restricted byway 

(c) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all 

other relevant evidence available to them) shows - 

(i) that a right of way which is not shown in the map and statement subsists or is 

reasonably alleged to subsist over land in the area to which the map relates, 

being a right of way such that the land over which the right subsists is a public 

path a restricted byway or…a byway open to all traffic 

(ii) that a highway shown in the map and statement as a highway of a particular 

description ought to be there shown as a highway of a different description; or 

(iii) the discovery by the authority of evidence which (when considered with all 

other relevant evidence available to them) shows “that there is no public right of 

way over land shown in the map and statement as a highway of any description, 

or any other particulars contained in the map and statement require modification.”

2.26 Members must consider whether or not the evidence shows, on balance of probabilities 

that a public bridleway has come into existence over a route between Wilshaw Road 

(point A) and Wood Nook Lane (point D), including Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38 

and any part of that route not currently shown on the Definitive Map (e.g. C-D). This 

may be through presumed dedication under section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 or 

dedication of a public right of way at common law, along with acceptance by the public. 

2.27 If members find the evidence insufficient to show that the way has been dedicated as a 

public bridleway, they must also consider whether  there is a reasonable allegation  

that public footpath has come into existence over the route between C and D that is not 

currently recorded on the Definitive Map.  

2.28 Members must also consider whether or not the particulars for path Meltham 70 in the 

statement accompanying the definitive map should be varied to include as limitations a 

squeeze stile 45cm wide next to a locked gate at point A1, or, if not, whether any other 

limitations or conditions should be recorded. 

2.29 The evidence summarised above is considered in detail in the ‘Discussion of Evidence’ 

at item 1 in appendix A.  

Page 67



12 

2.30 Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 provides that: 

 “where a way over any land, other than a way of such character that use of it by the 

public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has actually 

been enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of 20 

years the way is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is 

sufficient evidence that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it”.  

2.31 The twenty-year period for the purposes of section 31 would be calculated 

retrospectively from the date that any public right of way was brought into question.

This is considered to be August 2015, making the 20-year period August 1995 to 

August 2015. Where there is deemed dedication under section 31 of the 1980 Act, an 

Order could be made under section 53 (2) (b) of the 1981 Act. 

2.32 Members are advised that if a DMMO is made, which then attracts objections which are 

not subsequently withdrawn, then the Council would not be able to formally confirm its 

own Order but would be obliged to forward it to the Secretary of State for 

determination. However, the likelihood or otherwise of an Order attracting opposition 

should form no part of the decision.  

2.33 After considering the evidence and the relevant criteria members have a number of 

options. The Council is required to determine both applications 1 and application 2 and 

the suggested options reflect this.  

2.34 In relation to application 1, the first option for members is to authorise the making of an 

Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement to upgrade the recorded status of 

Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38, between point A and C from footpath to bridleway 

and add a bridleway from point C to Wood Nook Lane at point D.  

2.35 In relation to application 1, the second option for members is to refuse the application 

and to decide that the Council should not make any Order.  

2.36 In relation to application 2, the first option for members is to refuse the application and 

to decide that the Council should not make any Order. 

2.37 In relation to application 2, the second option for members is to approve the application 

to vary the particulars and make an Order to record as limitations of Meltham 70 a 

locked gate alongside a squeeze stile.  

Page 68



13 

2.38 A further option in relation to either or both applications would be for Council to make 

another Order to modify the Definitive Map and Statement in line with members 

interpretation of the evidence. 

2.39 Should the committee authorise the making of an Order it is requested that members 

also consider the Council’s stance regarding confirmation of any opposed Order. It may 

actively support confirmation of its Order, or alternatively take a neutral stance. 

Recommendations 

2.40 Officers recommend that members choose the options described at paragraphs 2.34 

and 2.36 above. The Council should make a Definitive Map Modification Order under 

s53(2) of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 to upgrade the recorded status of 

Meltham 70 (A-B on the plan at item 1 in Appendix B to the report) and part of Meltham 

38 (B to C on the plan) from footpath to bridleway and add to the Definitive Map a 

public bridleway between the currently recorded termination point of Meltham 38 and 

Wood Nook Lane (C and D on the plan). The application to record limitations on 

Meltham 70 should be refused. An Order should NOT vary the particulars recorded in 

the Map and Statement to record a limitation of any structures at point A1 on Meltham 

70 (as had been requested in Application 2), nor elsewhere on the route that is the 

main subject of this report. 

2.41 Officers also recommend should an Order to upgrade to / add a bridleway be made 

and opposed, and the matter referred to the Secretary of State, the Council should 

actively support the confirmation of the Order at any public inquiry or hearing. 

Reasons

2.42 In light of the requirements described in paragraphs 2.23 to 2.32 in this report and in 

accordance with the conclusions in the ‘Discussion of Evidence’ appended at item 1 in 

Appendix A to this report, it considered that there is sufficient evidence to show that a 

public bridleway actually subsists over the whole route from point A at Wilshaw Road to 

Wood Nook Lane at point D, via Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38. A Definitive Map 

Modification Order must be made.  

2.43 Further, that there is insufficient evidence to show that a public right of way over 

Meltham 70 is subject to any limitations or conditions, including a locked gate and 

adjacent squeeze stile point A1 as per Application 2, or the limitations of any other 

structures. It has not been shown that such structures existed on the route at or prior to 

Page 69



14 

the ‘relevant date’ of the first definitive map and statement (1952) on which the way 

was recorded as a public footpath. Nor does the evidence show that any such 

structures been subsequently authorised by the highway authority under any powers.  

Evidence also suggests that such structures were not in place throughout the 20-year 

period to be considered in connection with the application to upgrade to bridleway.  

3. Implications for the Council 

3.1 Working with People 

3.1.1 Not applicable 

3.2 Working with Partners 

3.2.1 Officers have engaged with landowners and user groups when gathering and 

investigating the evidence connected with this application. 

3.3 Place Based Working 

3.3.1 Not applicable 

3.4 Climate Change and Air Quality 

3.4.1 Work to ensure that public rights of way are correctly recorded on the Definitive Map 

and Statement and are available for use may encourage a modal shift towards use of 

more sustainable forms of transport. This is consistent with Council’s response to the 

declared Climate Emergency, the Kirklees Walking and Cycling Strategic Framework, 

and Council commitments to action on air quality.

3.5 Improving outcomes for children

3.5.1 There will be no impact.  

3.6 Financial Implications

3.6.1 The financial costs associated with the making or confirmation of an Order or 

associated with referral of an opposed Order the Secretary of State, would be met 

from existing budgets and should not be taken into account when considering the 

evidence regarding the status of the paths in question. 

Page 70



15 

3.7 Legal Implications

3.7.1 The Council has a statutory duty to maintain the formal record of public rights of way 

and to respond to applications and the discovery of evidence of unrecorded public 

rights of way and any other modifications that should be made to the legal record. 

3.7.2 The Council must make decisions regarding the applications, making any Order that is 

requisite further to section 53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The Council is 

acting in a quasi-judicial capacity. In accordance with the Council’s delegation 

scheme, these are matter for the relevant planning committee unless the chair of the 

relevant planning committee considers that the matters do not require determination 

by the planning committee and can remain delegated to the Strategic Director Growth 

and  Regeneration.

3.7.3 Any person may make an objection or representation to an Order modifying the 

Definitive Map and Statement. If objections are made and not withdrawn, any Order 

made would be forwarded to the Secretary of State and most likely be considered by 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State, who may or may not confirm the 

Order. 

4. Consultation 

4.1 In February 2018 various user groups, town and parish councils, and ward members 

were advised of the making of application 1 and invited to submit any additional evidence 

regarding the status of the route. Owners and occupiers of land crossed by or  adjacent 

to the way were also invited to complete ‘Landowner Evidence Forms’. Responses were 

not received from all parties contacted, however any evidence received has been taken 

into consideration.  

4.2 In November 2020 a similar exercise was carried out in relation to application 2. A notice 

was also place on the gate at point A1 inviting people to submit any evidence about 

gates, stiles or other structures on Meltham 70. Notices were also placed at other 

locations on Meltham 70 and replaced when necessary during the following month.       

4.3 Responses were received from 13 individuals and several user groups. Although asked 

specifically about gates or other structures on Meltham 70, responses received included 

further evidence of equestrian use of the route in application 1 and in general described a 

Page 71



16 

lack of any structures or obstructions at point A1 or elsewhere on Meltham 70 that would 

have prevented equestrian use of the route during claimed periods of use. Some people 

indicated that there were no structures until relatively recently. 

4.4 In September 2023 the farming tenant of land crossed by the route was invited to submit 

any evidence in connection with the two applications. No response was received.  

4.5 Collectively, the responses received in response to these evidence gathering exercises 

support application 1 and are negative to application 2. Comments and evidence 

received have been taken into consideration alongside all other evidence discovered. 

4.6 Current ward members have been informed of this report being taken to the Planning 

Committee. 

4.7 Any decisions should be based on all the available evidence and not the level of support 

or opposition to proposed modifications of the Definitive Map and Statement.

5. Engagement 

5.1 Not applicable

6. Next steps and timelines 

6.1 If an Order is made, it will be advertised in the local newspaper and notices placed on 

site. Copies of the notice and Order would be sent to landowners and various statutory 

and non-statutory consultees. Anyone may submit a written objection to the Order during 

the relevant notice period (minimum 42 days).

6.2 If no duly made objections are received, or if any objections made are withdrawn, the 

Council could confirm its own Order.

6.3 If objections to an Order are received and not withdrawn an Order must be referred to the 

Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs who will make a decision as 

to whether or not an Order should be confirmed. That would normally involve the 

appointing of an Inspector and the holding of a public local inquiry to hear the evidence. 

Alternatively, a case may be considered through an exchange of written representations 

or at an informal public hearing. 

6.4 Should the Council not make an Order, an applicant may, within 28 days of service of 

notice by the Council of the decision, serve notice of appeal against that decision on the  

Page 72



17 

Secretary of State and the authority. On considering that appeal, the Secretary of State 

may direct the Council to make an Order. (Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981, Schedule 

14). 

7. Contact officer  

Phil Champion, Definitive Map Officer 

01484 221000 

phil.champion@kirklees.gov.uk 

8. Background Papers and History of Decisions 

8.1 There are no previous decisions connected with this matter. 

9. Appendices 

9.1 This report is accompanied by the appendices set out below, all of which can be viewed 

via the following link: 

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13845&path=0

Certain key documents are also attached to this report, as indicated in the list below: 

Appendix 1 – Guidance to Members (attached) 

Appendix A – Discussion and Summaries of Evidence, including: 

A1 Discussion of Evidence (attached) 

A2 User Evidence Summaries (attached) 

Appendix B – Plans, Photographs and Definitive Map and Statement, including: 

B1 Plan of Routes (attached) 

B2 Photos of Route 1 MEL70 and 38(pt) (attached) 

Appendix C – Application for DMMO to upgrade (Application 1)  

Appendix D – Application for DMMO to vary particulars (Application 2) 

Appendix E – Documentary Evidence 

Appendix F – Land Ownership 

Appendix G – Informal Consultation (upgrade) 

Appendix H – Informal Consultation (vary particulars)  

Appendix I – Documentary evidence submitted in support of Application 2 

Service Director responsible

Page 73

https://democracy.kirklees.gov.uk/ecCatDisplay.aspx?sch=doc&cat=13845&path=0


18 

David Shepherd Strategic Director for Growth & Regeneration

Page 74



                     KIRKLEES METROPOLITAN COUNCIL (Appendix 1) 
 
   AMENDMENTS (MODIFICATIONS) TO THE DEFINITIVE MAP 
 
                      GUIDANCE NOTES FOR MEMBERS 
 
 

Introduction 
 
The Council is responsible for maintaining the Definitive Map and Statement 
of public rights of way. These are legal documents.  
 
From time to time applications are made to amend the Definitive Map and 
Statement by adding previously unrecorded rights of way or deleting or 
altering the status of the public rights of way shown on the Definitive Map. 
Such applications must be accompanied by evidence. The process is often 
referred to as the “modification order procedure”. These notes outline the key 
principles which apply to this procedure. 
 

The Legal Tests 
 

Any decision must be based on evidence. The process is about giving official 
recognition to what actually already exists. It is not a question of convenience 
(i.e. is the application a good idea?)  
 
If the applicant is claiming that a right of way should be added then the 
Council has to be satisfied that the claimed right of way subsists or is 
reasonably alleged to subsist.  
 
If the applicant is claiming that a right of way should be upgraded then the 
Council has to be satisfied on the balance of probabilities that the right of way 
subsists in its upgraded form. 
 
The test in respect of a claim for a deletion or downgrade is more onerous. 
The applicant has to produce clear and cogent evidence to satisfy the Council 
that a mistake was made when the right of way was recorded in the Definitive 
Map and Statement  
 
A right of way can come into existence by being expressly dedicated by the 
landowner. If this is the case, then (unless there is a dispute over the 
dedication or its terms) there is no need for claims or evidence to be 
considered. 
 
The starting point is the test set out in the Highways Act 1980 (Section 31) 
that the way has been used in its claimed form without let or hindrance, for a 
period in excess of 20 years.  
 

Page 75



In effect this means that the public has used the path or way without the 
landowners express permission and without having to overcome barriers. The 
use must also be open and not in secret. Therefore it is presumed that the 
landowner does not object and has accepted public use. The erection of a 
notice by the owner in terms that the way is private can defeat the creation of 
a right of way by these means, as can certain other actions by the owner (see 
below). 
 
A public right of way might arise at Common Law as a result of public user for 
a period of less than 20 years, but the tests for the establishment of a way by 
this means are more onerous than those stipulated by the Highways Act 
1980. 
 
The use must also be by the general public. Use of a route to visit the 
landowner is not public use. Thus people cannot claim a public right over the 
private drive where the use was for visiting the owner, delivering post or 
buying produce etc. 
 
If, however the landowner has erected notices, gates or can produce 
evidence that it has never been their intention that a public right be created, 
then this is a hindrance or evidence of contrary intention. For instance, they 
may have turned back all the people seen using the way or locked a gate 
across the way on a certain date every year. There is also a procedure for 
registering with the local Highways Authority, documentation stating that there 
is no intention to create a new way.  
 

Making the Order 
 
If the Council does not make an order, then the Applicant has the right of 
appeal to the Secretary of State. This is usually done on written 
representations. The Secretary of State decides whether a basic case exists. 
If he/she agrees with the Applicant then the Council will be directed to make 
an Order. 
 
If an Order is made by the Council (whether by direction or not) then any 
person aggrieved by that Order can appeal. This usually leads to a Hearing or 
a Public Inquiry. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 
 

Page 76



Public 
Rights
of Way

DMMO applications - Wilshaw Road to Wood Nook

©  Crown Copyright and database right 2024. Ordnance Survey 100019241

Scale: 1:3250 @A3

Date: 01/02/2024

Filename: Page 77



Page 1 of 48 

A1  Discussion of Evidence 

1. Documentary evidence ...................................................................................................... 5 

Honley Inclosure Award and Map (1788, copies published in 1867) (E1a, E1b) ............................... 5 

Greenwoods Map of Yorkshire (1817) (E2a, E2b) ............................................................................. 6 

Netherthong Township Map of 1831 (E3) ......................................................................................... 6 

1838 Honey Township Plan and survey (the “1838 Plan”) ................................................................ 7 

“Plan of the Township of Honley… from an actual survey in…1838 by Samuel Wormald” (E4a) . 7 

Book of Reference to a plan of the Township of Honley (1838) (E4b) .......................................... 7 

Netherthong Tithe Map (1850) (E5a, E5b) ........................................................................................ 8 

Conclusions regarding Inclosure / Township / Tithe and early commercial maps ............................ 9 

Ordnance Survey Maps and related documents (E6 to E13): ............................................................ 9 

Small scale maps .............................................................................................................................. 11 

1 inch Ordnance Survey Map (Revised New Series, dated 1903) (facsimile  edition published by 

Cassini, extract supplied with application 1) (E14) .......................................................... 11 

Bartholomew’s Half inch maps .................................................................................................... 12 

Conclusions regarding Ordnance Survey (OS) and OS derived maps. ............................................. 12 

Other map evidence ........................................................................................................................ 13 

Google Maps (E16) ....................................................................................................................... 13 

Screenshot showing INSPIRE Index Polygons spatial data from Land Registry (E17) ................. 13 

Finance Act 1910 (Increment Value Duty): ...................................................................................... 13 

Conclusions regarding the Finance Act evidence ............................................................................ 14 

Records relating to the development of the first Definitive Map and Statement  under Part IV of 

the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949:.............................................. 15 

Survey Schedules (‘Walking Schedules’) (Items E23a to d) ......................................................... 15 

Draft Map (Relevant Date 22 September 1952) (E24) ................................................................ 17 

Page 78



Page 2 of 48 

Extract from Meltham UDC Minutes (18th May 1953) (E25) ....................................................... 17 

Objections  / Representations to the Draft Map and Statement: ............................................... 17 

Provisional and Definitive Maps and Statements and associated documents: .......................... 19 

Statement accompanying the 1952 Definitive Map (E27b) ........................................................ 19 

Review of the Definitive Map: ......................................................................................................... 20 

Draft Revision Map (E28a) ........................................................................................................... 20 

Draft Revision Statement (E28b) ................................................................................................. 20 

Correspondence between Wood Nook residents and the County Council in the 1970s: ............... 20 

Conclusions regarding the preparation and review of the Definitive Map and Statement, including 

correspondence in the 1970s .............................................................................................. 22 

Extracts from ‘The History of Wilshaw’ (E34) .................................................................................. 23 

Conclusions on ‘The History of Wilshaw’ ......................................................................................... 24 

Planning application documents (Application ref 89/62/02151/C2): ............................................. 24 

Observations of Kirklees Council Technical Services. With annotated site plan showing public 

footpaths Meltham 38 and Holmfirth 70) (E35) .............................................................. 24 

Diversion of FP Meltham 40 near Manor House Farm, and related documents: ........................... 24 

Other documentary evidence .......................................................................................................... 25 

Photographs ................................................................................................................................. 25 

Photographs supplied with application 1 (E39) ........................................................................... 26 

Photo taken at Lower Cote Farm  1958/9. (E40) ......................................................................... 27 

Kirklees Bridleways Group Facebook post regarding fallen tree (E41) ....................................... 27 

Conclusions regarding photographs ................................................................................................ 27 

Overall conclusions re documentary evidence ................................................................................ 27 

2. User evidence................................................................................................................... 28 

Section 31 Highways Act 1980 ......................................................................................................... 29 

Page 79



Page 3 of 48 

Date of Bringing into Question .................................................................................................... 29 

‘A Way’ ......................................................................................................................................... 31 

‘…Actually enjoyed’ ...................................................................................................................... 32 

‘…by the public’ ............................................................................................................................ 32 

‘… without interruption’ .............................................................................................................. 33 

‘… as of right’ ................................................................................................................................ 33 

‘…without force’ ........................................................................................................................... 34 

‘… without secrecy’ ...................................................................................................................... 34 

‘…Without permission’ ................................................................................................................ 34 

‘… Full period of 20 years’ ............................................................................................................ 35 

Widths described by users ............................................................................................................... 35 

Descriptions by users of gates etc. .................................................................................................. 35 

Contrary intention............................................................................................................................ 36 

Deposits under Section 31(6) Highways Act 1980. .......................................................................... 37 

Conclusions regarding presumed dedication under s.31 Highways Act 1980 ................................ 38 

Dedication under Common Law ...................................................................................................... 39 

Application to Vary recorded particulars (Application 2) .......................................................... 40 

Documents submitted with Application 2: ...................................................................................... 41 

Document 7: Extract from 1985 Definitive Map  - from Council’s GIS system (Item 5 in appendix 

I)  ...................................................................................................................................... 41 

Document 8: Extract from 1952 Definitive Map (I6) ................................................................... 41 

Document 9: ‘Walking schedule’ from survey under NPACA 1949  (I7)...................................... 41 

Document 10: Extract from the Statement accompanying the first (1952) Definitive Map (I) .. 41 

Document 11: Letter dated 10 October 1985 (I9) ....................................................................... 41 

Page 80



Page 4 of 48 

Document 12: Letter from Huddersfield Borough Engineer & Surveyor to Huddersfield CBC 

Town Clerk, dated 28 July 1965. (I10) .............................................................................. 42 

Document 13: West Yorkshire Metropolitan County Council memo dated 5 June 1974 (I11)... 42 

Material submitted by solicitors for the Company .......................................................................... 42 

Evidence of Witness A.................................................................................................................. 42 

Evidence of  Witness B ................................................................................................................. 44 

Evidence of Witnesses C and D .................................................................................................... 44 

Other claims made on behalf of the Company ................................................................................ 45 

Informal consultation regarding application 2 ................................................................................ 45 

Conclusions regarding the evidence submitted for and on behalf of the applicant for application 2 

and the Company ................................................................................................................. 46 

Overall conclusions ..................................................................................................................... 47 

Page 81



Page 5 of 48 

1. Documentary evidence  

The application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement (DMS) to upgrade 
to bridleway (“Application 1”) was accompanied by various documentary 
evidence in addition to user evidence, generally in the form of completed User 
Evidence Statement Forms (“UEFs” or “WCA8” forms). The documentary 
evidence will be considered first, followed by the user evidence.  

1.1. The application to vary the recorded particulars in respect of limitations on 
Meltham 70 (MEL/70) (“Application 2” made by “Applicant 2”) was supported by 
various documentary evidence and a short report prepared by Applicant 2’s lay 
advisor (“Lay Advisor” or “Agent”). The Council had also received other 
evidence from solicitors (“Solicitors”) acting for a limited company 1 (“the 
Company”) which owns land crossed by Meltham 70, in the form of letters 
provided by witnesses, along with various assertions made about the evidence 
of those witnesses. 

1.2. Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980 states that:   

“A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not 
been dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, took 
place, shall take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or 
other relevant document which is tendered in evidence, and shall give such 
weight thereto as the court or tribunal considers justified by the circumstances, 
including the antiquity of the tendered document, the status of the person by 
whom and the purpose for which it was made or compiled, and the custody in 
which it has been kept and from which it is produced.” 

1.3. Other documentary evidence available to officers has also been taken into 
consideration, along with additional user evidence received during the course  
of the investigation. Documentary evidence submitted by Applicant 1 or 
discovered by officers is included in appendix E. Additional documentary 
evidence submitted in support of Application 2 is included in Appendix I.  

1.4. This discussion of the evidence refers to specific lettered points along the 
routes in questions, as per the plan and photographs at items 1 to 3 in 
appendix B.  

Honley Inclosure Award and Map (1788, copies published in 1867) (E1a, E1b) 

1.5.  A copy of the Honley Inclosure Map of 1788, provided by the Applicant 1, is 
found at item 1a in appendix E. 2 Further extracts from the award and map, with 

1 The registered address of the limited company is Wood Nook House. 

2 Contemporary documents used the spelling ‘inclosure’ rather than modern ‘enclosure’ in reference to 
the process. This report also uses the spelling’ inclosure’ except when referring to parcels of land 
themselves, or routes ‘enclosed’ by solid boundaries.  

Page 82



Page 6 of 48 

officer comments, are found at item 1b in appendix E. The map includes the area 
around Wood Nook, abutting the township of Thong (i.e. Netherthong). The map 
and award indicate that no part of the claimed route was included in the award. 
However, these documents indicate that an enclosed lane physically existed 
from Wood Nook Road (now Wood Nook Lane) at point D, towards a building 
near Point B 3 and for some distance towards the township boundary but 
stopping short of it. This way passed through old enclosures. It was abutted at 
the Wood Nook end by a ‘watering place’ included in the Award (described as 
abutting an ‘occupation road’).  

1.6. Wood Nook Road, now an all-purpose adopted vehicular road, was included in 
the award as a bridle road 21ft wide.  

1.7. The award and map, whilst confirming the existence of an ‘occupation road’ 
towards Cote, give no indication that any part of the claimed route was a public 
highway and gives no indication of a route crossing the boundary into Thong 
(Netherthong) Township. 

Greenwoods Map of Yorkshire (1817) (E2a, E2b) 

1.8. Greenwood’s Map (extract at item 2a in appendix E) depicts in the notation for 
a ‘cross road’ a road from Wood Nook (D) towards point B at Cote (not named 
on the map). The map does not show a route continuing south towards 
‘Greaves’.4 The advertisement of the proposal to publish this map (item 2b in 
appendix E) indicates an intention to record ‘public and private roads’. The 
depiction is consistent with a private / occupation road serving the farm at Cote. 
This is as suggested by the Honley inclosure records.  

1.9. Greenwood’s use of the use of the term ‘cross road’ may mean that the map 
maker considered, rightly or wrongly, that the way was a bridle way or a 
highway for vehicles. However, Greenwood also depicted as ‘cross roads’ 
numerous cul-de-sacs roads and known awarded private carriage or 
occupation roads. Although the map provides evidence of the physical 
existence of a road between Cote and Wood Nook, it does not provide strong 
evidence of public highway status for that route; particularly as it is does not 
show a continuous ‘cross road’ towards Greave / Wilshaw. It is necessary to 
consider this map with the totality of all other relevant evidence. 

Netherthong Township Map of 1831 (E3) 

1.10. Officers have obtained photographs of a privately held map of Netherthong 
Township, dated 1831 (“the 1831 Map”) (Item 3 in appendix E). Various land in 

3 This is consistent with the house named ‘Cote’ on various maps, later ‘Lower Cote’. 

4 The farms / hamlets of Upper Greave and Lower Greave in modern Wilshaw. Upper Greave was 
demolished in the 1870s and replaced by houses at St Mary’s Court; the farm at Lower Greave is now 
called Manor Farm.  

Page 83



Page 7 of 48 

the township of Netherthong was inclosed in the period from 1826 under the 
Netherthong Inclosure Act and Award. The 1831 Map shows the landscape of 
enclosed fields between the township boundary along Bank Dike, and the 
hamlets of Upper and Lower Greave and modern Wilshaw Road. The map 
shows the new enclosures under the Award in pink and old enclosed land in 
green. The map indicates the land in Netherthong now crossed by footpath 
Meltham 70 to have been old enclosures owned by Henry Shaw rather than 
being land newly enclosed under the Inclosure Award.  

1.11. The arrangement of fields and tracks shown on the 1831 Map is different to that 
currently found. The current route of Meltham 70 between points A and 
approximately. point A10 is not shown, although there is a short length of 
enclosed route on a different alignment running in a generally south-westerly  
direction near Bank Dike. The map suggests a continuation of a route, of 
unknown status, into Honley Township, but on a different alignment to Meltham 
70. The map indicates that in 1831 the enclosed route now followed by 
Meltham 70 was not a feature in the landscape. The map provides no positive 
evidence of the existence of a public right of way of any type along the route of 
modern Meltham 70. 

1838 Honey Township Plan and survey (the “1838 Plan”) 

“Plan of the Township of Honley… from an actual survey in…1838 by Samuel 
Wormald” (E4a)  

Book of Reference to a plan of the Township of Honley (1838) (E4b) 

1.12. The 1838 Plan (item 4a in Appendix E) depicts an enclosed road from the 
township boundary to  buildings at B (i.e. Lower Cote, not named on the plan), 
thence continuing to C and D at Wood Nook. The map shows land in different 
ownership shaded in different colours. The road from C to D is shown 
uncoloured in the same manner as modern Wood Nook Lane and various other 
roads. The book of reference shows the land to the north and east of this road 
in the ownership of John Dyson. Land and premises to south of this road, 
including modern Wood Nook House and Lower Cote is shown in the 
ownership of Henry Shaw.5

1.13. An enclosed route continues from point B to the township boundary, only 
partially on the line of modern footpath Meltham 70. Sepia colouring indicating 
Henry Shaw’s land extends across this road. The area shown uncoloured at 
Wood Nook includes the whole of what is now the garden area between C and 
D and not just the currently surfaced route through that area. It is possible that 
this includes the area awarded as a ‘watering place’ in the 1788 Honley Award.  

5 The 1831 Netherthong township map shows Upper Greave and all the land in Netherthong now 
crossed by Meltham 70 as also being owned by Henry Shaw. 

Page 84



Page 8 of 48 

1.14. That the road from C-D is not included with the adjacent coloured parcels 
suggests a way that is of more significance than the way from the township 
boundary to point C although that does not itself confirm public status. 

1.15. The accompanying book of reference (item 4b in appendix E) includes a list of 
roads and their areas but does not specify whether such roads are public or 
private. 6 This includes ‘Cot Lane’ which is likely to be reference to the road 
from C-D. The Inclosure Award of 1788 referred to this road being an existing 
occupation road. The map also shows a number of other uncoloured roads, 
generally cul-de-sacs, some of which were awarded as  ‘private occupation 
roads’ in the Honley Award and/or had land to either side is in different 
ownership. That C-D is uncoloured does not conclusively show that the way is 
a public highway of any type, although the depiction is not inconsistent with a 
private vehicular road along which there was or is now a public footpath or 
bridleway. 

Netherthong Tithe Map (1850) (E5a, E5b) 

1.16.  The applicant supplied an extract from the Netherthong Tithe Map of 1850 
(item 5a in Appendix E) held by WYAS. Officers have obtained further 
photographs of copy held by the National Archives  (item 5b in Appendix E). A 
copy of the apportionment was not provided. The tithe map was not directly 
concerned with public rights of way and the depiction of highways or private / 
occupation roads is incidental to the tithe information recorded in these 
documents. The map shows a similar layout of fields and tracks to the 1831 
Township map and the field numbering is the same. The road or track near 
Bank Dike is shown is coloured sepia, i.e., following cartographic conventions 
for roads.7 This is unnumbered. Its depiction would be more consistent with an 
occupation road leading to fields than a public vehicular road and there is no 
clear indication this was a through route. The map also shows a pecked line, 
passing through various fields, linking to the lane described above and 
annotated ‘foot road’. Part of that path is on an alignment similar to Meltham 40. 
The map does not provide direct evidence of public status. Part of this route 
appears to have been replaced by the route now recorded as footpath Meltham 
70. 

1.17. The Netherthong Tithe Map does not support the early existence of a public 
bridleway or public vehicular rights along the current line of Meltham 70, 
although it provides some evidence of the physical existence of a footpath on a 
different alignment. 

6 Excepting some roads that are clearly named as turnpike roads which by definition must be public 
highways. 

7 The available photographs of the copy held by The National Archives are in black and white. 

Page 85



Page 9 of 48 

Conclusions regarding Inclosure / Township / Tithe and early commercial maps 

1.18. The Netherthong tithe map confirms the existence by 1788 of an ‘occupation 
road’ at Wood Nook between points B at Cote and D at Wood Nook Road  / 
Lane.  There is no clear evidence of a road extending into Netherthong 
Township at that time. The 1838 Honley Township shows a road extending 
from the township boundary to Cote (although on a different alignment to 
Meltham 70) and a road (Cot Lane) along B-D, although the depiction is 
consistent with an occupation road. Maps of the Netherthong area do not show 
a road or track existing on the line of Meltham 70 by 1850, with the field layout 
in the area being different to present.  

1.19. In conclusion, these documents provide no evidence of higher rights existing 
over the route that is the subject of application 1, but there is evidence  from 
various maps of the physical existence of a road between at least Cote (B) and 
Wood Nook Lane (D). Whilst these do not provide  evidence  that supports  the 
early existence of  higher public rights over route 1, the depiction of the road  
from B to D is not inconsistent with route also being a public right of way of 
some description. 

Ordnance Survey Maps and related documents (E6 to E13): 

1:10560 1st Edition six-inch. Yorkshire Sheet 260. Surveyed 1848-51, published 
1854. (The ‘1854 map’) (E6, E6a). 

Yorkshire CCLX. Boundary remark book containing strip maps showing 
boundaries of: Almondbury; Farnley Tyas; Fulstone; Golcar; Honley; 
Linthwaite; Meltham; Nether Thong; Slaithwaite; South Crosland; Thurstonland; 
Wooldale. (TNA Ref OS/26/11816). Dated 1889. (E7) 

1:2500 County Series 1st Edition Yorkshire [West Riding] Sheet CCLX.14. 
Surveyed 1888, Published: 1892. (The ‘1892 map’) (E8a) 

1:2500 County Series. 1st Revision Yorkshire [West Riding]  Sheet CCLX.14 
Revised 1904, Published: 1906. (The ‘1906 map’)(E8b) 

1:2500 County Series. 2nd Revision Yorkshire [West Riding]  Sheet CCLX.14 
Revised 1914, Published: 1917. (The ‘1917 map’) (E8c) 

1:2500 County Series. 3rd Revision Yorkshire [West Riding]  Sheet CCLX.14 
Revised 1929, Published: 1932.  (The ‘1932 map’) (E8d) 

1:10560 (6 inch). Yorkshire [West Riding] Sheet CCLX SW.  Re-surveyed 1888-
91, published 1894. (E6b) 

Meltham UDC – map on OS base showing proposed alteration of boundaries 
(1896). (E9) 

OS Boundary Map sheet No. 260. Dated 23 Dec 1904. TNA Ref 05/31/1707. (E10) 

Page 86



Page 10 of 48 

1:10560 (6 inch). Second edition. Yorkshire [West Riding] Sheet CCLX SW.  
Revised 1904, published 1908. (E6c) 

1:2500 National Grid series 1st Edition SE1110 and SE1210 (Published 1965), 
SE1109 and SE1209 (Published 1964). (E11) 

1:2500 National Grid series 1st Revision SE1110 (Published 1976). (E12) 

OS Landline mapping (1994). (E13) 

Wilshaw Conservation Area Appraisal –Townscape Appraisal Map (E22) 

1.20. The 1854 6-inch Ordnance Survey Map shows the landscape between Wood 
Nook and Wilshaw in a similar manner to earlier maps. The map does not show 
as a feature in the landscape the road of track followed by Meltham 70. The 
road between Wood Nook and Cote (D-B) is shown, continuing past a ‘trough’ 
(at point A10)  but taking a different route across Bank Dike. 

1.21. An extract from the Boundary Remark Book includes an extract from the 1854 
6-inch map on which the boundary between Honley and Netherthong Local 
Board Districts had been highlighted (i.e., following Bank Dike). The document 
has no additional evidential value over the 1854 map.   

1.22. The 1892 map shows different arrangement of fields between point A and Bank 
Dike from the 1854 map. The map shows an enclosed road or track between 
point A and Lower Cote on the current alignment, continuing to Wood Nook.8

There is a solid line at the junction with the road at point A, suggestive of (but 
not conclusive evidence of) there having been a gate or structure at point A. 
There is nothing to suggest structures across the way at any other points, 
including at A1. 

1.23. Large scale OS maps are evidence of the physical existence, at the time of 
survey, of the features shown thereon. They do not record public rights of way. 
Nonetheless, they may provide useful supportive evidence of the physical 
existence of any ways depicted, or of their absence. The 1892 map also carries 
a standard disclaimer which reads: “The representation on this map of a Road, 
Track of Footpath, is no evidence of the existence  of a right of way”. The 
depiction is consistent with a vehicular road or track. However, whilst the 1892 
OS map provides strong evidence of the physical existence of the route in 

8 It appears likely that the re-ordering of fields and creation of the track between Wilshaw and Lower 
Cote in its modern form took place after the purchase at auction of the ‘Upper Greave’ estate by 
Joseph Hirst in 1871. Joseph Hirst, a local woollen cloth manufacturer, had been amalgamating 
estates in the area and was responsible for the development of much of the infrastructure in Wilshaw. 
Various user witnesses have referred to the route being developed by Mr Hirst in order to take cloth to 
market in Huddersfield, although this is speculation. Development of the route by the landowner for 
his own purposes or vehicular use, does not support the suggestion that the way would have carried 
higher public rights. Application 1 was support by extracts from ‘The History of Wilshaw’, by Alfred 
Taylor, published in 1961.  

Page 87



Page 11 of 48 

question at the date of survey (1888), it does not provide evidence that the way  
shown carried public rights. 

1.24. Six-inch to the mile maps from the 1890s onwards show the way in a similar 
manner to the 25-inch maps. A map showing the proposed alterations to the 
Meltham UD boundaries (item 9) was based on the 1894 6-inch map, as was a 
map of 1904 (item 10) annotated by OS with the urban district boundaries, 
along with the former Netherthong  / Honley boundary along Bank Dike. These 
maps have no additional evidential value over the base mapping.  

1.25. Subsequent large scale OS maps up to the 1964/1965s show the route in 
question in the same manner as the 1892 map. This includes a solid line across 
the route at point A. 

1.26. The 1st revision of the National Grid series sheet SE1110 published in 1976 
shows an additional solid line across Meltham 70 mid-way between points A6 
and A7. This is not a point where it has been suggested that historically there 
had been any kind of structure. If that does represent a gate or similar in 
existence when surveyed, it is likely that such a structure would post date the 
relevant date of the first definitive map (1952). 9

1.27. OS Landline digital data (snapshot from 1994) (item E13) does not show the 
line across the way between A6 and A7 or suggest any feature at point A1. The 
solid line at point A is shown, although photographic and other evidence 
suggests there would have been no structure at A at that time. The continuing 
existence of this feature on mapping is not a reliable indicator that at structure 
was present at the dates of publication of particular maps or production of map 
data.  

1.28. A map of the Wilshaw Conservation Area, supplied by Applicant 1, shows the 
boundary of the area and features within it. However, it provides no additional 
evidence over the OS base mapping used and does not describe the status of 
the route. 

Small scale maps 

1 inch Ordnance Survey Map (Revised New Series, dated 1903) (facsimile  
edition published by Cassini, extract supplied with application 1) (E14) 

1.29. Due to the scale, the 1-inch OS map of 1903 provides limited information. The 
route in question is shown as a fenced ‘Third Class’ metalled road. Although 
not found on the extract provided, this map will have carried a similar disclaimer 
to large scale OS maps from the 1890s onwards. While the depiction is 
consistent with a route likely to have been capable of carrying vehicular or 

9 The Council only hold National Grid series 1st revision digital data for SE1110 and not adjacent 
10x10km squares (hectads) crossed by other parts of the route in question. 

Page 88



Page 12 of 48 

equestrian traffic, the map provides no evidence that the way shown was public 
highway.  

Bartholomew’s Half inch maps 

Sheet 9 (Sheffield). Published 1903 (E15). 

1.30. Bartholomew’s maps were based on Ordnance Survey mapping and carry a 
similar disclaimer: “The representation of a road or footpath is no evidence of 
the existence of a right of way”. 

1.31. The route between Wilshaw and Wood Nook is depicted in the map of 1903 as 
an ‘uncoloured’ as opposed to a ‘first class road, ‘secondary (good) road’, or 
‘indifferent’ or ‘passable’ road which would be shown coloured. The key also 
includes ‘Footpaths & Bridlepaths’’, shown by means of  black pecked lines. 
The key indicates “The uncoloured roads are inferior and not to be 
recommended to cyclists”. 

1.32. Applicant 1 provided a commentary on the significance of this map, which they 
note was made for sale to the public, and so unlikely to show routes that the 
public could not use. Applicant 1 noted that that the roads were advised by the 
Cyclists Touring Club and that, despite the disclaimer, the map makers true 
beliefs come from the fact the CTC asses the roads as ‘suitable’ or ‘inferior’ 
rather than footpath or bridleway. It was argued that as cyclists at the time had 
no right to use bridleways, the map carries ‘at least a little weight’ as evidence 
of vehicular use. Nonetheless, the map contains the standard disclaimer, as per 
other OS and OS-derived maps, and the map does not provide positive 
evidence that the way shown was public highway. It also appears that whether 
or not a way was depicted as a ‘road’ was based on its physical character.  

Conclusions regarding Ordnance Survey (OS) and OS derived maps. 

1.33. The depiction of the route in question on successive large-scale Ordnance 
Survey maps published since the 1890s is consistent with the physical 
existence of a road or track, that may have been capable of use with vehicles, 
but does not provide evidence of public highway status. An earlier map shows 
no through route physically existed on the current alignment of Meltham 70. 
The one inch OS and half inch Bartholomew’s maps provide no positive 
evidence of highway status, and maps providing boundary or similar 
information have no evidential value above the OS base maps used.  

1.34. The OS Maps provide little evidence of the continued existence of structures on 
the way, and in particular structures predating relevant date of the first definitive 
map. The maps provide no evidence of structures having been in place at point 
A1 at any dates of survey or revision and do not support the claims made in 
application 2. 

Page 89



Page 13 of 48 

Other map evidence 

Google Maps (E16) 

1.35. Google Maps gives the name of part of the route as ‘Old Pauls Road’. ‘Old 
Pauls Road’ is shown from point A to point A3 the continuing west towards 
Manor Farm, then via Route 3 (E-F-H) to the south of Manor House, to join 
‘Lower Greave Road’. The applicant provided a screenshot showing this (item 
E16) and a number of user witnesses also refer to the route being named on 
maps. However, the source of this name is not known and the route’s depiction 
on Google Maps in this manner has negligible evidential value. 

Screenshot showing INSPIRE Index Polygons spatial data from Land Registry 
(E17) 

1.36. Applicant 1 provided a screenshot of a map preview appearing to show 
polygons for registered freehold land. The applicant identified part of MEL/70 
(described by points A and B) as being separate from registered land holdings. 
The applicant suggested that this characteristic is typically found for vehicular 
highways of ancient origin. However, the majority of the route in question does  
cross registered land, only a short length (point A6-A9) is not within registered 
titles and other evidence suggests the route is not ancient in origin. This 
document has limited evidential value. The boundaries of the registered titles 
are shown in more detail in on a plan at item 2 in appendix F.   

Finance Act 1910 (Increment Value Duty): 

Extract from Valuation Book for Meltham  - hereditament 1451 (WYAS  ref 
C243/246 (E18a) 

Extract from Valuation Book  for Meltham  - hereditament 1538 (WYAS  ref 
C243/246 (E18b) 

Extract from working copy plan  (WYAS Ref C43/260/14)  E19) 

Extracts from record plan – OS SheetCCLX.14  (TNA Ref IR 134/6/78) (E20) 

Extract from Valuer’s Field Book for Meltham – Hereditament 1451 (TNA Ref IR 
58/41006) (E21a) 

Extract from Valuer’s Field Book for Meltham – Hereditament 1538 (TNA Ref IR 
58/41007) (E21b)

1.37. Various documents were supplied which relate to the valuation of land and 
premises under the Finance Act 1910, preparatory to the introduction of a tax 
on increases in value of land (Increment Value Duty). Documents include 
extracts from ‘working copy’ valuation books and associated plans (held by 
West Yorkshire Archive Service (WYAS)), and field books and record plans 
(held at The National Archives (TNA)). The records identify taxable 

Page 90



Page 14 of 48 

hereditaments and include valuations of those parcels. There was provision to 
reduce the recorded value of land due to the existence of public rights of way. 
In some cases, routes are also excluded from taxable hereditaments – one 
explanation is that excluded routes are public roads, although there may be 
other reasons for ways being excluded. 

1.38. Working copy and record plans show route A-B within hereditaments 1538 and  
1451 in the Meltham ‘Income Tax Parish’. The track from B-D may be excluded 
from taxable hereditaments although another interpretation may be that the  
lane from B-D was intended to be part of 1451 as it is open to that parcel near 
B but closed from the public road by a solid line near D. 

1.39. Hereditament 1451 includes land crossed by Meltham 70  from A6 to B and 
also a field to the west of the building at Lower Cote. This includes land crossed  
by other parts of what is now FP Meltham 38. The map extracts provided do not 
show the whole of 1451. 

1.40. The Valuation Book entry for hereditament 1451 (property named “Cote”, now 
“Lower Cote”) (item 18a in appendix E)  does not record a deduction in 
valuation for ‘public right of way or user’. However, the Field Book entry for 
1451 records a deduction of £6. This may relate to Meltham 70 or Meltham 38. 
The reduction in the valuation represents an acknowledgement by the 
landowner of one more PROW within the hereditament and gives no indication 
as to status. However, a reduction in the valuation is more likely to suggest a 
public footpath or bridleway that a public carriageway - which might be 
expected to be excluded from taxable hereditaments. The reduction in the 
valuation is consistent with the public footpaths which are currently recorded. 

1.41. The majority length of Meltham 70 (A to A6) is within hereditament 1538. A 
deduction of £45 was recorded in respect of public rights of way or user. This 
hereditament also includes parts of several other ways now recorded as public 
footpaths including Meltham 39, 40, 53, 63 and the reduction in the valuation 
may relate to Meltham 70 any of the other paths. The deduction is consistent 
with the existence of the public footpaths currently recorded over this land.   

1.42. Applicant 1 also provided an extract from another field book  (TNA ref 
IR58/37477). It was stated by applicant 1 that this related to ‘Coles Track’ and 
makes reference to a public right of way along a track. However, the entry 
supplied relates to property at Eavestone, near Harrogate, North Yorkshire, and 
appears to have been submitted in error. 

Conclusions regarding the Finance Act evidence 

1.43. The 1910 Finance Act evidence is consistent with the existence of public 
footpaths or bridleways along the route in question. The depiction of the route 
between Cote (B) and Wood Nook Lane (D) is ambiguous and does not clearly 
suggest that the route had higher rights. The reductions in valuation for PROW 
within hereditaments 1538 and 1451 are consistent with existence of various 
public footpaths later recorded in the DMS. 

Page 91



Page 15 of 48 

1.44. The Finance Act evidence does not suggest that Route 1 was a vehicular 
carriageway and does not clearly show that a bridleway existed around 1910. 

Records relating to the development of the first Definitive Map and Statement  
under Part IV of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949: 

Survey Schedules (‘Walking Schedules’) (Items E23a to d) 

1.45. The development of the first DMS under the 1949 Act commenced with a 
survey by the West Riding County Council (WRCC) of paths over which public 
rights of way were alleged to subsist. Information about paths in Meltham was 
furnished by Meltham Urban District Council (‘the UDC’). A map would have 
been submitted to the County Council, accompanied by schedules describing 
the various paths, dated December 1951. The map for the Meltham district 
appears not to have survived. The survey schedule (otherwise the “walking 
schedule”) corresponding with the path later recorded as footpath Meltham 38 
(MEL/38) is found at item 23a in appendix E. Schedules describing other paths 
which cross or terminate on Meltham 70 have also been examined. 

1.46. The schedule for path 60 (later numbered as part of Meltham 38) described the 
way as a footpath. The starting point was given as ‘Knowle Lane’. The ‘ultimate 
destination of path’ was stated to be ‘Wood Nook’. A detailed description was 
given of this path. The description includes part of Meltham 38 to the west of 
Lower Cote, the status of which is not in question. The schedule states the path 
was surveyed by Mr Edward Waller and Mr Edward Taylor. The date of survey 
is not stated, however the walking schedules for paths now recorded as 
Meltham 39, 40 and 53 indicate they were surveyed by the same people in April 
1951. The reason for believing the path to be public was recorded as 
‘Uninterrupted user by public for fifty years or more’. 

1.47. The schedule records concise information about various features found along 
the path including gates, stiles, steps and general surface condition. The 
description given was:  

“Windy Bank Road through wood SE of cottages passing other paths and along 
South side of wall to weir and North of Boathouse to Meltham Mills Reservoir. 
(a) path along North Bank of Reservoir with occasional step-up bank to pass 
water level  and North to join (b). (b) rough path further north through wood. 
Both paths meet a stile with 4 stone steps over wall. Grass track across  field to 
a wicket gate and a second wicket gate through Lower Cote [?????]y and to 
cart road for Wood Nook.” 

1.48. It is the last part of this description – “cart road for Wood Nook” -  that describes 
the part of modern Meltham 38 under investigation. The physical description in 
the schedule includes detailed descriptions of gates and stiles on part of the 
path west of Lower Cote. The same surveyors also gave detailed descriptions 
of other paths in the area, including gates and stiles. Had there been any gate 
or other structures on the ‘cart road for Wood Nook’ at the time of survey it is 
likely that such structures would have been recorded. 

Page 92



Page 16 of 48 

1.49. The schedule does not suggest any width in feet. But regarding the ‘average 
width and general condition’ it states, “Beginning and towards the end a good 
wide track but somewhat rough through the wood and narrow”. It is likely that 
the part Meltham 38 that is the subject of application 1 (link MEL/38/100) is the 
part described as a ‘good wide track’, and some weight should be given to this 
description of the width, notwithstanding that the whole of FP MEL/38 was later 
recorded as having a lesser width. 

1.50. The survey schedule only gives the destination of the path as the general 
locality of ‘Wood Nook’ and the route between points C and D would 
subsequently not be shown on the definitive map. A plan would have been 
submitted to the County Council showing the ways being claimed. This has not 
been located, so the intended termination points of the path described in the 
schedule remains unclear. However, it is considered unlikely that public rights 
of way would not in fact have extended all the way to Wood Nook Lane at point 
D.   

1.51. The survey failed to include A-B (now Meltham 70), or what is now FP Meltham 
63 (otherwise known as ‘Lower Greave Road’). This is despite other claimed 
footpaths terminating on those routes. It is possible that, along with Lower Cote 
Road and Lower Greave Road,  the surveyor, rightly or wrongly, considered the 
way between C and D to be an all-purpose vehicular highway and thus not a 
type of highway to be recorded in the definitive map and statement. However, it 
is considered more likely that the intention had been to describe a footpath from 
Knowl Lane to Wood Nook Lane, and the failure in the survey schedule to 
describe a specific termination point on another highway at Wood Nook rather 
than a general locality, led to misinterpretation of the termination point on the 
first and current definitive maps. The manner in which C-D is depicted on the 
OS base mapping used may also give the impression that the way was an ‘all 
purpose’ highway.10

1.52. The survey schedule for modern footpath Meltham 40 (surveyed as path 57)  
also gives the same ultimate destination of ‘Wood Nook’, although the detailed 
description more helpfully describes it as leading “to metalled road (Wood Nook 
Lane). The termination point of that path is approximately 75m SW along Wood 
Nook Lane from point D, So it is clear that the ‘ultimate destination’ on both 
walking schedules was describing the generally locality only. 

1.53. The same survey schedule gives a detailed description of the features found on 
Meltham 40. It also describes the footpath crossing what is now Meltham 40, 
naming the route crossed as ‘Lower Cote Road’ and describing the surface at 
that point (‘rough stones’). 

10 Another possibility for the exclusion of C-D is that it was understood by Meltham Council or its 
surveyors that the area was the awarded ‘watering place’ in the Honley Inclosure Award and 
deliberately not claimed, although this is speculation. 

Page 93



Page 17 of 48 

1.54. The schedule for path 58 (modern footpath Meltham 53) describes the ‘ultimate 
destination’ as Lower Cote Road. This footpath terminates on Meltham 70 at  
point A2. ‘Lower Cote Road’ was not included in the survey. The most likely 
explanation would be that the surveyor, rightly or wrongly, considered it to be a 
public vehicular highway. 

Draft Map (Relevant Date 22 September 1952) (E24) 

1.55. The Draft Map and Statement was prepared by West Riding County Council  
and shows those public footpaths, bridleways and ‘roads used as public paths’,  
surveyed and ‘claimed’ by the district councils, that subsisted, or were 
reasonably alleged to subsist, at the ‘relevant date’ of 22nd September 1952. 
The Draft Statement would have contained details such as the approximate 
width of the paths shown on the map and any limitations such as gates or 
stiles, the location of such limitations also being indicated on the Draft Map. 
The draft map included footpaths Meltham 38, 39, 40 and 53 but did not include 
public rights of way over ‘Lower Cote Road’ or the nearby ‘Lower Greave 
Road’. MEL/38 was only shown to point C west of Wood Nook and not through 
to Wood Nook Lane at point D. 

Extract from Meltham UDC Minutes (18th May 1953) (E25) 

1.56. Minutes of a Meltham UDC meeting of 18 May 1953 refers to a 
recommendation of the Public Health and Plans committee in respect of  the 
omission of various footpaths from the Draft Map: 

1.57. The resolution reads: 

“(315) that the Plans Officer be authorised to make representation to the west 
Riding County Council  to amend Draft Maps prepared under National Parks 
and Access to the Countryside Act 1949, so as to include footpaths and parts of 
footpaths, on the map, which were omitted when the map was prepared, and 
are as detailed in the Plans Officers Report.” 

1.58. The Meltham UDC minutes make no further reference to this, and the report 
referred to has not been found. However, it is likely that Lower Cote Road) 
would have been one of the omitted footpaths referred to. There is no indication 
that Meltham UDC considered higher public rights to exist.  

Objections  / Representations to the Draft Map and Statement: 

Report Form – addition of footpath (E26a) 

Representation Schedule – addition of footpath Meltham 70 (E26b) 

1.59. It is unclear if there was contact in 1953 between the ‘Plans Officer’ at Meltham 
UDC and the WRCC about ‘omitted footpaths’, as authorised. However, on 7th 
March 1956 the clerk to Meltham UDC did submit 12 objections and 31 
representations regarding paths shown on the draft map, or paths that had not 
been included on it. This includes, inter alia, a representation requesting the 

Page 94



Page 18 of 48 

addition of the footpath now recorded as Meltham 70. No representation was 
made in respect of Meltham 38 or regarding the way from C-D. 

1.60. Files held by Kirklees Council do not includes a copy of Meltham UDC’s actual 
submission. Nor do they include any additional survey schedules which would 
have generally been completed by a district council when submitting 
representations for the addition of paths not shown in the Draft Map and 
Statement. 

1.61. The Council’s files do include ‘Report Forms’. These describe the objections / 
representations and the date made, list standard documentary sources which 
had been checked, and give recommendations as to the required modification 
of the draft map and statement.   

1.62. The Council also holds typed schedules for each of the objections and 
representations. The Objection schedules include the name of the objector, the 
nature of the objection, and the recommended modifications to the draft map 
and statement. The Representation schedules include under ‘Description of 
route’ the entry recommended by officers to be added to the Statement. This 
includes the contents to be included  under the ‘Description of Route’, ‘Nature 
of Surface’, ‘Approximate Length’, Approximate Width’ and ‘General’ columns.
11  The Schedules also include ‘Nature of Representation’, ‘Representation 
made by’ and ‘Recommended modification to Draft Map and Statement’. 

1.63. For each ‘representation’, including that to add as a footpath Meltham 70, the 
‘nature of representation’ was stated to be ‘That this is a public footpath’. The 
date of 7.3.56 was also recorded. In all case the recommendation of County 
Council officers was to ‘Add’, although in some cases the description was of 
‘bridleway’ rather than the footpath suggested in the representation.  

1.64. For all the representations (for the inclusion of additional PROW), including 
Meltham 70, where the recommendation was to add a footpath, the 
approximate width recommended by officers to be recorded in the statement 
was 4 feet. Where the recommendation was to add a bridleway the width to be 
recorded in the statement was 8 feet. These are understood to be ‘standard’ 
widths for footpaths and bridleways that were considered by County Council 
officers to be sufficient and are unlikely to reflect the actual lateral extent of 
public rights then in existence. No width was recorded under ‘nature of 
representation’ for any such routes, including Meltham 70, suggesting the 
widths to be recorded had not been provided by Meltham UDC. For Meltham 70 
the full width between walls would have been, and remains, significantly greater 
than 4 feet. It is considered that the recommended width cannot be relied upon 
as representing the full lateral extent of the public footpath that subsisted at that 
time. 

11 The  ‘General’ column in the West Riding  Statements includes limitations and conditions such as gates or 
stiles, and also features such as bridges and steps.  

Page 95



Page 19 of 48 

1.65. The Representation schedule for the path to be added as Meltham 70 (E26b) 
states: 

“Footpath commencing at its junction with Greave Road, Wilshaw and 
proceeding in a northerly direction to its junction with Path No. 38 at Lower 
Cote.  

Ashed and roughly metalled. 
0.55 miles 
4 ft. wide. 
No direction signs.” 

1.66. The ’Description of route’ for Meltham 70 makes no mention of any structures, 
or other limitations / conditions. Had there been recordable limitations on 
Meltham 70 it is expected they would have been described. 

Provisional and Definitive Maps and Statements and associated documents: 

West Riding of Yorkshire Definitive Map (Relevant Date 22 September 1952) 
(E27a) 

Statement accompanying the 1952 Definitive Map (E27b) 

1.67. There is no record of any objection or representation having been made 
relating to the depiction of Meltham 38 in the Draft Map and Statement. As a 
result, the route was included in the same manner in a Provisional and finally 
Definitive Map and Statement. Footpath Meltham 70 was also included. 
Extracts from the first Definitive Map and Statement (Relevant Date 22 
September 1952), otherwise referred to as the ‘1952 Definitive Map and 
Statement’, are included at items 27a and b in appendix E. 

1.68. The 1952 Definitive Map shows footpath Meltham 38 stopping short of Wood 
Nook Lane (i.e., at or near Point C). However, the accompanying Statement 
describes the way as proceeding “…to its junction with Wood Nook Lane at 
Wood Nook”. This suggests that intention had been to record a footpath to  
Wood Nook Lane at point D. The 1952 Statement gives the width for all parts of 
Meltham 38 as approximately 4ft. Wicket gates and stiles are mentioned in the 
Statement and indicated on the map on other parts of  Meltham 38. There are 
no indications of any gates or other structures on this part of Meltham 38. 

1.69. The 1952 Definitive Map shows Meltham 70 as a footpath. There are no 
annotations to any indicate gates, stiles or other limitations, and the entry in the 
accompany Statement is as per the Representation schedule described above.  

Page 96



Page 20 of 48 

Review of the Definitive Map: 

Draft Revision Map (E28a)  

Draft Revision Statement (E28b) 

1.70. A review of the Definitive Map commenced in the late 1970s, with a Draft 
Revision Map being produced late in 1979 and placed on deposit for public 
inspection in 1980. Meltham 38 and Meltham 70 are recorded in the Draft 
Revision Map and Statement in in a similar way to the 1952 DMS, with a 
reduction in the number of stiles on Meltham 38 recorded in the Statement from 
3 to 1, and removal  from in the entry for Meltham, 70 of the words “No direction 
signs”. 

1.71. There had been some communication with local residents in 1973, followed up 
by a resident in 1978, regarding the status of Route 1. (This is described and 
discussed in more detail below). This resulted in advice to submit evidence 
forms, describing equestrian user, for consideration as part of the review. 
However, there is no evidence of such submissions having been made. There 
is no record of any objection of representation being made in respect of the 
continued depiction of Meltham 38 and Meltham 70 as footpaths on the draft 
revision map. 

1.72. The review was formally abandoned following the introduction of new 
procedures under the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 (“the 1981 Act”) for 
keeping the DMS under continuous review and the making of individual 
DMMOs. A modified Definitive Map was published in 1985 footpaths Meltham 
38 and 70 as per the  Draft Review map and statement. 

Correspondence between Wood Nook residents and the County Council in the 

1970s: 

Letter to County Council Clerk  from Mr Kenneth England  and Mr Austin 
Holroyd. Dated  5th March 1973. (E29) 

Letter to WYMCC from Mr Austin Holroyd. Dated 25 April 1978. (E30) 

Letter to Mr Austin Holroyd from WYMCC. Dated 28th April 1978. (E31) 

Letter to WYMCC from Mr Austin Holroyd. Dated 24 June 1978  (E32) 

Letter from Mr Austin Holroyd to WYMCC. Dated 27 June 1978. (E33) 

1.73. The Council’s files on paths Meltham 38 and Meltham 70 contain a number of 
items of correspondence from the 1970s which are of relevance to the status of 
the  routes in question or the question of structures on Meltham 70. 

1.74. By 1973 the West Riding County Council had commenced the process of 
reviewing the Definitive map and Statement for this part of the county. 

Page 97



Page 21 of 48 

1.75. A copy of a letter (“the 1973 letter”) from Kenneth A England of Wood Nook 
Farm 12 and  Austin F Holroyd (both since deceased) described having 
evidence of over 20 years use “and due to their nature and width” they wished 
to ‘register’ various footpaths as bridleways. This included Meltham 70, and 
Meltham 38 from ‘east end to Lower Cote’. Messrs England and Holroyd stated 
that they would be “glad to bring forward at least 10 reputable persons  to any 
enquiry as and when required’. They went on to request that they be advised 
when the “documentary evidence, which is available any time, is needed to 
substantiate our claim.” 

1.76. The review of the definitive map was delayed due to local government re-
organisation and would not recommence until 1978. It appears that the 
evidence referred to in the 1973 letter was not submitted to the County Council. 

1.77. The letter provides some evidence that there had been equestrian use of the 
route of the route by 1973, but as the evidence of use that was referred to has 
not been found, whilst being evidence of reputation and supporting later user 
evidence, the letter itself carries only limited weight.  

1.78. The copy of the 1973 letter found on file had been sent to WYMCC on 25th April 
1978, accompanying a further letter from Mr Holroyd 13 seeking clarification of 
the status of various ways. The letter indicated Mr Holroyd was under the 
impression that all the paths mentioned in the 1973 letter had been upgraded to  
bridleways “because of their width, condition, and long usage as such”. He 
wished to enquire whether the ways were bridleways, and if so, what steps 
would be taken to upgrade them. 

1.79. Mr Holroyd described a recent obstruction of and a challenge to equestrian use 
of paths Meltham 38 and 70. He stated: 

“However, Manor Farm at Wilshaw has recently changed hands, and the new 
manager has wired off paths 38 and 70, leaving only access for walkers, and 
incidentally, been very abusive to a middle-aged lady who rode down there in 
all innocence, as she has done for many years, the other day.”    

1.80. Following a further exchange of correspondence, on 27th June 1978 Mr Holroyd 
was supplied with blank ‘Information Sheets’  (i.e., ‘user evidence forms’) to be 
completed by users and returned to the County Council in connection with the 
review. 

1.81. The description of the ‘wiring off’ of the route leaving only an access for walkers 
is consistent with later evidence submitted on behalf of the applicant for 

12 Wood Nook Farm is the property to the north and east of  Meltham 38, near Wood Nook House.  It 
does not include land crossed by the order route, at least at present, but  Mr England would have 
been well placed to know of the use of the route.   

13 The address given by Mr Holroyd was Honey Head, Wood Nook.

Page 98



Page 22 of 48 

application 2 that at gate on Meltham 70 (i.e., at A1) was locked when the 
Manor Farm property  was purchased in 1977.14 However, only one instance of 
challenge was described. This may have been sufficient to bring a public right 
of way for equestrians into question, although there is no indication the issue 
was raised by other people. The reference to ‘wiring off’ also supports an 
assertion made that that there had been structures or obstructions on Meltham 
70 around 1977. The significance of this will be considered in more detail 
below, when considering the user evidence and evidence for limitations at point 
A1.  

Conclusions regarding the preparation and review of the Definitive Map and 

Statement, including correspondence in the 1970s 

1.82. The depiction of the survey schedule of the route between B (Lower Cote) and 
the general locality of 'Wood Nook' is consistent with a public footpath along a 
cart road. The description of a 'good wide track' is consistent with a public 
footpath subsisting over the whole available width between boundaries and 
some weight should be attached to this. The lack of description of the 
termination point may have contributed to the part from C-D near Wood House 
having not been shown in the draft map and later first definitive maps as a 
footpath. It is likely that the intention was to record a public footpath to Wood 
Nook Lane. 

1.83. The route later recorded as Meltham 70  ('Lower Cote Road’) was not originally 
claimed, likely because it was considered rightly or wrongly as a public 
vehicular road but was added as a footpath following a representation from 
Meltham UDC. No limitations were described. A width of 4ft was subsequently 
recorded in the first DMS for Meltham 70 but cannot be wholly relied upon as 
this is likely to have been a ‘standard’ width for a footpath as per County 
Council practice and is unlikely have reflected the full lateral extent of the public 
right of way. No limitations were recorded in spite of an opportunity to do so 
and absent clear evidence to the contrary it must be assumed no limitations 
existed. 

1.84. A review of the Map and Statement took place in the late 1970s. Despite earlier 
correspondence from residents in the Wood Nook area in 1973, repeated in 
1978 no additional evidence of equestrian use was submitted. The 
correspondence provides some evidence of reputation only.  

1.85. Analysis of the documents as a whole suggests the width of Meltham 70 and 
Meltham 38 may have been under recorded, but there is only limited evidence 
to  suggest the early existence of higher rights over Route 1. The 
correspondence  from the 1970s  does provide evidence of reputation that the 
way was a bridleway, and is generally consistent with  the user evidence, 

14 The Manor Farm property is understood to have been purchased by a predecessor of the current Company.   

Page 99



Page 23 of 48 

although there is some evidence  obstruction of the route and challenge to one 
equestrian user  around 1978 by a person associated with Manor Farm  

 Extracts from ‘The History of Wilshaw’ (E34) 

1.86. Applicant 1 provided several extracts from ‘The History of Wilshaw’, written and 
published by Alfred Taylor in 1961. A full copy of this book has been obtained. 
Pages 51, 56 and 60-62 are included at item 34 in appendix E.

1.87. ‘The History of Wilshaw’ is mainly concerned with the development of the 
village of Wilshaw in the mid-19th century and is focussed principally on the life 
of Joseph Hirst, a woollen manufacturer and merchant, originally from Lower 
Greave, who consolidated estates in the area and was responsible for the 
development of Wilshaw in the mid-19th century. The book does not contain 
references but acknowledged the assistance of Mrs J R Kirby for the use of 
private Hirst family papers.

1.88.  An extract provided the applicant described the purchase at auction in 1871 of 
the ‘Upper Greave’ estate, including ‘Cote Farm and part of Wood Nook’ (page 
51) 15 Reference was also made refers to the demolition of Upper Greave in  
1873 and replacement with 12 cottages known as St Mary’s Court.16 Joseph 
Hirst died 11 December 1874 and was buried on 16 December. 17 It appears 
likely that construction of ‘Lower Cote Road’ and the rearrangement of fields as 
seen on the first edition 25-inch map would also have taken place between 
1871 and 1874. This does not provide evidence of public use of the road, or of 
dedication of public highway, but establishes a timeframe for the likely 
construction of a road from Wilshaw Road to Lower Cote.

1.89. The land later passed through the ownership of two of Joseph Hirst’s nephews 
and into the hands of Henry James Hirst sometime after 1914. 18 The book 
includes part of the later history of the estate and describes various other  
parcels of land held by the Eleanor Hirst trustees 19, this did not include the 

15 ‘The ‘History of Wilshaw’ also refers to a map of the land for auction which c.1961 was in the 
possession of Joseph Hirst’s great grandniece Mrs J R Kirby, at the ‘Manor House’, Wilshaw. Mrs 
Kirby died in 1996 and the current whereabouts of this map is not known. The purchase of land and 
buildings including Upper Greave, Cote and Wood Nook, from the executors of Henry Shaw’s nephew 
James Shaw is also rereferred to in a more recent book. Pp 165-166 of ‘From Cottage to Mill’,  Bob 
Hirst, 2022. Available at 
https://huddersfield.exposed/wiki/From_Cottage_to_Mill_(2022)_by_Bob_Hirst

16 Page 51.   

17 Page 56. 

18 Page 60. 

19 Described on Page 62 The Eleanor Hirst Trust was established under terms in the will of  Joseph 
Hirst’s widow Eleanor Hirst for maintenance of almshouses provided during her lifetime. The charity 
still manages almshouses in Wilshaw to this day. 

Page 100

https://huddersfield.exposed/wiki/From_Cottage_to_Mill_(2022)_by_Bob_Hirst


Page 24 of 48 

land over which the route in question runs. The description given of the history 
of ownership of land does not suggest any indication of any lack of capacity to 
dedicate a public right of way in the period in which the land was owned by the 
Hirst family. 20

Conclusions on ‘The History of Wilshaw’  

1.90. Overall, the material in the ‘History of Wilshaw’ is helpful in understanding the 
history of the development of the village of Wilshaw, and regarding land 
purchase and ownership from the 19th century. It establishes a likely timeframe 
for the construction the road since recorded as Meltham 70. However, it 
provides no evidence of any higher rights or of early origins as a public 
bridleway or vehicular road.  

Planning application documents (Application ref 89/62/02151/C2):  

Observations of Kirklees Council Technical Services. With annotated site plan 
showing public footpaths Meltham 38 and Holmfirth 70) (E35) 

1.91.  In 1989 officers were consulted on a planning application for an extension and 
other work at Wood Nook Farm. The red line boundary abutted the route near 
point D.   

1.92. An officer in Kirklees Council Technical Services observed that: 

 “Meltham public footpath no. 38 abuts the southern side of the side of the site. 
This should not be obstructed in any way during or after development.”  

1.93. The response was also accompanied by an annotated plan showing in purple 
the  public footpaths at Wood Nook. FP Meltham 38 was drawn extending all 
the way to point D.   

1.94. The plan and comments clearly indicate that at that time officers considered 
that footpath Meltham 38 extended all the way to Wood Nook Lane at point D 
and did not in fact terminate at point C. While there is no suggestion that the 
route was considered to carry higher rights, these documents do provide 
evidence that C-D was a public footpath. 

Diversion of FP Meltham 40 near Manor House Farm, and related documents:  

Kirklees Metropolitan Council (Public Footpath No. 40 (part) Meltham Manor 
Farm Lower Greave Wilshaw Huddersfield) Public Path Diversion Order 1991)  
(E36) 

20  Reference was made to the sale of Manor Farm on 31 December 1943. Deeds submitted by 
solicitors acting for the Company do refer to a mortgage in 1943 which may have affected the 
capacity to dedicated PROW in that brief period. See abstract of title at item 13 in appendix I.     

Page 101



Page 25 of 48 

Letter from The Ramblers to Kirklees Council re FP.40 (Meltham/ Holmfirth) – 
Obstructions etc. Dated 10 May 1995 (E37) 

Letter from Kirklees Council to Architecture & Design Partnership. Dated 21 Feb 
1997. (E38) 

1.95. Footpath Meltham 40 previously ran immediately north of buildings at Manor 
Farm. This in the same general vicinity, though possibly not the exact position, 
as part of  ‘Route 2’ identified on plans accompanying seven user evidence 
forms.  

1.96. FP Meltham 40 was diverted by an Order made in 1991 and confirmed as an 
un-opposed Order in 1998. 

1.97. In 1995, prior to confirmation of the Order, the Ramblers complained of the 
unavailability of any route to the north of  Manor Farm: 

“At Grid Ref. 11730997 Manor House there was no way through the farmyard 
and no signing…. There is no trace of the path on the ground”. 

The grid reference given is at the junction of Meltham 40 with Meltham 63, 
north west of farm buildings at Manor Farm 

1.98. In February 1997 a letter was sent to Architecture & Design Partnership (as 
agent for ‘P & D Coles’) regarding the  obstruction of path Meltham 40 at Manor 
Farm. There was also reference to ‘Keep Out’ notices. The 1997 letter also 
advised that the 1991 diversion order could be confirmed on satisfactory 
provision of the new footpath. 

1.99. Photographic evidence also suggests that any way available since the early 
2000s to 2015 curved northwards up to around 8 metres from the northern side 
of the farm buildings and was not the original or formally diverted routes of FP 
Meltham 40.  

1.100. In conclusion, this evidence points to the physically unavailability for a period in 
the 1990s of Route 2 north of Manor Farm. Also, to the legal stopping up of a 
public footpath in that vicinity. Both would have been within the relevant 20-year 
period for the purposes of s31 Highways Act 1980. This will be considered in 
further detail below when considering the user evidence. 

Other documentary evidence 

Photographs 

1.101. Various photographs taken between c1994 and 2020 are included at items 2 
and 3 in appendix B. These have been annotated to indicate locations and key 
features. Google Street View photos of points A and D (various dates between 
2009 and 2015) are included at item 4 in appendix B. 

Page 102



Page 26 of 48 

1.102. Photographs show a well-defined enclosed route extending all the way from A-
D. 

1.103. The earliest photographs date from c1994/1995 and show the start Meltham 70 
at point A  looking towards A2 and from Wood Nook Lane (point D) towards 
point C. An additional photograph of part of Meltham 70 was taken in the late 
1990s. The photos of A-A1 in 1994/1995 show wooden gateposts at A1 and the 
metal pole on the west side of the route, although no gate was in situ across 
the track. Early photographs from point D show a white metal gate at point C2, 
in open position. Photographs from 2015 show a metal T bar structure at point 
A1. 

1.104. No photographs of the route show any signs, except public footpath signposts, 
except for those taken in 2016 or later which show ‘public footpath only’ signs 
at A1 and C2. 

1.105. Photographs also show the concrete surface of Meltham 70, from point A to 
point A5, including the former position of gateposts at A1.  

1.106. The photographs do not suggest any structures, obstructions that would have 
been incompatible with use of the way on horseback or by pedal cycle, 
excepting the installation and  subsequent locking of gate (with adjacent 
barriers) at A1 in 2016. 

1.107. Photographs do show wooden barriers  across part of the width of MEL 70 at 
point A8 and at point C on MEL/38. These appear to have been installed by 
Kirklees Council following a complaint of ‘unsafe’ Pedal cycle and quad bike 
use’ in 2010, to act as a visual deterrent / to reduce speed. 21 They would not 
have prevented equestrian use.   

Photographs supplied with application 1 (E39) 

1.108. Applicant 1 supplied nine photographs taken in winter (prior to 6 January 2016) 
with various features along the route annotated, including the water trough at 
point A10 , ‘vehicle bridge’  at Bank Dike at point A9 and a ‘mounting block’ 
near Wood Nook House. Eight of these photographs are of route A-D. A 
photograph showing gates across a track was taken at point E on the additional 
route from A3 towards Manor Farm and Manor House. (Routes 2 / 3). The 
photos show the physical condition of the routes immediately prior to 
submission of the DMMO application and include a photo of a metal ‘T bar in 
the centre of the track at point A1 and an open gateway at point C2. Several of 
these photographs have been included at item 2 in appendix B with other 
photographs of Route 1. 

21 See summary of  relevant requests to Kirklees Council at item 42 in appendix E

Page 103



Page 27 of 48 

Photo taken at Lower Cote Farm  1958/9. (E40) 

1.109. A photograph was also subsequently provided by applicant 1 that shows a car 
somewhere in the vicinity of Lower Cote Farm (or between points B and C). 
The photograph appears to show in the background the route of Lower Cote 
Road (MEL/70). It was stated that this dated from the 1958/59. Accepting this at 
face value, the photograph does no more than suggest that of the route from 
Wood Nook to Lower Cote could be used with motor vehicles in that period but 
provides little or no evidence to support public vehicular status.    

Kirklees Bridleways Group Facebook post regarding fallen tree (E41) 

1.110. Applicant 1 provided a screenshot of a Kirklees Bridleway Group Facebook 
post from 28 December 2014. A photograph shows a  fallen tree across 
Meltham 70, just north of the wooden barrier at point A8. The post stated ‘Coles 
track’ at the side of Meltham Golf Club is closed to horse rides [sic] due to a 
fallen tree.”. Further comments name a person who had been contacted about 
the tree. That may be person associated with Wood Nook House or the 
Company, although it appears that the tree may have fallen from land not in 
their ownership. The post and comments suggest contact between members of 
KBG and one of the landowners and awareness that equestrian use was taking 
place in 2014 although very little weight can be attached. 

Conclusions regarding photographs 

1.111. Photographs of Route 1 from 1994  show a well-defined route from Wilshaw 
Road to Wood Nook Lane. No photographs prior to 2016 show any signs or 
notices, save public footpath signposts at A and D various photographs show 
the area around point A1. Photographs from the mid-1990s onwards, while 
showing various gateposts and locations of  former structures at or near  points 
A and A1,  but do not show any  structures incompatible with use by 
equestrians, such as locked gates. Photographs generally suggest a route was  
open and available for use by riders, and do not support the case of applicant 
2.  

1.112. A photograph from the 1950s showing a car near Lower Cote does not assist  
with whether public rights existed.  

1.113. Several photographs supplied by the applicant show the physical condition of 
Route 1 and Route 2 around 2015 but do not assist with status.   A photograph 
of a fallen tree on Meltham 70  posted on Kirklees Bridleway Group’s Facebook 
page, along with accompanying comments, shows familiarity with the route by 
riders and possibly awareness of the route by a landowner, but has limited 
evidential value.   

Overall conclusions re documentary evidence 

1.114. Various maps and related documents from the late 18th century onwards show 
or make reference to parts of Route 1 and a physical road between (Lower) 
Cote and Wood Nook lane (B-C). There are documentary references to an 

Page 104



Page 28 of 48 

‘occupation road’ and the depiction on an early commercial map as a 'cross 
road' (although this is only weakly supportive of higher public rights). The 
depiction in various maps is consistent with a private or occupation road, 
although this does not preclude it also having been a public footpath. This 
includes that part from C-D not currently recorded. The evidence does not show 
the way was a public bridleway. It is apparent from various maps that the track 
followed by Meltham 70 did not exist in its current form until the second half of 
the 19th century. It was likely to have been built in the early 1870s, following 
purchase of land by Joseph Hirst, as described in the published history. There 
is no indication this new road was intended to be a public highway, although 
public rights of way have become established, at least footpath. Successive OS 
and OS derived maps depict the whole of Route 1 and provide of its physical 
existence but not of highway status. 

1.115. The 1910 Finance Act evidence is consistent with the existence of public 
footpaths or bridleways along the route in question  but and does not assist 
further. Other documentary evidence submitted with application 1 is  also of 
limited value in showing that higher rights that footpath exist. 

1.116.  Documents relating to the preparation and later review of the Definitive Map 
and Statement do not suggest higher rights than footpath (apart from various 
assertion from members of the public regarding equestrian use in the 1970s). 
They do suggest that widths of Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38 may have 
been under-recorded. There is no clear explanation for C-D not being shown on 
the Definitive Map but, simple error appears likely, and there is other evidence.  
Documents relating to the diversion of Meltham 40 cast doubt on suggestions 
of availability and use  by equestrians of a way near Manor Farm as suggested 
by some people. 

1.117. Available photographs showing  Route 1 are not inconsistent with the way 
being having been used  by equestrians or being a public bridleway and show 
nothing incompatible with this. No photos, including those of the area at A1, 
show any structure from the mid-1990s onwards that would have prevented 
such use. While suggesting various structures in the past, they do not support 
Applicant 2's application to record a locked gate at that location.  

2. User evidence 

2.1. User evidence forms (UEFs) have been completed by 64 individuals who 
claimed to have used the whole route from Wilshaw Road at Wilshaw (point A) 
to Wood Nook Lane at Wood Nook (point D) for various periods up to 2016, 
with claimed frequency of use ranging from very occasional through to daily.  
61 people claimed equestrian use. 29 people indicated use of a way on foot, 6 
with bicycle. One person described use with a vehicle in the early 1950s. The 
earliest claimed use was 1942 (on foot). Claimed equestrian use increased 
from the early 1980s. 

Page 105



Page 29 of 48 

2.2. The existence of a public footpath along Meltham 78 and Meltham 38, as 
currently recorded on the Definitive Map, is not in doubt. There is doubt, 
however, as to whether the currently recorded widths of approximately 1.2m / 
4ft accurately reflected the actual lateral extent of the public rights of way that 
existed at the relevant dates of the first or current Definitive Maps (1952 or  
1985). If the widths were correctly recorded, it is nonetheless also possible that 
public rights of way, e.g., footpath or bridleway to have since come into 
existence over a greater width. 

2.3. The user evidence may also assist with the question of whether limitations 
should be recorded on Meltham 70 at point A, as asserted in application 2. 

2.4. The user evidence has been analysed in the context of the tests under section 
31 of the Highways Act 1980 and in respect of dedication at common law. 

2.5. The frequency, types and periods of use claimed use, along with descriptions of 
the width used, are indicated the chart at item 2 in appendix A. A summary of  
comments and descriptions of gates and other obstructions is at item 3 in 
appendix A. A summary of comments about use of the way by other people, 
witnessed by those who completed UEFs, is at item 4 in appendix A. 

Section 31 Highways Act 1980 

2.6. Section 31 provides for a presumption of dedication as a highway after public 
use for 20 years. Subsection 1 reads: 

2.7. “Where a way over any land, other than a way of such a character that use of it 
by the public could not give rise at common law to any presumption of 
dedication, has been actually enjoyed by the public as of right and without 
interruption for a full period of twenty years, the way is deemed to have been 
dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence that there was no 
intention during that period to dedicate it.”  

2.8. The key elements required by this section are considered in turn below. 

Date of Bringing into Question 

2.9. The period of 20 years referred to in subsection (1) is calculated retrospectively 
from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought into 
question. 

2.10. In order for the right of the public to have been brought into question the right 
must be challenged by some means sufficient to bring it home to the public that 
their right to use the way is being challenged. 

2.11. In absence of an earlier action, the making of an application to modify the 
Definitive Map and Statement would have brought any unrecorded public rights 
into question. The DMMO application is dated 6 January 2016.  

Page 106



Page 30 of 48 

2.12. Various equestrians who completed user evidence forms refer to being 
challenged by a person near Wood Nook House on 24 August 2015 – and on 
further occasions over the following 2 months. A gate at point A2 was also 
found closed but not locked, with a car parked in front of the gate. Users also 
reported being asked or told not to ride the route as walkers had complained of 
the way becoming muddy. This is likely to refer to the condition of part of 
Meltham 38 between points B and C. Users also reported that around the same 
time a gate at point C2, previously generally unlocked and frequently open, was 
found closed and possibly blocked by a parked vehicle, thus affecting use by 
equestrians. These actions suggest the public right to use the way with horses 
was brought into question in August 2015. 

2.13.  Council records also include various request / enquiries from  with the  
residents at Wood Nook House, between 2010 and 2016, and also  other 
requests about the route in question. These are summarised at item 42 in 
appendix E. The nature of these contacts have been considered when 
assessing the likely date of bringing into question of any unrecorded rights.  

2.14.  A person associated with Wood Nook House had also contacted the Council 
on 26 August 2015 to report the confrontation with one of the horse riders 
referred to above and to seek advice. This supports the position that the right of 
way was brought into question in August 2015.  

2.15. Earlier, in 2010, the same person had reported issues of increased equestrian 
use and of near accidents with pedal cycles and quad bikes.  Notes of a 
subsequent meeting on site indicate that a council officer agreed to put up 
signs and make ‘pinch points’ to slow down traffic. 22 It is possible that Council 
signs  were supplied, which stated ‘No horses, no cycles, footpath only’ (or 
similar wording). However, there is no further evidence that these  signs were 
put up. There is no indication that any users of the way had been directly 
challenged in 2010. Pinch points / constructed gaps were installed, in the form 
of wooden barriers to either side of the route at points C and point A8. These 
would not have prevented use of the way by equestrians, walkers or cyclists 
and it is unlikely that rights were brought into question at that time.  

2.16. Reports were also received from members of the public in 2012 and 2013 of 
the dumping of garden waste on Meltham 38 near Wood Nook House. When 
inspected in 2012 this was considered not to have obstructed the public right of 
way.  

2.17. The agent stated that equestrians who did not have ‘express permission’ had 
been turned back. This included including one named rider in 2002 and another 
in 2006, as well as the documented challenge to use from August 2015. 23

22 See summary of requests to the Council at item 42 in appendix E. 

23 Claims contained in a response to the informal evidence gathering / consultation exercise in February 
2018. The response from the agent dated 09 April 2018, along with a later exchange of emails 
providing clarification of various assertions, is found at item 2 in Appendix G.    

Page 107



Page 31 of 48 

However no further details were provided of the earlier alleged challenges to 
users. The evidence is not sufficient to show that equestrian rights were 
brought into question prior to August 2015. 

2.18. Council files contain a report of a challenge to equestrians and the ‘wiring off’ of  
Meltham 38 / Meltham 70 by the new manager of Manor Farm in 1978. There 
was also a claim on behalf of the landowners that a gate was found locked at 
point A1 when the land was purchased in 1977. A single equestrian who 
completed a UEF also reported a locked gate in the period 1970 to 1980 and 
“barbed wire 1970 to 1975”. While it is possible that there was an earlier 
bringing into question of higher rights in the 1970s, the evidence is limited, and 
any action took place well before the commencement of a 20-year period 
ending in 2015. 

2.19. Officers consider that the challenges to equestrians in August 2015 brought 
public rights of way into question, particularly equestrian rights. The 20-year 
period is August 1995 to August 2015. 24

‘A Way’  

2.20. All witnesses who completed UEFs described use of a consistent route  
between Wilshaw Road (point A) and Wood Nook Lane (point D) (“Route 1”). 
This route was indicated on maps accompanying the evidence forms. The 
descriptions given clearly described the whole route between the public roads.  

2.21. For the majority of its length this route is bounded to both sides by dry stone 
walls. 25 The width between walls varying between approximately 5 to 6 metres 
This is consistent with the widths described by users – see summary at item 2 
in appendix A. The route is shown in a consistent manner on all OS maps 
published since the 1890s. 

2.22. Plans accompanying eight UEFs  were highlighted to show additional routes  
between Meltham 70 and  Wilshaw Road via Manor Farm and footpath 
Meltham 63 (Lower Greave Road). These routes were not included in the 
formal DMMO application. Seven people highlighted a route passing north of 
buildings at Manor Farm (“Route 2”) and two showed a route to the south of 
Manor House (“Route 3”). These additional routes were not otherwise 
mentioned in the UEFs. Other evidence suggests a way north of Manor Farm 

24 A gate was installed in January 2016 at point A on Meltham 70, shortly after the making of application 
1. The gate was subsequently locked. That action was later followed by the making of a DMMO 
application (application 2) to record limitations at that point, including a locked gate. It has been 
asserted on behalf of a landowner that there was an earlier locked gate in place until 2002. That 
would be within the identified 20-year period. However, the evidence for a gate, locked or not, being in 
place across Meltham 70 in that period is very limited and is contradicted by photographs and the 
overwhelming majority of the user evidence.

25 Except for an area near the ruins of Lower Cote Farm (point B) and possibly C-D where the surfaced 
route passes through a wider garden area.  

Page 108



Page 32 of 48 

was not physically available in the period 1995-1997, i.e., within the first three 
years of the  relevant 20-year period. Footpath Meltham 40 which ran 
immediately north of a farm building, was diverted in 1998.26 The evidence is 
insufficient to show consistent use of a single way near Manor Farm or Manor 
House throughout the relevant period. It is also possible that Route 3, south of 
Manor Farm, was not constructed until c1999-2000. 

‘…Actually enjoyed’  

2.23. All those who completed UEFs describes their own use of the whole of Route 1, 
including C-D which is not currently recorded on the Definitive Map. All but 
three users claimed use on horseback, half of those  who completed UEFs also 
described use of the route on foot. Six people also mentioned cycle use over 
various periods but provided little further detail. Many also described equestrian 
use of the route in the company of others or described seeing other horse 
riders, cyclists and walkers. 27

2.24. There is insufficient evidence of actual enjoyment of routes 2 and 3 in the 
vicinity of Manor Farm and Manor House. 

2.25. Many of the equestrians referred to keeping their horses in livery at stables in 
the area or attending nearby riding schools. Or described use of the route in 
connection with nearby riding schools or stables. In particular Westfield Farm 28

which is located approx. 500m along Wood Nook Lane from point D in a north 
westerly direction.29

‘…by the public’   

2.26. The overwhelming majority of those who provided user evidence appear to be 
members of the public and use was not in exercise of private rights. 

2.27. Two people indicated that they or their families owned or rented land crossed 
by or adjacent to the way and thus some of their use may be characterised as 
in exercise of private rights. 

2.28. No users indicated that had been employed by any of the landowners. 

26 See Confirmed Order at item 36 in Appendix E.  

27 A single person referred to vehicular use in the 1950s, although this use appears to have been 
private in nature when collecting parcel from Lower Cote, and outside the relevant 20-year period. 

28 Westfield Farm is referred to by some users as Wood Nook Stables or Honley Livery Stables. It is 
also home to Woodnook Arena. 

29 A second riding school – Bradshaw Road Stables -  is located about 1500m by road from point D in a 
generally easterly direction.

Page 109



Page 33 of 48 

2.29. The number of people who used Route 1 (A-D) are sufficient for use to be 
considered to be ‘the public’. 

‘… without interruption’  

2.30. Interruption means actual and physical stopping of the enjoyment of the public 
use of the way by the landowner or someone acting lawfully on his behalf. Use 
of the way does not need to have been constant. Any interruption must have 
been with the intention of preventing public use of a way, and not for some 
other purpose such as the parking of vehicles or the carrying out of building 
work.  

2.31. There is no clear evidence that enjoyment of the way A-D by equestrians had 
been interrupted during the relevant 20-year period. The landowner’s agent has 
asserted 30 that “expression permission” had been withdrawn on a number of 
occasions, including to “prevent intrusion during building work or family events 
family events… including express closures for all except footpath users, for a 
three-day period for a wedding in 2006”. It is assumed that this related to use of 
C-D near Wood Nook House. However, there is no further evidence that there 
had been actual and physical stopping of the use of the way with the intention 
of preventing public use. 

2.32. Some users referred to garden waste, roof tiles and other things being found – 
likely on Meltham 38 west of point C near Wood Nook House. There had also 
been complaints made to the Council about garden waste. However, there is no 
indication this actually interrupted enjoyment of the way. 31

2.33. It is possible that there may have been obstructions in the vicinity of Manor 
Farm in the period 1995 to 1997 that would have led to interruption of 
enjoyment of a way  (north of Manor Farm. 

2.34. There is no indication that the enjoyment of  Route 1 by pedestrians, including 
the part C-D not currently recorded on the Definitive Map, had been interrupted. 

‘… as of right’ 

2.35. User ‘as of right’ that might give rise to a presumption of dedication must have 
been nec vi (without force), nec clam (without secrecy) and nec precario
(without permission).   

30 See emails at item 2 in Appendix G.  

31  Recent site visits have confirmed that grass clippings and garden waste are still being dumped within 
the boundaries of the way near Wood Nook House, but passage over the majority of the width 
between walls is not prevented by this. 

Page 110



Page 34 of 48 

‘…without force’ 

2.36. There is no suggestion in the available evidence of any use of force to secure 
passage. 

‘… without secrecy’ 

2.37. For use to be as of right it must be open and of such a nature that it any 
landowner would have been aware that the way was being used, had they 
chosen to look, and so had been in a position to object.  

2.38. Again, there is no indication that any use been with secrecy. Route 1 passes 
close to / or through a garden at Wood Nook House. Use of the route would 
have been clearly visible to the owners of the property. A number of riders 
clearly indicated the residents were aware of walkers and riders passing Wood 
Nook House. Contact with the Council at various times clearly demonstrates an 
awareness of use by the public, including with horses, some years before any 
user was challenged.   

2.39. A number of other owners / occupiers of land crossed by or alongside Route 1, 
who were contacted as part of the investigation, also appear to have been 
aware that equestrian use had taken place. 

‘…Without permission’ 

2.40. Users, on foot or with horses, did not indicate, in general, that they had either 
sought or had been granted permission. The exception is one equestrian who, 
on their UEF, did indicate that they had been given permission to use Route 1 
by a landowner, but did not elaborate.  

2.41. The agent for applicant 2 asserted that:  

“Since the …occupation of the land there has been some limited use of the 
route by friends and neighbours with …express permission. Users with 
permission have included family, their friends…”as well as the naming the 
operator of a nearby stables and their “… livery users and their guests”. The 
agent was invited to provide further information about the people named but 
was unable to provide anything further. It was also stated by the agent that 
“express permission had been withdrawn on a number of occasions.” No further 
information was provided as to how this ‘express permission’ was granted to 
users, or when, or how withdrawal of express permission was communicated. 

2.42. There is no evidence of any signs or notices having been erected to indicate 
that equestrian use of Route 1, or any use of  C-D, was with the permission of 
the landowner.  

2.43. It can be concluded that use, including equestrian use of A-D, and pedestrian 
use of C-D was, in general, without permission.  

Page 111



Page 35 of 48 

‘… Full period of 20 years’   

2.44. There is evidence of equestrian use of the whole route A-D (Route 1), for the 
full period of 20 years up until the date of bring into question in August 2015.  
There is also evidence of pedestrian use, including of C-D for the full period of 
20 years. 

2.45. On a generous reading of the evidence there is claimed use of Route 2 north of 
Manor Farm by seven equestrians, collectively spanning the relevant 20-year 
period. However, there is doubt as to the actual availability of  that  route for the 
early part of the period 1995-2015. Of those who described use of any routes  
after 2004 and before 2001 there are only 6 users who  marked Route 2 on 
plans accompanying their UEFs. For route 3 the evidence of use for the full 
period of 20 years is weaker still. The evidence is insufficient to show that either 
Route 2 (north of Manor Farm) or Route 3 (south of Manor House) had been 
used for the full period of 20 years. 

Widths described by users   

2.46. The widths described by users are included in the summary chart at item 2 in 
appendix A The suggested widths vary considerably but  a number of people 
indicted the way was ‘two cars width’ or tractor width. The general sense is that 
the way available / used  was not narrow. This consistent with map and 
photograph evidence. It is likely that public use extended over the whole 
available width between boundaries. This is less certain in the area between C-
D where the route passes through a more open area, now with lawns to the 
side of a surfaced track. 

Descriptions by users of gates etc.  

2.47. A significant  number of people who completed UEFs described the white metal 
gate at C2 near Wood Nook House, many people refer to this being always or 
normally found open, although some equestrians referred to this gate being 
difficult to open, and if found closed, needing to dismount. The general 
impression is this gate  was more frequently found closed around 2015/2016. A 
number of users refer to the gate as never being locked. It is evident from the 
user and photographic evidence that the gate at  C2 has been in place for at 
least several decades.  Whether it may be recorded as a limitation may depend 
on whether it was in situ when the way was dedicated as a highway of any 
type. 

2.48. Users also referred to the recent installation and locking of gate at the ‘Wilshaw 
Road end’. i.e. at point A1 on Meltham 70. Unlike the gate near Wood Nook 
House, which was described by a significant number of users and appears to 
have been notable feature, there is little sense of users encountering a gate or 
gates at point A1 prior to 2015/2016. Had there been a closed but unlocked 
gate it is likely that people would have referred to this.  

2.49. One equestrian also referred to  the recent installation of a removable metal 
bollard – likely the T shaped post at A1 seen in various photographs. Another 

Page 112



Page 36 of 48 

rider also mentioned a barrier  ‘half way down by the golf course.’. This will be 
the wooden fence across part of the track at point A8. 

2.50. In general, the comments made regarding gates and other structures is 
consistent with  photographic evidence and observations of officers. 

2.51. A single user referred to a “wooden five bar gate at Wilshaw Road” and  
wooden small gate at Wilshaw Road” and also “large gate locked 1970-1980”. 
This suggests there may have been gates at A1 in the 1970s, but  that was well 
before any more recent 20-year period. 

2.52. The user evidence suggests there had not been any operable gates or other 
structures in place at point A1 throughout the recent 20-year period. Even if it 
could be demonstrated that structures existed at point A1 prior to the relevant 
date of the first definitive map, or had been previously authorised, and thus 
recordable as limitations, the evidence from users that gates had been absent   
suggest that there would have been re-dedication of public rights without any 
such limitations. 

2.53. Other evidence regarding gates or structures on Meltham 70 including evidence  
provided in support of Application 2, is considered in more detail below. 

Contrary intention   

2.54. The presumption described above may be rebutted where there is sufficient 
evidence that the landowner did not intend to dedicate a public right of way.  
There must have been some overt acts on the part of the landowner to show 
the public at large that the landowner had no intention to dedicate. The test is 
whether a reasonable user of the path would understand that the landowner 
was intending to disabuse the users of the notion that the way was a public 
highway. 

2.55. There is no clear indication from the user evidence that anyone was challenged 
when using any part of route A-D or the other two routes considered, within the 
relevant 20 year period. 

2.56. The agent for applicant 2 has indicated 32 that his client had ‘turned back’ 
equestrians who did not have ‘express permission’. Including one named rider 
in 2002 and another in 2006. There is no evidence of pedestrians being 
challenged (C-D being not currently recorded as a PROW on the Definitive 
Map). No further information was provided about these alleged challenges and 
the evidence of challenge is insufficient for to show that that any landowner did 
not intend to dedicate.  

2.57. Section 31(3) of the Highway Act 1980 provides that  

32 Email of 9 April 2016 in emails at item 2 in Appendix G. 

Page 113



Page 37 of 48 

“Where the owner of the land over which any such way as aforesaid passes— 

(a) has erected in such manner as to be visible to persons using the way a 
notice inconsistent with the dedication of the way as a highway, and 

(b) has maintained the notice after the 1st January 1934, or any later date on 
which it was erected,  

the notice, in the absence of proof of a contrary intention, is sufficient 
evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way as a highway.” 

2.58. There is no evidence of signs or notices inconsistent with the dedication of a 
way as a highway having being erected on route A-D until after the date of 
making of application 1.33 Signs reading ‘No horses’, ‘no cycling’ and ‘public 
footpath only’ or similar wording, may have been supplied by the Council to the 
owners of Wood Nook House in 2010 but do not appear to have been installed.  
No users mentioned the presence of such signs or notices. 

2.59. A sign near the gate at C2 reading PUBLIC FOOTPATH ONLY NO HORSES 
NO CYCLES”–  was observed in 2020. The sign was not in place when the 
route was visited on 25 November 2015. An identically worded sign was 
installed on the new gate at point A1 at some point in 2016.  

Deposits under Section 31(6) Highways Act 1980.  

2.60. Section 31(6) of the Highways Act 1980 provides further means by which an 
owner of land may demonstrate a lack of intention to dedicate additional ways 
as highways. An owner of land may deposit with the Council a map of the land 
and a statement indicating what ways (if any) any they admit have been 
dedicated as highways. The deposit of map and statement must be followed 
within a certain number of years 34 by the lodging of a declaration made by 
them or their successor in title to the effect that no additional way over the land 
delineated on the map has been dedicated as a highway since the date of the 
last deposit or declaration. In the absence of proof of a contrary intention, that 
would be sufficient evidence to negative the intention of the owner or his 
successors in title to dedicate any such additional way as a highway.

33 The agent has asserted that a sign reading “No access for horses or bikes without permission from 
the farm manager” was in place on the corner of a building a Manor Farm in 1977, i.e. at the west end 
of Route 2. No further information was provided. If in place as claimed, it is not known for how long 
such a notice was maintained, and there is no indication it survived into the later relevant 20-year 
period ending in 2015. From the position described, it would not be visible to persons using Meltham 
70 and it is unlikely that they would understand a sign or notice so positioned or worded to relate to 
equestrian or cycle use of Meltham 70. Further, no person who indicated use of a route near Manor 
Farm mentioned seeing such a sign.  

34 Currently 20 years, but previous 6, then 10. The number of years depends on the date of the original 
deposit, or any previous declaration lodged. 

Page 114



Page 38 of 48 

2.61. No owners of land crossed by Route 1 or the other routes identified have 
deposited a map and statement or made a declaration under s31(6) Highways 
Act 1980.  

2.62. The owners of Meltham Golf Club deposited such a map and statement in 
2001. The land identified on the map includes land abutting the west side of 
Meltham 70, between points A7 and A9. As the land crossed by the way is not 
within registered titles where it abuts the way, there is a rebuttable presumption 
that ownership of the sub soil extends to the centre line of the way. However, 
ownership to the centre of the way was not indicated on the deposited map 
itself.  Further, the deposit of a map and statement was not followed within 6  
years by a declaration to the effect that no additional public rights had been 
dedicated, so the initial deposit would have had no effect under s31(6), even if 
it had included land crossed by MEL/70.  

2.63. In conclusion, there is insufficient evidence to demonstrate that, during the 
relevant 20-year period, any landowner did not intend to dedicate additional 
public rights of way. Although there is an assertion that some equestrians (but 
not pedestrians) were challenged in 2002 and 2006, the evidence is insufficient 
to demonstrate to the public at large that use was being challenged. There is 
little evidence to show that notices demonstrating a contrary intention were in 
place, and no relevant deposits under s31(6).  

Conclusions regarding presumed dedication under s.31 Highways Act 1980 

2.64. There is ample evidence of equestrian use of the route between points A and D 
(Route 1), by the public, as of right, for a full period of 20 years to August 2015 
when equestrian rights were brought into question, to raise a presumption that 
a public bridleway has been dedicated. This includes use of the full length of 
Meltham 70 between Wilshaw Road and Lower Cote, the part of Meltham 38 
from Lower Cote to point C near Wood Nook House, and the currently 
unrecorded part from point C to point D at Wood Nook Lane. There is 
insufficient evidence that there was no intention to dedicate. The requirements 
of section 31 Highways Act 1980 are satisfied, and a public bridleway subsists.   

2.65. There is also ample evidence of use by the public on foot of the same route, 
including use of a greater width of Meltham 70 and part of Meltham 38 than the 
approximately 1.2m currently recorded. Also, of pedestrian use of C-D. Leaving 
aside the evidence of equestrian use of the same route, the evidence of use on 
foot, over the 20-year period to August 2015 would be sufficient on its own to 
satisfy the requirement of section 31 Highways Act 1980 and raise a 
presumption of dedication of a public footpath. Notwithstanding that a 1.2m 
wide public footpath is currently recorded over A-C and some pedestrian use 
must have been ‘by right’ not ‘as of right’. Apublic right of way on foot would be 
deemed to have been dedicated over the whole available width of route A-D 
(including over the width of the surfaced driveway near Wood Nook House).  

Page 115



Page 39 of 48 

2.66. The evidence is insufficient to show that any public rights of way subsist, or are 
reasonably alleged to subsist, over routes 2 and 3 near Manor Farm and Manor 
House.  

Dedication under Common Law 

2.67. A public right of way may come into existence at common law through 
dedication by the landowner and acceptance by the public. There may be 
express dedication (rarely) or implied. Dedication may be inferred from public 
use, as of right, over an undefined period of time, or through overt acts on the 
part of the landowner that demonstrate an intention to dedicate. There is no 
presumption of dedication, and the burden of proof is on the person asserting 
there has been such dedication. 

2.68. Under common law, a landowner must have capacity to dedicate a public right 
of way. There is evidence from deeds that there was a mortgage in place 
between December 1942 and December 1943 although not previously. 35 It is 
arguable that dedication may not have been possible during that period without 
the consent of the mortgagee. It is also known that more recently Manor Farm 
including the land between point A and point A6 has been leased, with a lease 
for 10 years from 2009 to 2019 having been registered. This may also be of 
relevance to the question of whether the holder of land had capacity to 
dedicate. However as there is strong evidence that shows a presumption of 
dedication under s31 Highways Act 1980, the case does not stand or fall on the 
question of capacity to dedicate under common law. 

2.69. There is no evidence that that there was express dedication of a public footpath 
or bridleway. However, there is evidence of equestrian use of the route from A-
D, commencing well before the relevant 20-year period considered under s31, 
from which dedication may be inferred. Some claimed public use goes back to 
at least the early 1950s. Aside from a possible challenge to equestrian use of 
Meltham 70 in the 1970s 36 and claims of limited challenges in 2002 and 2006 
the evidence generally indicates tolerance of / and acquiescence to equestrian 
use of the whole of Route 1 prior to 2015 by the owners the land crossed by the 
majority of the route, albeit with some complaint in more recent years of the 
impact of equestrian use on the surface condition of part of the route.  

2.70. Another owner of some of the land crossed by Route 1 has also indicated an 
awareness of equestrian use and appear to have acquiesced to that use. 

2.71. It is also likely that there had been dedication of a footpath over the whole of 
route to Wood Nook Lane by 1952. It is quite possible that dedication took 
place beyond living memory. A failure to formally record a public footpath over 

35 Reference to a mortgage is found in the abstract of title at item 13 in appendix I.  

36 There is limited evidence of a horse rider being challenged somewhere in the vicinity of Manor Farm 
in the 1970s, possibly on Meltham 70. 

Page 116



Page 40 of 48 

C-D on the Definitive Map (but include it in the statement) may have been an 
oversight. There is significant evidence of pedestrian use of C-D in more recent 
decades. It is likely that the owners of Wood Nook House would have been fully 
aware of use taking place throughout their period of ownership. Use of the 
route from points A-C would likely have been over a greater width that the 4ft or 
1.2m currently recorded. Notwithstanding any pre-existing public rights, the 
evidence of use on foot is sufficient to raise an inference of dedication of public 
right of way on foot over the whole width between boundaries. 

Application to Vary recorded particulars (Application 2) 

2.72. Application 2 is for an Order  to vary the recorded particulars of footpath 
Meltham 70 to record  “the restriction close to point A of a squeeze style 45cm  
wide next to a locked gate’. Point A is at / near the junction of Meltham 70 with 
Wilshaw Road. The officer report describes  position as point A1. The claimed 
arrangement would consist of a gap on the west side of Meltham 70, partially 
blocked by a vertical metal pole, with a single wide gate to the east of the gap. 

2.73. The application was accompanied by various  numbered documents. Some of 
these relate to the application process, enforcement action, or to path Meltham 
38 (subject of the separate bridleway claim) rather than containing evidence 
relating structures or limitations on Meltham 70 itself). The documents which 
are of evidential nature are included in Appendix I. This also includes a report 
(“document 6”) 37 prepared by the applicant’s lay advisor / agent. That report 
comments on various items of documentary evidence submitted and describes 
the situation found on the ground at points A and A1.  

2.74. The relevant items of evidence submitted with the application are considered in 
turn below and officers have also taken into consideration all other available 
evidence. 

2.75. Application 2 was submitted after the commencement of enforcement action 
against the Company in respect of unauthorised structures obstructing the 
public right of way. In response to that action solicitors acting for the Company 
had also submitted various evidence  and made a number of assertions about 
structures on Meltham 70.The material has been analysed in detail.    

2.76. The report prepared by the applicants lay advisor / agent is ‘Document 6’, at 
item 4 in appendix I. The specific evidential documents supplied are analysed 
below. A number of these items have already been considered in detail in the 
analysis of documentary evidence above. 

37 The report is at item 4 in appendix I.  The copy of the report supplied with application 2 was 
incomplete, However the Council had previously been supplied with a full copy.  

Page 117



Page 41 of 48 

Documents submitted with Application 2: 

Document 7: Extract from 1985 Definitive Map  - from Council’s GIS system 
(Item 5 in appendix I) 38

2.77. The current Definitive Map has no annotations to indicate any limitations on 
footpath Meltham 70. In contrast the map is annotated to show the existence of  
recorded limitations on other PROW in the area, such as stiles (S) wicket gates 
(WG) etc. The agent has asserted that the 1985 Definitive Map shows a gate at 
point A. This is incorrect. 

Document 8: Extract from 1952 Definitive Map (I6) 

Document 9: ‘Walking schedule’ from survey under NPACA 1949 39 (I7) 

Document 10: Extract from the Statement accompanying the first (1952) 
Definitive Map (I) 

2.78. The first Definitive Map and Statement and documents relating to its 
development are discussed in detail above. Footpath Meltham 70 had not been 
included on the draft map and was added at the further request of Meltham 
UDC. No structures were recorded as limitations. Had such structures existed 
there was opportunity for those to be recorded as limitations. That did not 
happen. It is possible that limitations did exist which were not described when a 
footpath was ‘claimed’; however, on balance, the evidence does not support 
that.  

Document 11: Letter dated 10 October 1985 (I9) 

2.79. This document is the first page of a letter describing the formal abandonment of 
a review of the Definitive Map and Statement following the introduction of 
different procedures for the making of DMMOs under the Wildlife and 
Countryside Act 1981 and the publication of a modified definitive map. The 
letter described the removal from the published review map of all ‘contentious 
matters’, i.e., those changes about which been objections had been submitted. 
and the publication of a modified definitive map and statement. There is no 
mention of Meltham 70. Additionally, officers are not aware of any  
representation / objection in relation to footpath Meltham 70. This continued to 
be shown as a footpath in the modified map and statement without recorded 
limitations. 

38 A further extract from the same map was also supplied with the application, with FP Meltham 38 
highlighted.  (“Document 14” at item 12 in appendix I. See also extract from the Definitive map 
included in appendix B).  

39 The survey schedule supplied with the application related to modern footpath Meltham 38 and not 
Meltham 70 and is of no relevance regarding the question of limitations on Meltham 70. 

Page 118



Page 42 of 48 

Document 12: Letter from Huddersfield Borough Engineer & Surveyor to 
Huddersfield CBC Town Clerk, dated 28 July 1965. (I10) 

2.80. This letter relates to the preparation of a draft map and statement by 
Huddersfield County Borough Council, for its area. This is of no relevance to 
development of the definitive map in Meltham Urban District. The West Riding 
County Council were responsible for the preparation Definitive Map covering 
Meltham. 

Document 13: West Yorkshire Metropolitan County Council memo dated 5 June 
1974 (I11) 

2.81. This memorandum relates to the preparation of a Provisional Map for the 
former Huddersfield County Borough area and has no relevance to this case. 

Material submitted by solicitors for the Company  

2.82. Solicitors for the Company made submissions in February and April 2019 
regarding gates and other structures on Meltham 70. These submissions 
included analysis of various documentary evidence as well as including a 
number of assertions regarding the evidence of four named witnesses who, it 
was claimed, had knowledge of Manor Farm and Meltham 70 over various 
periods between the 1940s and 2015. Letters from two of these witnesses were 
supplied but an address was provided for one witness only, and no other 
contact details provided. It has not been possible to investigate the witness 
evidence further. Some analysis of this evidence and the assertions made is 
included below. 

2.83. The general thrust of the case presented is that the Council’s predecessors 
erred in failing to record various limitations in the first Definitive Map and 
Statement, in particular a locked gate squeeze alongside, and that the 1985 
DMS is also deficient in this regard. 

2.84. The solicitors helpfully provided an abstract of title and a conveyance of 1956. 
These document the  sale of Manor Farm and Wilshaw Farm to Meltham and 
Meltham Mills Co-operative Society  Ltd. (“Co-op”) on 31 December 1943, and 
the sale in 1956 by the Co-op of Manor Farm and other property to David 
Brown Estates Ltd. documents are included at items 13 and 14 in appendix I.  

Evidence of Witness A 

2.85. Reference was made in a letter of 4 Feb 2019 to the directors of the Company 
(“the Directors”) having been in contact with a named witness (“Witness A”) 
who had knowledge of the Wilshaw area between the mid-1930s and the mid-
1950s. It was asserted that that the Directors had been advised by that witness 
that the concrete surface had been laid by the Co-op in 1947/48 and that “a 
farm gate was installed by the Co-op in 1948/1949 across the full width of the 
track in the same position as the [current] Gate (“Original Gate”) “The 
description given was of a large farm gate starting from the left (west) side of 

Page 119



Page 43 of 48 

the track adjacent to the wall, with a smaller gate on the right hand (east side) 
of the track.  

2.86. If accurate, this description indicates that the gates described would only have 
been in place for a short period prior to the relevant date of the first Definitive 
Map. Nor does the description match the arrangement of a gate with gap to left 
(west) side claimed as limitations in the application. No mention was made of 
On 1 April 20198 the solicitors supplied a copy of a letter sent by Witness A. 
This stated: 

 “…there was always a large gate and a smaller gate for pedestrians at the top 
of the lane off Wilshaw Road… and that there were “…two large gates 
spanning the lane about halfway down… to control the milk cows crossing the 
lane” 

2.87. Witness A’s letter did not state the exact positions of the large gate and smaller 
gate or make references to the installation of these gates in 1948/1949, as 
previously stated on behalf of the Directors. Although previously stated by the 
solicitors to be in the same place as the current gate, the April 2019 solicitors 
letter stated that “large gate and a smaller gate for pedestrians” was a 
reference to Witness A’s recollection of the gate denoted by the black line (at 
point A) on the 1892 OS map.   

2.88. It was also asserted by the solicitors that Witness A’s recollection of ‘two large 
gates about halfway down the track to assist with cattle movement” was a 
reference to the Original Gate installed around 1948/1949, referred to by the 
solicitors in a letter of 1 Feb 2019. However, the location described would be 
likely be near point A3 at the junction with the track towards Manor Farm, and 
not at point A or A1. 

2.89. It is evident that Witness A was referring to gates in two locations, with one set 
at or near points A or A1 and additional gates in place at some time nearer 
point A3. However, there is doubt as to which gates were claimed to have been 
installed in 1948/49 and whether there were earlier gates at the same location. 
If the claim is that that there were originally a gate or gates at point A and, for 
sake of argument, dedication had been subject to the existence of those gates,  
the absence of gates for many decades means it is likely that there will have 
been dedication or re-dedication of public rights without that limitation.   

2.90. On the other hand, if the gates stated to have been installed in 1948/9 were at 
or near point A1 although slightly pre-dating the relevant date of the first 
Definitive Map, it is entirely plausible that dedication of a public footpath had 
taken place prior long before 1948 and no limitations at A1 would be 
recordable. The is also little other evidence to show the continued existence of 
any gates at point A. 

Page 120



Page 44 of 48 

Evidence of  Witness B 

2.91. The solicitors supplied a copy of a letter from a second named witness 
(“Witness B”) which included observations and recollections about structures on 
Meltham 70. No address was provided. In addition to the comments in the 
letter, the solicitors asserted that Witness B had had confirmed separately that 
he recalled that the ‘Original Gate’ was in the same position as the ‘New Gate’ 
in the 1950s, This is consistent with assertions made by the solicitors in 
February 2019 regarding Witness A’s recollection of the location of the ’original 
gate’, being a large and small gate. 

2.92. Witness B’s family had lived at  Manor Farm between 1944 and 1949 (during 
the Co-op’s ownership) and they or their  family continued to live in the Wilshaw 
area for several decades. However, the letter did not clearly describe gates at 
point A or A1, although the witness noted the current evidence for a gate 
positioned directly adjacent main road (point A) and suggested it had probably 
removed to allow easier access for delivery vehicles to Manor Farm. Witness B 
also speculated was also made about a possible ‘cattle grid’ (at point A1) but 
did not clearly describe personal knowledge of this feature.  

2.93. Witness B also indicated that the present concrete surface was laid at the later 
date - when the farm was owned by David Brown Estates Ltd (who purchased  
Manor Farm from the Co-op in 1956) or a subsequent owner. This is not 
consistent with the solicitors claim in the letter of February 2019 that that 
Witness A had advised the Directors that the concrete was laid by the Co-op in 
1947/8.  

2.94. Witness B also described the management of dairy cattle and the positioning of  
gate” on the top side of the short lane from the farm to the lane in question”. 
This was similar to Witness A’s description of two large gates to control milk 
cows crossing the lane. However, neither witness clearly indicates when these 
gates were installed or in use, whether they were permanent structures or 
temporary in nature and only in use when stock were being moved. Other 
evidence does not support the existence of gates for that purpose in more 
recent decades. 

2.95. Witness B also indicated that public use in the 1940s and 1950s had been on 
foot only. 

Evidence of Witnesses C and D 

2.96. The solicitors also named two other witnesses (“Witness C” and “Witness D”). 
No statements were provided from these witnesses.  

2.97. Witness C was stated to have lived at Manor Farm and that they believe  that 
they “helped to install the Pole in its current position around 1965”. This is 
reference to the metal pole in the middle of the gap that is claimed to form the 
limitation of a squeeze stile. While there is clearly doubt as to the accuracy of 
the evidence provided by and assertions made by the solicitors, if Witness C’s 

Page 121



Page 45 of 48 

evidence is accurate, the pole would clearly be a later feature and not have 
been in place prior to dedication or prior to the relevant date of the first 
definitive map.  

2.98. Witness D was stated to have worked at Manor Farm between 1980 and 2015.  
Various assertions were made about their recollection of  structures at point A1, 
including a ‘swing metal arm’. There was no reference to any gates  at or near 
point A3 as  had been suggested by Witness A and Witness B. As there is no 
suggestion Witness D had knowledge of structures prior to 1980 their evidence 
provides no support for the claim that limitations should be recorded. The 
evidence may have some relevance to Application 1; however, it should be 
noted that the existence of a swing barrier is not reflected in any other 
evidence, and there no suggestion that any gate or barrier was locked.40

Other claims made on behalf of the Company 

2.99. The solicitors also supplied a photograph of a gatepost at point A.41 They also  
claimed that  a locked gate was present (at A1) when their clients purchased 
their property. It was also claimed that the locked gate in that position was 
removed in 2002. These points may be of relevance to the bridleway 
application. 

2.100. There were also a number of claims about the position and size of any gap that 
may have existed alongside a gate. The applicants lay advisor also presented 
detailed analysis of various features found on the ground, such as within the 
concrete surfacing, suggesting the presence historically of various posts etc.   
As these features all post-date the dedication of public rights, this material is 
likely to be little relevance. 

Informal consultation regarding application 2 

2.101. An informal evidence-gathering exercise was carried out in November  / 
December 2020. User groups, ward members, and other standard consultees  
were contacted. Notices were also placed on site seeking further information 
about gates or other structures. A copy of the notice is found in Appendix H.  
Various owners and occupiers of land were also contacted. Representations 
were received from14 individuals, along with Meltham Town Council and the 
British Horse Society. The focus of this consultation was the application to vary 
the recorded particulars. However, the majority of those who responded 
commented on use of the way in general, including use with horses. This 
evidence is relevant to the question of status application 1 and is generally 
supportive of the claim to record a bridleway. 

40 The ‘T bar’ found in the centre of the track at A1 - seen in photographs from 2015 - was locked in 
place but would not have prevented equestrian use. 

41 Item 15 in appendix I) 

Page 122



Page 46 of 48 

2.102. Frequent reference was made to the recent structures that have existed  at 
point A1 since 2015. No support was provided for the claim that structures on 
Meltham 70  would have been in place prior to the relevant date of the first 
definitive map (29 September 1952). There is no suggestion of any other 
structures that would have prevented equestrian use. Some people stated there 
had been no structures. One response did state that “Over the years, 
particularly when the land was used for dairy cattle, temporary barriers were in 
place here and there to facilitate the safe movement of the cattle” but also 
indicated there had been no permanent structure that had blocked most of the 
width of the track.  

2.103. Meltham Town Council stated they had no evidence regarding gates / stiles.  

2.104. Overall, the exercise revealed further evidence of equestrian use of Route 1 
with respondents asserting that equestrian use had not been prevented by 
structures until recently, and provided no evidence to support the applicants 
claim that there are unrecorded limitations on Meltham 70 

Conclusions regarding the evidence submitted for and on behalf of the 

applicant for application 2 and the Company  

2.105. In summary, officers do not find the claims and findings presented by the lay 
advisor and the solicitors persuasive. It is not disputed that structures have 
been installed in the vicinity of point A1 at various times. However, the evidence 
for gates and  / or a gap at point A1, including the limited witness evidence 
relied upon, is inconsistent and contradictory. Further there is little evidence for 
gates having been in place for any great period prior to the relevant date of the 
Definitive Map (September 1952) and it is plausible that a public right of way 
may have come into existence many decades earlier. 42 There is also no 
evidence of any earlier gate having been locked, and the evidence does not 
suggest a gap or stile having existed in the location suggested prior to the 
1950s or 1960s.  

2.106. Whilst it is possible that there were extant limitations in 1952 that went 
unrecorded, there is very little positive evidence to suggest that was the case, 
or that any structures that might have been present would be recordable as  
limitations on any public right of way. There is also only very limited evidence of 
gates having existed at point A (a solid line on various OS maps and a single 
remaining gatepost). It appears any such gate would have been removed long 
prior to the 1950s and its continued absence would suggest that even if once 

42 The date of dedication of a public footpath over Meltham 70 is uncertain. The solicitors for the 
Company stated that their client’s position on “… the date when it is said or deemed to have been 
dedicated for public use is entirely reserved”. However, it logically follows that a public right of way 
must have come into existence prior to the Relevant Date of the first Definitive Map (29 September 
1952) and may be as early as the 1870s. Apart from a brief period in 1942-43 when a mortgage was 
in place, there is no suggestion that any landowner lacked capacity to dedicate a public right of way.

Page 123



Page 47 of 48 

recordable as a limitation, there would by now have been re-dedication of a 
public right of way absent of any such limitation.   

2.107. It has not been demonstrated that, on balance, there are unrecorded limitations  
The application to vary the recorded particulars for Meltham 70 to add a locked 
gate and a squeeze stile is not supported by the evidence. 

2.108. An assertion that a locked gate was in place in 1977 is of some relevance to 
the separate bridleway application and has been considered above when 
assessing the evidence for Application 1.

Overall conclusions 

2.109. The application to modify the Definitive Map and Statement to record a 
bridleway was principally supported by  evidence of use by equestrians of the 
whole of Route 1 from Wilshaw Road to Wood Nook Lane.   

2.110. There is ample evidence of equestrian use of the route between points A-D, by 
the public, as of right, for a full period of 20 years to August 2015 when 
equestrian rights were brought into question in 2015 for the purposes of s31 
Highways Act 1980. The evidence is sufficient to raise a presumption that a 
public bridleway subsists. This includes use of the full length of Meltham 70 
between Wilshaw Road and Lower Cote, the part of Meltham 38 from Lower 
Cote to point C near Wood Nook House, and the currently unrecorded part from 
point C to point D at Wood Nook Lane. The evidence was insufficient to show  
any public right of way are reasonably alleged to exist over any other routes.   

2.111. There is also ample evidence of use by the public on foot of the same route, 
including use of a greater width of Meltham 70 part of Meltham 38 than the 
approximately 1.2m currently recorded. 

2.112. The evidence of use over the 20 year period to August 2015 is sufficient to 
satisfy the requirement of section 31 Highways Act 1980 and there insufficient 
evidence that there was no intention to dedicate. A claim that there was a 
locked gate at point A1 on Meltham 70 within the relevant 20 year period  are 
not substantiated by other evidence and claims of challenges to use, granting 
of permission and other interruption is not supported by the evidence as a 
whole. A public right of way on foot is deemed to have been dedicated over the  
whole available width of route A-D (including over the width of the surfaced 
driveway near Wood Nook House).  

2.113. The evidence would also be sufficient to show dedication of a public bridleway 
under common law. 

2.114. Although a considerable quantity of documentary evidence has been 
considered, much of which is helpful in understanding the origins and history of 
the route, the evidence as a whole does not support the case that the route was 
historically a public bridleway. Various maps and other documents suggest the 
existence by the late 18th century of an occupation road between points C and 

Page 124



Page 48 of 48 

D, with an enclosed track having been constructed towards Wilshaw Road in 
the 1870s. But there is no evidence this was a public bridleway, although  
public footpath will have come into existence by 1952.  

2.115. Analysis of documents relation to the development of the definitive map and its 
later review provide little support for the case  to record a bridleway, although 
they do suggest an under recorded width for the recorded a public footpath. 

2.116. Application 2 to vary the recorded  particulars  for Meltham 70 to include as 
limitations a locked gate and squeeze stile 45cm wide is based principally  on 
the notion that such structures already existed when a public right of way was 
dedicated , or at least at the relevant date of the first Definitive Map and 
Statement (September 1952). However, most of the documents summitted in 
support of this position are of little or no relevance. Various statement and 
letters submitted describing the existence of structures at various times are 
inconsistent and contradictory not persuasive. 

2.117. It has not been demonstrated that on balance, there are unrecorded limitations.  
The application to vary the recorded particulars for Meltham 70 to add a locked 
gate and squeeze stile is not supported by the evidence. 

Page 125



A2  Summary of periods, frequency and types of use 

Name Initials No. F H B V

Weekly l 6m

Weekly l 6m

Weekly l 6m

Daily early 1990s, then once or twice a month l l 18ft mostly

Daily 1991-1995, otherwise Weekly / monthly l l 5.5m

Monthly l l 12ft

Monthly l Varies 3m average

2x month weather dependant l 5m narrower in places

Daily l l l 3-4m

Daily / Weekly l l 6m

Weekly l 6m

Weekly / Monthly l Approx 8ft

Weekly l 10ft or wider

Once a month / every other month l l 2-4m

Once a year l 5yds  (15ft)

3 or 4 times / month l Approx 8-10m

Monthly l Car width

Once a month l Cars width approx

Monthly l l 14ft

At least weekly, possibly more l l 3-4m

At least 2x week or more l l Approx 4m

Weekly l l 4m

At least twice weekly l l 4-5m

1 x month  (variable) l l l Approx 5-10m

Daily / Weekly l l Approx 4-5m

l l Approx 2 cars

3 times a year l l 18ft

Abt. 6 x year (usually BHs) l 15-18ft

Once a month l 18ft

Last 20 years when visiting family: weekly / twice weekly when there l l Single track road width

Approx 5 times a year l 4-8m

2-3 times a year l l Approx 4-8m

Monthly l l 5 yards

1x month in summer, in winter about 3 times l 18-20ft

Monthly or  more depending on weather l l Wide enough for vehicles

Once a month l l 3m

Weekly l l l 4 metres

Weekly l l l 4 metres

Weekly l 8-12ft

Weekly l Narrow at top then car width

Weekly / monthly l 3 metres minimum

Monthly l 8-12ft

Monthly l 8-12ft

Weekly l Car width at bottom, narrows as you go up

Several times a year (on foot leading pony) l Approx 4-8m

Weekly l 6-12ft

1-2 x monthly l 6m

1986-

1990

1931-

1935

1936-

1940

1941-

1945

1946-

1950

1951-

1955

1956-

1960

1961-

1965

1966-

1970

1971-

1975

1976-

1980

1981-

1985

Mode

A
p

p
ro

x.
 W

id
th

 

1991-

1995

1996-

2000

2001-

2005

2006-

2010

2011-

2015

2016-

2020

1

P
age 126



Summary of periods, frequency and types of use

Weekly l 20ft approx

l 1-3m

Once a month l Varies, but 2m ish

Monthly l l varies, 2-4m

1959-61 1 x wk in summer holidays. 1961-69 5 x year. 1978-2016 monthly l Tractor width

` Daily early 1960s. Recently: not often l l Used to be 3-4m

Monthly l l Tractor width

Weekly l Tractor width

2-3 times per week l l Approx 10ft or wider

2-4 times per week l 12 metres?

 Every month during summer months l Not stated

Daily l 20ft

2-3 x weekly l 6-8ft at top 20ft further down

1970s to 1990s' Weekly l l Two cars width

At least 4 times per week l l  3 metres

Not very frequent'. Driving van 66 years ago (1950-51). Walking '12 years ago' l l Tractor + Trailer with 9-10ft

2x daily l

29 61 6 1

KEY

   

Witness used the path on a daily basis 
Witness used the daily to weekly 
Witness used the path weekly to monthly 
Witness used the path less monthly to annually

Witness used path less than once per year 
Frequency of use unclear or not stated 

Mode of use

F = Foot

H = Horse

B = Bicycle

V = Vehicle

2

P
age 127



B2 Photographs of route from Wilshaw Road (Point A)  to Wood Nook Lane (point D) via 
Meltham 70 and Meltham 38 (part). (“Route 1”). 
 

 
 

1. Meltham 70 at point A at junction with Wilshaw Road (formerly Greave Road).  
Photo also shows wooden gateposts and metal pole at point A1. See enlargement at 
photo 3. Taken by Kirklees Council staff in 1994 or 1995. 

 

 
 

2. Stone gatepost on west side of track at point A. 25 Nov 2015.  
 

A Wilshaw Road 

(Formerly Greave Road) 

A 1 

A 

Wilshaw Road 
(Formerly Greave Road) 

Page 128



 
 

3. Enlargement of part of photo 1 showing gateposts and vertical pole but no gates in 
place across the track. There is suggestion in the photograph of what may be the 
remains of a gate positioned against the wall on the right, however the resolution is 
insufficient to be certain.  Photo taken by Kirklees Council staff in 1994 or 1995. 

 

 
 

4. Stone pillar on east side of Meltham 70 at junction with Wilshaw Road at point A.  25 
Nov 2015.  

 

Wilshaw Road 
(Formerly Greave Road) 

 A 

From A 

A1 

A2 

Page 129



 
 

5. Remains of dilapidated metal gates in the corner of a field adjacent to point A. These 
include a single metal gate with a lock and chain still attached, tied to the remain of 
part of a second gate. 24 Nov 2020. 

 

 
 

6. Close up of dilapidated gates in field near point A, showing lock and chain. 24 Nov 
2020. 

 A 

Page 130



 
 

7. Metal T bar near point A1.  Secured by a lock.  Note the concrete ‘frame’ with gap to 
the east side. 25 Nov 2015.  
 

 
 

8. Wooden gatepost and metal pole on west side of Meltham 70 at point A1. 25 Nov 
2015.  

 

A 

A1 

A1 

To
A2 

Page 131



 
 

9. View back towards A1 and A1. Shows various features at A1:  Metal T bar, vertical 
pole, wooden gatepost to west side of track. Concrete frame, with gap to east side.  
25 Nov 2015.  
 

 
 

10.  New metal gate, gateposts and other structures at point A1. The gate was  not 
locked when inspected. 15 Mar 2016.  

 

A1 

A 

A1 

A2 

Page 132



 
 

11. New gatepost and older vertical pole on west side of Meltham 70 at point A1. 15 
Mar 2016.  

 

 
 

12.  Padlock and chain on new gate at A1. 23 May 2016. 
 

A1 

A2 

A1 

A2 

Page 133



 
 

13. Locked gate, vertical pole and sign at point A1.  The recently added sign reads 
‘PUBLIC FOOTPATH ONLY NO HORSES NO CYCLES’. 23 May 2016.  

 

 
 

14.  View north along Meltham 70 from point A1 towards A2, prior to installation of new 
gate at A1 early in 2016. 25 Nov 2015. 

 

A1 

A2 

A1 

A2 
FP MEL/53 

FP MEL/53 

Page 134



 
 

15. Meltham 70 at point A3, at junction with track towards Manor Farm.  Looking south 
towards A.  25 Nov 2015.  

 

 
 

16.  View north along Meltham 70 from just south of point A3 (junction with track to 
Manor Farm).  The concrete surface continues for some distance south of the 
camera position over part of the width of the track to a field gateway at point A5.  25 
Nov 2015.  

 

A2 

A3 

To A4 

Additional route 
towards Manor Farm 

A3 

To A4 

Page 135



 
 

17.  Point A3, looking north along Meltham 70 in direction of point B.  25 Nov 2015. 
 

 
 

18. Meltham 70 north of point A3, looking towards A4 (where Meltham 70 is crossed by 
field footpath Meltham 40).  The surface here is largely grass and concrete. 25 Nov 
2015. 

 

A3 

A4 

From A3 

A4 

Page 136



 
 

19.  Meltham 70 south of point A4. The concrete surface appears only to cover part of 
the width, with a stone and grass surface alongside. Taken by Kirklees Council staff 
1994 or 1995. 

 

 
 

20. Meltham 70 looking north from its junction with FP Meltham 40 at point A4.  14 Oct 
2016.  

 

FP MEL/40 
FP MEL/40 A4 

From A3 

Page 137



 
 

21.  View south along Meltham 70 from near point A5. The concrete surface stops in the 
vicinity of a disused field gateway just behind the camera position.  25 Nov 2015. 

 

 
 

22. Meltham 70 between point A4 and A5.  25 Feb 2006. 
 

From A4 

A5 

A4 

To A5 

Page 138



 
 

23. Meltham 70 near point A5 looking towards A6. Looking south. The concrete surface 
ends at around this point, near a former field gateway on the right. 25 Nov 2015.  

 

 
 

24.  View north along Meltham 70 from similar location to photo 19 above at point A5.  
The surface is stone and grass. Undated (c. late 1990s). 
 

A5 

A6 

From A5 

A6 

Page 139



 
 

25. View north along Meltham 70 from vicinity of A6 towards A7. 17 Sep 2020. 
 

 
 

26. Meltham 70 in vicinity of point A7, looking north. 25 Nov 2015.  
 

A6 

To A7 

A7 

To A8 

Page 140



 
 

27. Wooden post and rail barrier on one side of Meltham 70 at point A8. Beyond this 
point the track curves to the north east.   17 Sep 2020.  

 

 
 

28. Meltham 70 between points A8 and A9. The track curves to the north east towards 
Bank Dike at point A9.  The ‘Private Land’ sign relates to land on the opposite side of 
the wall (Meltham Golf Club). 17 Sep 2020.  

A8 

To A9 

From A8 

To A9 

Page 141



 

 
 

29. Culvert carrying Bank Dike beneath Meltham 70 at point A9. This ‘bridge’ is referred 
to in various User Evidence Forms. Photo supplied by Applicant 1 in Jan 2016.  
 

 
 

30.   Meltham 70 north east from Bank Dike at point A9. The track curve to the north.  
17 Sep 2020.  

 

To A10 A9 
From A8 

From A9 

To A10 

Bank Dike 

Page 142



 
 

31.  Looking back along Meltham 70 towards point A9.  25 Nov 2015.  
 

 

 
 

32.  Meltham 70 between point A9 and spring / trough at point A10. 17 Sep 2020.  
 

From A9 

To A10 

From A9 

A10 

B 

Page 143



 
 

33. Spring-fed trough in wall adjacent to Meltham 70 at point A10. This is south of the 
remains of buildings at Lower Cote Farm. 25 Nov 2015.   
 

 
 

34. Meltham 70 looking north from near the  trough point A10 towards point B. Undated 
(c. late 1990s). 

 

From A9 
To B A10 

A10 

To B 

Page 144



 
 

35. Junction of Meltham 70 and Meltham 38 near ruins of Lower Cote Farm (formerly 
Cote). Photograph supplied by applicant 1 in Jan 2016.  

 

 
 

36. Meltham 38 east of junction with Meltham 70  at point B near ruins of Lower Cote 
Farm. 25 Nov 2015. 

 

From A10 

B 

Ruin of Lower Cote Farm  
(formerly Cote) To C 

FP MEL/38 

FP MEL/40 

FP MEL/38 

FP MEL/70 

B 

FP MEL/38 

FP MEL/38 

FP MEL/70 

From A10 

To C 

Page 145



 
 

37. View back towards point B  (junction with Meltham 70 at Lower Cote). 25 Nov 2015.  
 

 
 

38. Meltham 38 between point B at Lower Cote and  point C at Wood Nook. 25 Nov 
2015.  

 

FP MEL/70 

B 

Ruin of 
Lower Cote  

To C 

To C 

From B 

Page 146



 
 

39. View back along Meltham 38 from point C near Wood Nook House, in direction of 
point B. 

 

 
 

40.   Meltham 38 near point C at Wood Nook House.  The wooden barriers / fences to 
either side of the track are approximately at the end of FP Meltham 38 as indicated 
on the Definitive Map. The accompanying Statement describes the route as 
terminating at Wood Nook Lane (point D). 17 Sep 2020. 

From B 

To C 

Building at 
Wood Nook 
Farm 

From B 

Garden 
waste 

Wood Nook House 

C 

Page 147



 

 
 

41. Barriers / fences on Meltham 38 at / near point C. The route continues past Wood 
Nook House to Wood Nook Lane.  25 Nov 2015. 

 

 
 

42.  Barriers at Point C on Meltham 38 at Wood Nook House. 17 Sep 2020.  
 
 

To C1 

C 

Page 148



 
 

43. View from point C to C1 (where surface changes from grass to concrete) and gate at 
C2. Adjacent to Wood Nook. 17 Sep 2020.  

 
 

 
 

44. ‘Mounting block’ near point C1 at Wood Nook House. 25 Nov 2015.  
 

From C 

C1 

C2 

Wood Nook  
House 

Wood Nook  
House 

From C1 

C2 

D 

Page 149



 
 

45. Gate at point C2 near Wood Nook House. 17 Sep 2020.  
 

 
 

46. Gate at point C2 near Wood Nook House. Looking west towards point C1. The sign is 
of the same design to that installed at point A1 in 2016.  17 Sep 2020.  

 

From C1 

C2 

D 

C2 

C1 

From C 
Wood Nook  

House 

Page 150



 
 

47. Point D at junction with Wood Nook Lane.  Undated (c. mid- late 1990s). 
 

 
 

48. Point D at junction with Wood Nook Lane. 25 Nov 2015. 

D 

C2 

Wood Nook Lane 

C1 

D 

C2 

Page 151



 

 
 

49. ‘Public Footpath’ signpost on Wood Nook Lane opposite point D.  17 Sep 2020. 

D 

Wood Nook Lane 

Page 152


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	3 Declaration of Interests and Lobbying
	Signed: ………………………………………… Dated: ……………………………………..
	Lobbying

	8 Planning Applications
	9 Planning Application - 2021/94280
	Subject: Planning Application 2021/94280 Erection of 65 dwellings with associated works land at, Lady Ann Road, Soothill, Batley, WF17 0PY

	10 Applications for Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs) to (1) upgrade the recorded status of FPs MEL/70 and MEL/38 to bridleway and (2) vary the particulars of FP MEL/70 to record limitations of a locked gate and squeeze stile.
	DMMO application report - Meltham 70 and 38.pdf
	Appendix 1 Members guidance notes DMMO
	B1 Plan of Routes
	A1 Discussion of Evidence
	1. Documentary evidence
	Honley Inclosure Award and Map (1788, copies published in 1867) (E1a, E1b)
	Greenwoods Map of Yorkshire (1817) (E2a, E2b)
	Netherthong Township Map of 1831 (E3)
	1838 Honey Township Plan and survey (the “1838 Plan”)
	“Plan of the Township of Honley… from an actual survey in…1838 by Samuel Wormald” (E4a)
	Book of Reference to a plan of the Township of Honley (1838) (E4b)

	Netherthong Tithe Map (1850) (E5a, E5b)
	Conclusions regarding Inclosure / Township / Tithe and early commercial maps
	Ordnance Survey Maps and related documents (E6 to E13):
	Small scale maps
	1 inch Ordnance Survey Map (Revised New Series, dated 1903) (facsimile  edition published by Cassini, extract supplied with application 1) (E14)
	Bartholomew’s Half inch maps

	Conclusions regarding Ordnance Survey (OS) and OS derived maps.
	Other map evidence
	Google Maps (E16)
	Screenshot showing INSPIRE Index Polygons spatial data from Land Registry (E17)

	Finance Act 1910 (Increment Value Duty):
	Conclusions regarding the Finance Act evidence
	Records relating to the development of the first Definitive Map and Statement  under Part IV of the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act 1949:
	Survey Schedules (‘Walking Schedules’) (Items E23a to d)
	Draft Map (Relevant Date 22 September 1952) (E24)
	Extract from Meltham UDC Minutes (18th May 1953) (E25)
	Objections  / Representations to the Draft Map and Statement:
	Provisional and Definitive Maps and Statements and associated documents:
	Statement accompanying the 1952 Definitive Map (E27b)

	Review of the Definitive Map:
	Draft Revision Map (E28a)
	Draft Revision Statement (E28b)

	Correspondence between Wood Nook residents and the County Council in the 1970s:
	Conclusions regarding the preparation and review of the Definitive Map and Statement, including correspondence in the 1970s
	Extracts from ‘The History of Wilshaw’ (E34)
	Conclusions on ‘The History of Wilshaw’
	Planning application documents (Application ref 89/62/02151/C2):
	Observations of Kirklees Council Technical Services. With annotated site plan showing public footpaths Meltham 38 and Holmfirth 70) (E35)

	Diversion of FP Meltham 40 near Manor House Farm, and related documents:
	Other documentary evidence
	Photographs
	Photographs supplied with application 1 (E39)
	Photo taken at Lower Cote Farm  1958/9. (E40)
	Kirklees Bridleways Group Facebook post regarding fallen tree (E41)

	Conclusions regarding photographs
	Overall conclusions re documentary evidence

	2. User evidence
	Section 31 Highways Act 1980
	Date of Bringing into Question
	‘A Way’
	‘…Actually enjoyed’
	‘…by the public’
	‘… without interruption’
	‘… as of right’
	‘…without force’
	‘… without secrecy’
	‘…Without permission’
	‘… Full period of 20 years’

	Widths described by users
	Descriptions by users of gates etc.
	Contrary intention
	Deposits under Section 31(6) Highways Act 1980.
	Conclusions regarding presumed dedication under s.31 Highways Act 1980
	Dedication under Common Law

	Application to Vary recorded particulars (Application 2)
	Documents submitted with Application 2:
	Document 7: Extract from 1985 Definitive Map  - from Council’s GIS system (Item 5 in appendix I)
	Document 8: Extract from 1952 Definitive Map (I6)
	Document 9: ‘Walking schedule’ from survey under NPACA 1949   (I7)
	Document 10: Extract from the Statement accompanying the first (1952) Definitive Map (I)
	Document 11: Letter dated 10 October 1985 (I9)
	Document 12: Letter from Huddersfield Borough Engineer & Surveyor to Huddersfield CBC Town Clerk, dated 28 July 1965. (I10)
	Document 13: West Yorkshire Metropolitan County Council memo dated 5 June 1974 (I11)

	Material submitted by solicitors for the Company
	Evidence of Witness A
	Evidence of  Witness B
	Evidence of Witnesses C and D

	Other claims made on behalf of the Company
	Informal consultation regarding application 2
	Conclusions regarding the evidence submitted for and on behalf of the applicant for application 2 and the Company

	Overall conclusions

	A2 User evidence summaries
	B2 Photos of Route 1 MEL70 and 38(pt)


